
Legal & Governance Reform
DavidDavid  WilcockWilcock
HeadHead  ofof  LegalLegal  andand  GovernanceGovernance  ReformReform

Governance  & Committee Services
Floor 2, Number One Riverside, Smith Street,
Rochdale, OL16 1XU

Phone: 01706 647474
Website: www.rochdale.gov.uk 

To:  All Members of the Communities, 
Regeneration and Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee

Enquiries to: Peter Thompson
e-mail:              peter.thompson@rochdale.gov.uk 
Telephone: 01706 924715
Date: Wednesday, 21st October 2015

Dear Councillor

Communities, Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee

You are requested to attend the meeting of the Communities, Regeneration and 
Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee to be held in the Training and 
Conference Suite, First Floor, Number One Riverside, Smith Street, 
Rochdale, on Thursday, 29th October 2015, starting at 6.15pm.

The agenda and supporting papers are attached. 

If you require advice on any agenda item involving a possible Declaration of 
Interest which could affect your right to speak and/or vote, please refer to the 
Code of Conduct or contact the Monitoring Officer or Deputies or staff in the 
Governance and Committee Services Team at least 24 hours in advance of the 
meeting. 

Yours Faithfully

David Wilcock
Head of Legal and Governance Reform

Communities, Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
Membership 2015/16
Councillor Neil Butterworth
Councillor Michael  Holly
Councillor Andy Kelly
Councillor Terry Linden
Councillor Shaun O'Neill
Councillor Liam O'Rourke
Councillor Aasim Rashid
Councillor Ann Stott JP
Councillor Shah Wazir
Councillor June West
Councillor Sameena Zaheer

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/
mailto:peter.thompson@rochdale.gov.uk


Rochdale Borough Council

COMMUNITIES, REGENERATION AND ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Thursday, 29th October 2015 at 6.15 pm

Training and Conference Suite, First Floor, Number One Riverside, 
Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU

A G E N D A

Apologies for Absence
1.  Declarations of Interest 1 - 2

Members must indicate at this stage any items on the agenda in 
which they must declare an interest.  Members must verbally give 
notice of their interest at the meeting and complete the form attached 
with this agenda.  

Members are also advised to take advice with regard to any matter 
where there is potential bias or predetermination in any business to 
be considered at the meeting and whether they should take part in 
decision making at the meeting.

Members are reminded that, in accordance with the Localism Act 
2011 and the Council's adopted Code of Conduct, they must declare 
the nature of any discloseable pecuniary interest; personal interest 
and/or prejudicial interest required of them and, in the case of any 
discloseable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest, withdraw from 
the meeting during consideration of the item, unless permitted 
otherwise within the Code of Conduct.

2.  Minutes 3 - 9

To consider the minutes of the Meeting of the Communities, 
Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
held 23rd September 2015.

3.  Communities, Regeneration and Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee - Work Programme 2015/2016 

10 - 18

4.  Performance Monitoring of Registered Provider Partners 19 - 31

5.  Food and Feed Plan 2015/16 32 - 101

6.  Rochdale Development Agency Quarter 2 2015 - 2016 
Performance Monitoring Report 

102 - 123

7.  Directorate Plans 2015-16: Quarter 2 Performance Update 124 - 151

8.  Corporate Priority Setting - Survey and Process 152 - 158



Please can Members give prior thought to the attached questionnaire, 
particularly the listed key objectives under each priority of People, 
Place and Prosperity? Consider if these are still important and are the 
right things for the Council and its partners to focus on over the next 
three years. Please rank those that are and think about what else is 
important to include. This preparation will support the priority setting 
process and the effective use of the digital voting system which will 
be used in the meeting to record your views.  

9.  GMCA/AGMA Scrutiny Pool 159 - 161

To consider the minutes of the meeting held 10th July 2015.

10.  Exclusion of Press and Public 

To consider excluding the press and public from the meeting during 
consideration of the following item of business in accordance with the 
provisions of Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, as 
amended.

11.  Rochdale Town Centre East Redevelopment Update 



DECLARATION OF INTERESTS

IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CODE OF CONDUCT ADOPTED BY THE COUNCIL ON 25TH JULY 2012, MEMBERS ARE REQUIRED TO DECLARE DISCLOSABLE 
PECUNIARY INTERESTS, PERSONAL INTERESTS AND PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS (LISTED ON THEIR REGISTER OF INTERESTS).

MEMBERS SHOULD REFER TO THE CODE OF CONDUCT AND/OR THE MONITORING OFFICER AND/OR THEIR DECLARATION FOR FURTHER GUIDANCE

MEETING AND DATE

…………………………….

Agenda item

Indicate either
 Discloseable Pecuniary Interest OR
 Personal Interest OR
 Personal and Prejudicial interest

Nature of Interest

Signed…………………………………………………………………………………………        Please print name…………………………………………………………………………………………..

IF A MEMBER HAS A DISCLOSEABLE PECUNIARY INTEREST THAT HAS NOT BEEN INCLUDED ON THEIR REGISTER SUBMISSION, THEY ARE REQUIRED BY 
LAW TO UPDATE THEIR REGISTER ENTRY WITHIN 28 DAYS.  FAILURE TO PROVIDE PROPER NOTIFICATION IS A CRIMINAL OFFENCE.

THIS FORM, INCLUDING ‘NIL’ ENTRIES, MUST BE GIVEN TO THE GOVERNANCE AND COMMITTEE OFFICER NO LATER THAN AT THE END OF THE MEETING



Summary of discloseable pecuniary interests, personal interests and prejudicial interests.

Disclosable pecuniary interests
A ‘disclosable pecuniary interest’ is an interest of yourself, or of your partner if you are aware of your 
partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in the table below.  "Partner" means a spouse or civil 
partner, or a person with whom you are living as husband or wife, or a person with whom you are 
living as if you are civil partners.

Subject Description
Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vocation

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit 
or gain

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the 
Council) made or provided within the 12 month period prior to notification 
of the interest in respect of any expenses incurred by you in carrying out 
duties as a member, or towards your election expenses.  

Contracts Any contract made between you or your partner (or a body in which you or 
your partner has a beneficial interest) and the Council - 
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 
executed: and 
(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Rochdale 
Metropolitan Borough Council.

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of the 
Borough for a month or longer.

Corporate Tenancies Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) - 
(a) the landlord is the Council: and
(b) the tenant is a body in which you or your partner has a beneficial 
interest.

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where -
(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the 
area of the Borough; and
(b) either –
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which you or your partner 
has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that class.

Personal Interests
You have a personal interest in any business of the authority where it relates to or is likely to affect - 
(a) any body of which you are in a position of general control or management and to which you are 

appointed or nominated by your authority;
(b)  any body -

(i) exercising functions of a public nature;
(ii) directed to charitable purposes; or
(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy 

(including any political party or trade union), 
of which you are in a position of general control or management;
(c) the interests of any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated 

value of at least £25.

Prejudicial Interests
Where you have a personal interest you also have a prejudicial interest in that business where the 
interest is one which a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts would reasonably 
regard as so significant that it is likely to prejudice your judgement of the public interest and where 
that business -
(a) Affects your financial position or the financial position of a person or body described above; or
 (b) Relates to the determining of any approval, consent, licence, permission or registration in relation 

to you or any person or body described above.

MEMBERS ARE ADVISED TO REFER TO THE FULL DESCRIPTIONS CONTAINED IN THE
COUNCIL’S CODE OF CONDUCT ADOPTED ON 25TH JULY 2012.



COMMUNITIES, REGENERATION AND ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

MINUTES OF MEETING
Wednesday, 23rd September 2015

PRESENT:  Councillor Butterworth (in the Chair); Councillors Holly, Linden, O'Neill, 
O'Rourke, Stott, Wazir, West and Zaheer.

OFFICERS:  M. Widdup (Director of Neighbourhoods), J. Searle (Director of 
Economy), A. Glover (Public Health Directorate), M. Robinson (Economy 
Directorate), D. Bowler, J. Staley and V. White (Neighbourhoods Directorate) and 
P. Thompson (Resources Directorate).

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE: Councillors Shakil Ahmed, Shefali Farooq Ahmed, Cecile 
Biant, James Gartside and Jane Gartside; S. Warburton (Transport for Greater 
Manchester), J. Hartley ( Street Lighting – Project Manager), T. Cunningham 
(Community Lighting Project), M. Roe (E.On) and four members of the public.   

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE: Councillor Kelly and Councillor Rashid.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
19 There were no declarations of interests.

MINUTES
20 DECIDED – That the minutes of the meeting of the Communities, 
Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee held 9th July 
2015 be approved, as a correct record.

COMMUNITIES, REGENERATION AND ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - WORK PROGRAMME 2015/2016
21 The Committee considered a report of the Head of Legal and Governance 
Reform which presented the updated Communities, Regeneration and Environment 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2015/16, prior to its submission 
to the Council on 21st October 2015, and the Actions List arising from the last 
meeting of the Committee held 9th July 2015.

A Member of the Committee asked if the Courier Service, which presently delivered 
Councillors mail on a Friday could be brought forward to a day earlier in the week.

DECIDED – That (1) the Committee’s Work programme 2015/2016 be approved 
and submitted to the Council on 21st October 2015;

(2) the Actions List appended to the submitted report be noted;
(3) the Director of Economy and Environment be requested to consider 

moving the day that the Council’s Courier Service delivers mail to Councillors 
from Friday to Wednesdays. 

CALL-IN: PUFFIN CROSSING, SANDY LANE, ROCHDALE
22 The Committee considered a report of the Head of Legal and Governance 
Reform which presented details of a decision made by Rochdale Township Action 
and Resources Committee at its meeting held on 14th July 2015 that approved an 
allocation of £50,000 from Township Funds for the conversion of the Sandy Lane 
Pelican crossing to a new Puffin Crossing (Minute 26(5)(b) refers).



The decision of the Committee had subsequently been called-in by Councillors 
James Gartside and Jane Gartside on that there had not been sufficient information 
on which to make a decision, alternative options had been insufficiently explored and 
the reasons for the rejection of alternate policy options had been insufficiently 
explained.

In considering the Head of Legal and Governance Reform’s report Members of the 
Committee heard representations from and asked questions of Councillor Shakil 
Ahmed, the Chair of the Rochdale Township Action and Resources Committee, 
Councillors James Gartside and Jane Gartside, the Calling-in Members, Councillors 
Shefali Farooq Ahmed and Cecile Biant, Spotland and Falinge Ward Councillors and 
Ms. L. Reddish a teacher at Redwood School which was adjacent to the proposed 
crossing.

DECIDED – That the decision of the Rochdale Township Action and Resources 
Committee to approve an allocation of £50,000 for the conversion of the Sandy 
Lane Pelican Crossing to a new Puffin Crossing be upheld.

GM TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040
23 The Committee received a detailed presented from Simon Warburton, 
Head of Policy and Strategy, Transport for Greater Manchester introducing the 
current Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) consultation on the 
2040 Transport Strategy that the GMCA hoped to adopt in mid-2016. 

In discussion, the Committee considered issues of bus service franchising and 
necessity for local input into service provision; the current and future position of ring 
and ride services; and the need for flexibility in a strategy that looked so far into the 
future.

DECIDED – That the presentation be noted and welcomed.

PUBLIC PROTECTION ENFORCEMENT POLICY 2014/15
24 The Committee scrutinised a report of the Director of Economy and 
Environment which advised Members that the Regulators’ Code (the ‘Code’) had 
come into effect on 6th April 2014.  As regulators, Officers within the Council’s Public 
Protection Service have a statutory duty to have regard to the Code that required 
Enforcement Policies to be updated to reflect the new requirements. The Committee 
were informed that the Cabinet, at its meeting on 29th June 2015, had approved the 
revised Enforcement Policy that was attached as an appendix to the submitted 
report.

In response to a question from a Member, the Director explained that to keep the 
current policies in place would leave the authority open to legal challenges. The 
Council had a statutory duty to have regard to the Code that required Enforcement 
Policies to be updated.

DECIDED – That the report be noted.

ROCHDALE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY QUARTER 1 2015/16 PERFORMANCE 
MONITORING REPORT
25 The Committee scrutinised a report of the Director of Economy and 
Environment which provided Members with performance information on the activities 
of the Rochdale Development Agency (RDA) which are undertaken on behalf of the 
Council, for the first quarter of 2015/16 (April – June).
 



The RDA’s Business Plan for 2015/16 had identified five strategic objectives: 
accelerating business growth, promoting economic and employment growth, 
developing the appropriate infrastructure required to sustain economic growth, 
transforming town centres in the Borough and investing in the Borough’s heritage 
assets. The Committee was asked to scrutinise the RDA’s performance in the first 
quarter 2015/16 in the context of these five objectives.

The RDA’s Committee report had been presented in a different format than before 
insofar as it was more concise and focussed on the key issues that had been 
identified as requiring the most attention. Members of the Committee commended 
the report’s format and suggested that all future performance reports to be submitted 
to this Committee by the Council and its partners adopt this reporting format. 

In considering the report the Committee asked that future reports include more 
information relating to staffing, especially general information in terms of staff 
attendance/absences; include details on the red (RAG) rated items detailed in the 
report’s appendix; and details on the timeframe for the demolition of Telegraph 
House in Rochdale town centre.

DECIDED – That (1) the report be noted;
(2) the submitted report format be approved and used as an exemplar of 

the performance report format the Committee would prefer to see used in the 
future by the Council’s partner agencies when submitting performance related 
reports to the Committee;

(3) future reports to the Committee include more detailed information 
relating to the red (RAG) rated items listed in the appendix to the submitted 
report. 

STREET LIGHTING QUARTERLY UPDATE
26 The Committee scrutinised a report of the Director of Economy and 
Environment which sought to address concerns that had been raised by Members at 
previous meetings of the former Overview and Scrutiny Committee in relation to the 
performance and monitoring of the Street Lighting PFI project.

The Committee were reminded that the Street Lighting PFI was a joint project with 
Oldham Metropolitan Borough Council. Although both PFI’s were operating out of the 
same depot by the same Service Provider, they have separate contracts which are 
monitored separately. 

The Street Lighting PFI was awarded to Community Lighting Partnership (Rochdale) 
Limited (CLP) with E.ON UK PLC acting as their Operating Sub-Contractor to deliver 
the service. The term of the PFI contract is for twenty five years 4th July 2011. CLP, 
as the Council’s Service Provider, are responsible for delivering the street lighting 
service on behalf of the Council in all respects which includes replacement of 80% of 
the existing lighting stock, maintenance of all the street lighting assets, carrying out 
consultation with stakeholders, and dealing with customer queries and complaints. 
The PFI is a self-monitoring Contract and CLP are obligated to declare any failure of 
performance.

The Committee scrutinised the report in detail and the Street Lighting PFI contract 
Manager (Jonathan Hartley) and representatives of CLP (Tony Cunningham) and 
E.ON (Chris Roe) were also in attendance to answer Members’ questions. 

The Street Lighting PFI Contract Manager advised the Committee of a meeting that 
had been held over the summer in response to a Motion agreed at the Council 



meeting on 15th April 2015 instructing the Authority’s Chief Executive to meet with 
representatives of CLP and E.ON regarding the lack of satisfaction with the 
performance of the contract. An outcome of this meeting was that E.ON had replaced 
their managers who had responsibility for overseeing both Rochdale and Oldham’s 
PFI Projects in an attempt to rebuild relations between the parties and to improve the 
service. In this regard a Member requested if details could be presented to a future 
meeting of the Committee which outlined the amount of money that had been 
refunded to the Council to cover failings in the contract.

The Committee were advised of a new complaints procedure that was due to go live 
in the near future and the first results of this would be reported to the Committee in 
early 2016.

In terms of current operational performance, a Member of the Committee expressed 
concern as to the quality of work that was being undertaken, referring to the lack of 
adequate “clearing-up” undertaken after work had been carried out in the Milkstone 
and Deeplish Ward. A Member referred to instances of street lighting columns being 
erected in densely wooded areas and another Member referred to post boxes in 
Littleborough that had had to be temporarily removed to allow for the erection of 
street lighting columns but which had thus far not been replaced. A further Member of 
the Committee also sought clarification as to the replacement of bins which were 
attached to street lighting columns which were not being replaced when the street 
lighting column was either replaced or upgraded. The representative of E.ON 
undertook to look into these particular matters and update the Committee on the next 
occasion that a Street Lighting Quarterly Update report was due to be considered.

A Member referred to the satisfaction surveys which were appended to the submitted 
report and requested that details of the sample size of the surveys be reported to a 
future meeting of the Committee. 

DECIDED – That (1) the report be noted;
(2) the Committee notes that future reports from early 2016 will include 

details of the new complaints procedure in relation to the Street Lighting PFI 
project;

(3) the next Street Lighting Quarterly Update report to the Committee on 
10th December 2015 include details of work that CLP and E.ON are undertaking, 
and/or intend to undertake, to address concerns that Members have raised in 
relation to the poor quality of work being carried out;

(4) the next Street Lighting Quarterly Update report includes details of 
the sample size of surveys undertaken to gauge customer satisfaction with the 
service.

ROCHDALE SAFER COMMUNITIES PARTNERSHIP - QUARTER 1 
PERFORMANCE REPORT
27 The Committee scrutinised a report of the Interim Head of Customers and 
Corporate Services which provided Members with a summary of how the Rochdale 
Safer Communities Partnership (RSCP) had performed against its targets during the 
first quarter of 2015/2016 (April - June).
 
The Committee were advised that, in terms of the RSCP’s five main strategic 
priorities (increased confidence and satisfaction, reducing crime, reducing the 
harmful effects of drugs and alcohol, the prevention and tackling of anti-social 
behaviour and the prevention of offending by children and young people), some of 
the highlights and exceptions included a reported figure for satisfaction with the 
Police and the Council’s efforts to tackle crime and Anti-Social Behaviour had 



dropped slightly to 71%, though most Greater Manchester districts had seen a fall, 
and Rochdale was still the third best in Greater Manchester.in terms of crime 
reduction it was reported that all of the Greater Manchester areas had seen 
increases in the first quarter 2015/2016 in the total volume of victim based crimes, 
with the Rochdale Borough’s being towards the lower end of the recorded range. The 
principal contributory factor behind this was that violent crimes had been included 
within this category and had increased, as had burglary offences and criminal 
damage. 

In considering the report a Member referred to the statistical surveys that were 
carried out at Ward levels and suggested that they were not an effective way of 
benchmarking as the surveys involved too few people to be truly meaningful. The 
Committee also requested that future reports to the Committee include data relating 
to violent crimes that had been reported and recorded. A Member also noted that 
there had been in the first quarter of 2015/16 a significant increase in the occurrence 
of hate crimes which, it was reported, was only partially due to tensions stirred up by 
the General Election Campaign in the study period, other contributory factors 
included tensions in the Middle East and activity by “far-right” organisations and 
groups. The Committee requested that a report detailing specific efforts to improve 
community cohesion in the Borough be submitted to a future meeting of this 
Committee. The Chair requested that the next time a quarterly report relating to the 
Borough’s Safer Communities Partnership was due to be considered by the 
Committee, on 10th December 2015, the report be jointly presented by Council 
Officers along with Chief Superintendent Chris Sykes of Greater Manchester Police 
and Councillor Daalat Ali the Council’s Cabinet Member with responsibility for the 
Neighbourhoods and Community Portfolio. 

DECIDED – That (1) the report be noted;
(2) the Committee requests that Statistical Surveys that are carried out 

at Ward level be no longer used in the compilation of these reports;
(3) the Committee request that future reports include specific statistical 

details relating to recorded instances of violent crime;
(4) the Committee requests that a report detailing specific efforts to 

improve community cohesion in the Borough be submitted to a future meeting 
of this Committee;

(5) the Committee requests that the next Safer Community Partnership 
Quarterly Performance report be jointly presented by Council Officers along 
with Chief Superintendent Chris Sykes of Greater Manchester Police and 
Councillor Daalat Ali, the Council’s Cabinet Member with responsibility for the 
Neighbourhoods and Community Portfolio.

ROCHDALE SAFER COMMUNITIES PARTNERSHIP, SAFER COMMUNITIES 
PLAN 2015 - 2018
28 The Committee scrutinised a report of the Interim Head of Customers and 
Corporate Services which presented the Safer Communities Partnership’s Safer 
Communities Plan 2015 – 2018. The purpose of the report was to raise awareness 
and to seek approval, from the Cabinet and then from the Council, on 21st October 
2015, of the Partnership’s 2015-2018 Safer Communities Plan.

The Safer Communities Plan established the Partnership’s strategic priorities for the 
lifetime of the Plan including:  increasing confidence and satisfaction; reducing crime; 
reducing the harm caused by drugs and alcohol misuse; preventing and tackling anti-
social behaviour; preventing offending by children and young people; reducing adult 
reoffending and developing Community Cohesion. In addition the Partnership was 



looking to will strive to make faster improvements in terms of domestic abuse, 
organised crime and “transforming justice”.

The Safer Communities Plan also aimed to reflect the key priorities of the Police and 
Crime Commissioner, as set out in his Policing and Crime Plan. The document also 
references ongoing changes and developments at a Greater Manchester level, 
where opportunities are increasingly being explored to tackle common issues 
collaboratively across the city region.

In considering the report a Member referred to the membership of the Borough’s 
Safer Communities Partnership noting that there was no representation thereon in 
respect of Middleton neither in terms of elected member or community 
representation.

Members of the Committee also noted that this was the last occasion at which Ms. 
Jeanette Staley, Community Safety Manager, would be attending a meeting of this 
Committee, prior to her taking up a new job at Salford City Council.

DECIDED – That (1) the Safer Communities Plan 2015 – 20178 be supported by 
this Committee and recommends that the Plan be formally approved by the 
Cabinet and Council;   

(2) the Rochdale Safer Communities Partnership be recommended to 
examine ways of increasing its membership from elected Members and 
residents of the Heywood and Middleton Township areas;

(3) the Committee expresses its appreciation of the work carried out by 
Ms. Jeanette Staley during her 16 years as an employee of Rochdale Borough 
Council.

DIRECTORATE PLANS 2015-16: QUARTER 1 PERFORMANCE UPDATE
29 The Committee scrutinised a report of the Director of Neighbourhoods that 
presented details of progress in the first quarter of 2105/2016 (April – June) towards 
targets contained in the Economy and Environment Directorate Plan 2015/16 and the 
Communities section of the Customers and Corporate Services Directorate Plan 
2015/2016.

Members of the Committee noted that the format of these reports had changed since 
similar quarterly performance reports, relating to Directorate Plan updates were 
submitted to the former Overview and Scrutiny Committee. In this regard the 
Committee requested that consideration of this report be deferred to the next meeting 
of the Committee pending the resubmission of the report in a revised and more 
detailed format.

DECIDED – That consideration of this report be deferred to the Committee’s 
next scheduled meeting, to be held on 29th October 2015. 

PLAYING PITCH AND FORMAL SPORTS STRATEGY
30 The Committee scrutinised a report of the Director of Economy and 
Environment that had previously been considered by the Cabinet at its meeting held 
3rd August 2015, which had sought and obtained approval for the development of a 
Playing Pitch and Formal Sports Strategy for the Borough.

The report had been presented to support the position of Sport England that all local 
authorities should have an up to date Playing Pitch Strategy to ensure that there was 
a good supply of high quality playing pitches and playing fields to meet the sporting 



needs of local communities.  

In considering the report a Member requested that athletics be included in Phase 
One of the Strategy.

DECIDED – That (1) the Committees supports the decision of the Cabinet, made 
at its meeting held 3rd August 2015, to approve the development of a Playing 
Pitch and Formal Sports Strategy for the Borough;

(2) the Committee recommends that athletics be included in Phase One 
of the Playing Pitch and Formal Sports Strategy for the Borough.



APPENDIX

COMMUNITIES, REGENERATION AND ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Work Programme 2015/2016 

1. The Work Programme for the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 2015/2016 has 
been compiled mindful of the key scrutiny functions that are set out in the Local 
Government Act 2000 and subsequent legislation and as set out in the Council’s 
Constitution.  In brief, these are to hold the executive to account and to maintain 
an oversight of the delivery of Council services.  This is undertaken principally 
through the following means:-
 

 Scrutiny of Executive Decisions through the ‘Call-in’ process;
 The consideration of Budget and Policy Framework proposals for 

consultative purposes;
 The consideration of a range of performance monitoring/management 

data;
 The specific consideration of individual service issues as may be specified 

by the Committee. 

2. The Committee’s Work Programme has been prepared on the basis of known 
items at this time.  Scheduling of some business remains to be determined.  
This particularly includes Study Groups and informal sessions of the Committee 
membership where issues remain to be determined and scheduled.  

3. A review of the “routine” performance reporting arrangements has been 
requested by Leadership Team members and this will be considered through 
initial meetings of the Committees and through discussions with the respective 
Committee Chairs and Vice Chairs

4. The following table highlights issues where there is either an agreement or an 
anticipation that specific items may come forward.  Other issues will be brought 
forward as indicated above.

9th July 2015

Work Programme To consider the Committee’s Work 
Programme for 2015/2016

Call-in/Member items/other referrals
Performance Monitoring (4th Quarter 
2014/2015) – including:
 Link4Life
 Rochdale Safer Communities 

Partnership
 Rochdale Development Agency 

Performance management and 
monitoring

Rochdale Boroughwide Housing – six 
month update report

Performance monitoring and 
management

Directorate Plan Updates (4th Quarter 
2014/2015)
 Economy and Environment  

Directorate

Performance management and 
monitoring



23rd September 2015

Work Programme 2015/2016 To note the Committee’s Work Programme 
for 2015/2016

Call-in: Sandy Lane Traffic Calming, 
Rochdale

Call-in of a decision made by Rochdale 
Township Action and Resources Committee

Performance Monitoring (1st Quarter 
2015/2016) – including:
 Street Lighting PFI Contract
 Rochdale Safer Communities 

Partnership
 Rochdale Development Agency

Performance management and monitoring

GM Transport Strategy 2040 Presentation by TfGM on transport 
proposals affecting the Borough

Directorate Plan Update (1st Quarter 
2015/2016)

 Economy and Environment  
Directorate

 Customers & Corporate 
Directorate (Community 
Services)

Performance management and monitoring

RSCP Safer Communities Plan 2015-
2018

Consultation on proposals

Public Protection Enforcement Policy Committee request
Playing Pitch and Formal Sports 
Strategy

Consultation on proposals

29th October 2015

Work Programme 2015/2016 Update 
Call-in/Member items/other referrals  
Performance Monitoring 

 Rochdale Development 
Agency

Performance management and monitoring

Food and Feed Plan 2015/16 Consultation on proposals
Corporate Priority Setting - Survey 
and Process

Consultation on proposals

Directorate Plan Update (1st Quarter 
2015/2016)

 Economy and Environment  
Directorate

 Community Services

Performance monitoring and management

Directorate Plan 2015/16
 Economy and Environment  

Directorate
 Customers and Corporate 

Directorate (Community Services)

Performance management and 
monitoring

Presentation and report - Key Route 
Network

Consultation

Housing Allocations Policy Performance management and 
monitoring

Registered Housing Providers – 
Annual Report

Committee request



Performance Monitoring of Registered 
Provider Partners

Scrutiny of performance

Rochdale Town Centre East 
Redevelopment Update

Update on Cabinet proposals

10th December 2015

Work Programme 2015/2016 Update
Call-in/Member items/other referrals  
Performance Monitoring (2nd Quarter 
2015/16) – including:
 Link4Life
 Street Lighting PFI Contract
 Rochdale Safer Communities 

Partnership

Performance monitoring and management

Directorate Plan Update (2nd Quarter 
2015/2016)
Economy and Environment  
Directorate
Report on Asylum Seekers in the 
Borough

A report requested from a one-off meeting 
held in April by the former Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee

3rd February 2016 

Work Programme 2015/2016 Update
Call-in/Member items/other referrals 
 
Performance Monitoring (2nd Quarter 
2015/16) – including:
 Street Lighting PFI Contract
 Rochdale Development Agency

Performance monitoring and management

Rochdale Boroughwide Housing – six 
month update report

Performance monitoring and management

16th March 2016 

Work Programme Update
Call-in/Member items/other referrals
Performance Monitoring (3rd Quarter 
2015/2016) – including:
 Street Lighting PFI Contract
 Link4Life
 Rochdale Safer Communities 

Partnership
 Rochdale Development Agency

Performance management and monitoring

Directorate Plan Update (3rd Quarter 
2015/2016)
 Economy and Environment  

Directorate

Performance management and monitoring



Subject: Committee Work Programme 2015/16 Status:  Publication

Report to: Communities, Regeneration and 
Environment Overview and Scrutiny  Committee 

Date: 29th October 2015
 

Report of: Head of Legal and Governance Reform

Author Email:    mark.hardman@rochdale.gov.uk 

Author: Mark Hardman

Tel: Tel: 01706924704

1 Purpose of Report

1.1 To present the updated Communities, Regeneration and Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2015/16.

2 Recommendations

2.1       That the Committee note the attached Work Programme 2015/16

Reason for recommendation

Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 7 requires Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
to set a work programme and to report it to the Council.

3 Background

3.1 The Communities, Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
was established by the Council at the meeting held on 19th May 2015, the principal role 
of the Communities, Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
being to bring together both the physical and skills aspects of economic regeneration, 
and the supporting work of services such as leisure, highways, housing, environmental 
services etc, that provide the opportunities for work and the improvement of life 
experiences for the Borough’s communities.

3.2 Areas of focus for the Committee include the development, delivery and scrutiny of 
partners or key contractors relevant to the remit of the Committee.

3.3 The work programme for the Committee is drawn up through consideration of the 
statutory roles of the Committee, including the ‘call-in’ or review of executive decisions 
made, budget and policy consultation, and review of service delivery, with the 
scheduling reflecting the anticipated consideration of business to deliver these 
functions.  The Committee has options for developing its own agenda and can request 
further business to come forward.  

3.4 Officers will continue to work with the Committee members in developing the work 
programme, up to and beyond the required submission to the full Council. 



Alternatives considered

None

4 Financial Implications

4.1 None

5  Legal Implications

5.1 The development of an Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme is a requirement of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules contained within the Council’s 
Constitution.

6 Personnel Implications

6.1 None

7. Risk Assessment Implications 

7.1 There are no specific risk issues for members to consider arising from this report

8. Equalities Impacts

8.1 Workforce Equality Impacts Assessment

There are no workforce equality issues arising from this report.

8.2 Equality/Community Impact Assessments

There are no significant equality/community issues arising from this report.

There are no background papers to this report
 



COMMUNITIES, REGENERATION AND ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
Actions List 

MINUTE 
NO/ISSUE.

ACTION LEAD TIMESCALE OUTCOME

Reporting 
Format

Revisions to the Committee’s reporting 
format  

David Wilcock/Joanne Platt Ongoing December 2015

Portfolio Holder 
attendance

Invitations to relevant portfolio Holders 
to attend meetings and to present 
relevant reports

Committee Services Ongoing Ongoing

Profile of the 
Committee

Committee Services staff to liaise with 
the Council’s Communications Team to 
examine ways of raising the 
Committee’s profile

Committee Services Ongoing 10th December 2015

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority

Chief Executive to present to Members 
of the Committee  on issues 
appertaining to the devolution of 
powers to the Greater Manchester 
mayor and Combined Authority

Committee Services Ongoing To be determined

RBH 
Performance 
reports

To include data/statistics in future 
reports relating to the operations of 
tenants and residents associations

Graham Pilling Ongoing January 2016

Rochdale Safer 
Communities 
Partnership

a. Statistical Surveys that are 
carried out at Ward level be no 
longer used in the compilation 
of these reports

b. future reports include specific 
statistical details relating to 
recorded instances of violent 
crime

c. a report detailing specific efforts 
to improve community cohesion 
in the Borough be submitted to 
a future meeting of this 

Jeanette Staley Ongoing To be included in future 
RSCP reports



Committee
d. the next Safer Community 

Partnership Quarterly 
Performance report be jointly 
presented by Council Officers 
along with senior GMP 
representatives and the relevant 
Portfolio Holder.

Members - Late 
Arrivals/Early 
Departures

To note the times at which an individual 
Member arrives at a meeting late 
and/or leaves the meeting early, before 
the business to be transacted is 
concluded.

Peter Thompson ongoing

Rochdale 
Development 
Agency

a. the RDA performance 
reporting  format be 
approved and used as an 
exemplar of the 
performance report format 
the Committee would prefer 
to see used in the future by 
the Council’s partner 
agencies when submitting 
performance related reports 
to the Committee

b. future reports to the 
Committee include more 
detailed information relating 
to the red (RAG) rated items 
listed in the appendix to the 
submitted report. 

To be included in future 
RDA reports



Public 
Protection 
Issues

The Public Protection Manager be 
requested to:
1. present the 2015/2016 Food and  
Feed Service Plan to an earlier meeting 
in the Municipal year of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee.
2. submit a report to a future meeting of 
the Committee presenting the detailed 
finding of the Food Standard Agencies’ 
audit of premises in the Rochdale 
Borough. 

Andy Glover September 
2015

A report to the 
Communities, regeneration 
and Environment O&S 
Committee on 29th October 
2015 

Street Lighting 
PFI Contract

a. future reports from early 2016 
will include details of the new 
complaints procedure in relation 
to the Street Lighting PFI 
project

b. the next Street Lighting 
Quarterly Update report to the 
Committee on 10th December 
2015 include details of work that 
CLP and E.ON are undertaking, 
and/or intend to undertake, to 
address concerns that Members 
have raised in relation to the 
poor quality of work being 
carried out

c. the next Street Lighting 
Quarterly Update report 
includes details of the sample 
size of surveys undertaken to 
gauge customer satisfaction 

To be included in future 
Street Lighting PFI reports



with the service.



Subject: Performance Monitoring of 
Registered Provider Partners

Status:  Publication

Report to: Communities, Regeneration and 
Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Cabinet Member: Cabinet Member for Housing 
and Environment

Date: Thursday, 29 October 2015
 

Report of: Director of Neighbourhoods

Author Email:    
Graham.Pilling@Rochdale.Gov.UK

Author: Graham Pilling

Tel: Tel: 01706 924042

1 Purpose of Report

1.1 The report providers members with an update on the performance of the Councils 
Registered Provider Partners in 2014/15 across a range of initiatives and the joint 
work they are involved in through the Strategic Housing Partnership to deliver 
strategic priorities at a neighbourhood and boroughwide level

2 Recommendations

2.1 The Committee notes the important work carried out by the Councils Registered   
      Provider (RP) partners across the borough and the major contributions they make 
      to delivering strategic priorities.

2.2 Members note the potential impacts for Registered Providers of the budget 
      announcement made in July 2015 set out in paragraphs 3.10 to 3.12 of this report. 

Reason for recommendation

2.3 To ensure that Members are aware of the important role of RP partners

3 Background

3.1 There are currently 16 Registered Providers (formerly known as housing 
associations) operating across the borough. These organisations manage over 
20,000 properties, the majority of which are social or affordable homes for rent, 
however included in this figure are affordable homes for sale and supported 
housing.

3.2 The main RPs operating in the borough, eight in total, are members of the 
Rochdale Strategic Housing Partnership (RSHP) which became operational in April 
2012. The eight RPS are:

- Rochdale Boroughwide Housing
- Contour Homes



- Great Places Housing Group
- The Guinness Partnership
- Regenda Group
- Riverside Group
- St Vincent’s Housing Association
- AKSA

           3.3 The RSHP is the boroughs high level strategic housing group and was 
                 established to maximise the contribution of housing towards the borough’s 

           broader objectives and the delivery of targets in key Council and Partner
           Strategies. The RSHP meets on a quarterly basis 

3.4 In addition to the RSHP the main RP partners have come together with the 
            Council to fund the boroughs unique partnership company Rochdale Housing 
            Initiative ( RHI ). The company, which was formed in 1994 adds value to work in 
            the borough by employing dedicated staff who: 

 Work with partners to add value to the work they do in the borough 
 Develop new and innovative projects 
 Secure funding for projects 
 Provide a link between the RPs and other organisations in the borough. 

Affordable Housing

3.5 A key area of work for RP partners is the delivery of new affordable  
      housing to meet identified housing need. All affordable schemes 
      developed by RP partners involve close working with officers in the Council’s
      Strategic Housing Team to ensure that they meet Council priorities in 
      respect of housing need and regeneration. The majority of new homes 
      built by RP partners are through the Affordable Homes Programme. 

    
3.6 Whilst the level of grant contribution per scheme which is available 

                through the programme has significantly reduced in recent years it is 
                still the main source of Government funding for the development of 
                affordable homes. In 2014/15 a total of 141additional affordable homes 
                were delivered across the borough by RP partners. Details of the 
                completed schemes are provided in the table below:

Table 1: Completed affordable homes schemes delivered during 2014/15

Registered Provider Scheme Units Tenure
St Vincent’s Shawclough Rd, Rochdale 3 Shared Ownership
Arcon Boarshaw Rd, Middleton 10 Rent

Riverside
Rowrah Crescent, 
Middleton 4 Rent

Riverside Hellvellyn Drive, Middleton 20 Rent
RBH Lower Falinge 26 Rent

RBH
Hare Hill Extra Care 
Scheme, LBoro 43 Rent

RBH Ashfield Rd, Rochdale 9 Rent
RBH RTB Buy Backs 2 Rent
Great Places Boundary St, Rochdale 24 Rent



3.7 The above schemes delivered investment of £18.3 million into the 
      borough.

3.8  In 2015/16 a total of 7 RP partners schemes are due to start on site. 
       These schemes, all of which have received grant funding through the 
       Affordable Homes Programme 2015-18 will deliver a total of 192
       new affordable homes. 

3.9  The Homes and Communities Agency  has recently approved grant funding   
       through the Affordable Homes Programme (AHP) 2015-18 for an additional two    
       housing schemes. The Riverside Group have received a grant allocation for a 98 
       unit extra care scheme for older people on the Langley estate in Middleton.  J and 
       M Residential have obtained grant funding for a scheme which will bring 15 empty 
       homes back into use as rented accommodation. Further bid submissions for AHP 
       funding are currently being considered by Registered Provider partners 

          3.10 The future new build development programme of RP partners may be affected by    
                   two announcements in the July 2015 budget. The Government announced a 1%  
                   annual reduction in RP rents over the next four years and extended the ‘right to 
                   buy’ scheme to the housing association sector. Both these measures are likely to 
                   present a  major challenge to RPs in terms of delivering new affordable housing 
                   due to the loss of rental income.

 3.11 All RPs are in the process of reviewing their business plans in the light of the 
  budget announcements. The Council will find out once these reviews are 
  complete, in late October or early November 2015 about  the impact on future 
  new  build developments in the borough.
    

   3.12 Other budget measures which will impact on RP partners are the lowering of the  
           benefit cap to £20,000, the abolition of housing benefit for under 21 year olds and 
           the requirement for high earning social housing tenants (ie, tenants earning 30k 
           per annum)to pay higher rent levels. 

 Conversions and Disposals
 

 3.13  In January 2011 the HCA published the Affordable Homes Framework which  
introduced a new funding model based on affordable rents. Under the  framework 
RPs can charge higher rents for affordable housing than previously (up to 80% of 
market rates) both for new homes and for some new tenancies of existing homes)

3.14 The framework requires RPs to finance a greater proportion  of the cost of new 
affordable homes themselves, through increased borrowing. In order to fund this 
borrowing RPs are encouraged to convert existing social rented homes to 
affordable rent which will provide higher rental income.

3.15 Strategic Housing is monitoring both the level and impact of rent conversions 
across the borough. The table below shows the numbers of affordable rent 
conversions for each partner RP since 2011.



Table 2: Numbers of Affordable Rent Conversions for each Partner RP since 2011

Registered Provider Townships
Heywood Middleton Pennine Rochdale

Contour Housing 0 26 0 0
Great Places Housing Group 6 10 8 27
Guinness Partnership 8 0 0 23
Regenda Group 0 0 0 0
Riverside Group 0 353 0 0
Rochdale Boroughwide Housing 12 144 32 207
St Vincent’s Housing Association 0 0 0 15
TOTALS 26 533 40 272

 3.16 In addition to monitoring conversations the Council also keeps a record of   
         property disposals by RP Partners. In 2014/15 the total number of property 
         disposals was 105, the majority of which are Right to Buy sales.

Welfare Reform

3.17 A major challenge over the past three years for all RPs has been addressing the 
impact of welfare reforms on people and places. All the partner RPs have taken 
a proactive approach  to helping tenants affected by the welfare reform changes 
by focussing on an early intervention and offering comprehensive and tailored 
support.

           3.18  Examples of some of the financial inclusion working being undertaken by RP   
                    partners to assist tenants affected by welfare reform includes: 

 Offering Debt and welfare benefits advice
 Offering advice regarding budgeting and money management
 Assisting tenants with applications for Discretionary Housing Payments 
 Offering downsizing incentives
 Making available financial support through the provision of hardship funds
 Helping tenants improve their employment skills through the establishment of  
     job clubs, providing access to training courses and signposting tenants to 
     appropriate support/service providers.
 Participating in training schemes to offer opportunities of paid work  
     placements within their organisations 
 Setting up direct debit and standing order arrangements with tenants for rent  
     payments

          3.19  The Council has been working closely with its main RP partners to monitor the    
                   impact of welfare reform on the borough. The partners provide quarterly 
                   information to the Council on level arrears and possession action carried out. The 
                   provided data is fed into the Welfare Reform Dashboard which contains a suite of 
                   indicators and information which is submitted to Council’s Welfare Reform Board. 

                        3.20 A summary of the Welfare Reform data received from the main RP partners over 
              the last three years is provided in the table below. As many of the welfare reform 

changes came into effect in April 2013 the partners were requested to provide 
data for 2012/13, (before the changes commenced) so that a comparison could 
be made on the potential impact the changes had on arrears and possession 
action and more recently on property void levels and the number of people 
downsizing.



           3.21  The figures provided by the main RP partners show an overall reduction in both  
                    the level of rent arrears and number of tenants in arrears from quarter 4 2013/14 
                    to quarter 4 2014/15. Partner RPs feel that the proactive work they have been 
                    undertaking to assist and advise tenants affected by the welfare reform changes 
                    and the effective partnership working with Council’s Housing Benefits Team has 
                    helped achieve this reduction.

           Table 3 – Registered Providers Welfare Reform Monitoring Data

WELFARE REFORM MONITORING Financial Year End Figures
 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15
No of “live” rent arrears cases at 
year end 10,080 12,411

                
11,389

Total amount of rent arrears at year 
end £3, 947,296 £5,211,539 £5,086,672
Notices to seek possession issued 
– annual 2,651 3,746 3,711
Court Orders Obtained – annual 
figure 211 595 721
Evictions Carried Out – annual 131 203 222
No of voids at end of year Not collected Not collected 369
No of tenants downsizing – annual Not collected Not collected 155

Common Housing Register

3.22  Eight RPs are currently participating in the Common Housing Register and the 
Choice Based Lettings Scheme. In 2014/15 a total of 1,874 were let through the 
CBL scheme.

Health and Housing

3.23 The RP Partners play a key role in helping to tackle the health inequalities in the 
borough and adding value to the work of the statutory agencies. With RPs 
managing over 20,000 homes across the borough they are in a unique position 
to engage with and support some of the most vulnerable residents in the 
borough. 

3.24 In 2014 the RP partners supported by Rochdale Housing Initiative established the 
Health and Housing Forum, the objective of which is to work closer with the 
Council and Heath Agencies to improve the health and wellbeing of residents in 
the borough.

3.25 Members of the Forum are currently involved in putting together housing 
proposals for inclusion in  the  Rochdale Locality Plan. Representatives from RPs 
have also attended consultation events relating to the development of the 
Locality Plan

Empty Homes

3.26  A grant funding allocation through the Affordable Homes Programme 2015 -18 
has been received by J and M Residential (a registered provider) to bring back 
15 empty homes into use. There is the potential for J and M Residential to 



receive further grant funding subject to successful delivery of their existing 
allocation. J and M Residential will be working with Empty Property Team based 
in Rochdale Housing Initiative to identify properties.

3.27 During 2014/15 13 owners of empty properties entered into leasing arrangements 
        with our RP partners

Investment

3.28 In addition to the amount of funding RP partners invest in building new affordable 
homes or helping to reduce the number of empty homes they have also invested 
over £36 million on improvements to their housing stock, the environment on 
estates and supporting the communities they work in. The table below shows the 
total investment by RP partners across a range of areas.

Table 4 – Total Investment by RP Partners across a range of areas

Investment Area Amount
Investment on improvements to properties in the Rochdale 
borough

£23,615,002

Investment on improve  the energy efficiency of homes in 
the Rochdale borough

£8,935,204

Investment on environmental  improvements schemes  in 
the Rochdale borough

£1,773,349

Investment on grounds maintenance in the Rochdale 
borough

£1,015,697

Investment on initiatives involving supporting communities in 
the in the Rochdale borough

£1,069,429

TOTAL £36,408,681

Local Initiatives 

3.29 The RP partners are involved in providing a wide range of services and projects 
across the borough many of which are not widely publicised yet their impact is 
extremely positive and the outcomes beneficial for the targeted communities. 
The table attached (please see appendix 1) sets out some of the excellent work 
undertaken by the partner RPs during 2014/15.

Alternatives considered

3.30 Not applicable.

Consultations proposed/undertaken

3.31 Not applicable

4 Financial Implications

4.1 There are no specific financial implications relating to this monitoring report

5  Legal Implications

5.1 There are no specific legal implications relating to this monitoring report



6 Personnel Implications

6.1 There are no personnel implications relating to this monitoring report

7 Corporate Priorities

7.1 The RP partners play a key role in supporting and facilitating the delivery of the   
      Council’s strategic objectives. The services and joint working that RP partners are 
      involved in delivering contribute to the following Corporate priorities:

                  • Strategic Housing targets as set out in the Council’s Housing Strategy 2012-15,
                     Homelessness Strategy 2013-16 and Empty Property Strategy
                  • Tackling deprivation through supporting Council strategies and initiatives aimed  
                     at reducing the boroughs overall deprivation levels particularly on the estates 
                     they manage
                  • Working with the Council and partners to address the impact of welfare reform.
                  • Contributing to the sustainability agenda in terms of reducing the carbon footprint,
                     tackling fuel poverty, improving building standards and business practices
                  • Promoting and enabling healthy lifestyles and achieving good health and      
                     wellbeing.
                  • Encouraging people to take personal responsibility for their neighbourhoods and
                    developing our communities to make them more resilient and cohesive.
                  • Promoting and supporting efficient and effective land use by ensuring that
                    RP developments are consistent with the Council’s overall objectives.
                  • Working with the Council to deliver the objectives of Public Service Reform      

8. Risk Assessment Implications 

8.1 There are no specific risk issues for Overview and Scrutiny Committee to consider  
       arising from this report 

9. Equalities Impacts

9.1 Workforce Equality Impacts Assessment

There are no workforce equality issues arising from this report.

9.2 Equality/Community Impact Assessments

There are no equality/community issues arising from this report.

Background Papers
Document Place of Inspection

None Not Applicable



APPENDIX 1

REGISTERED PROVIDER LOCAL INITIATIVES 2014/15

Registered Provider Initiative Details
Contour Winter Warmer  

Event
This was a health and wellbeing event 
targeted at people over 60 which took 
place in December 2014. The event was  
in response to the health issues impacting 
on older people, mainly around slips and 
falls in the home due to inadequate foot 
wear. The event also provided advice 
around improving general health and 
wellbeing. Other activities included:

- Blood pressure and BMI checks
- Provision of advice on healthy eating 

and home safety 

Attendees were issued with a new pair of 
slippers and several residents signed up to 
attend a basic IT course which Contour 
are delivering with the Lighthouse Project

Contour Works for me fund Contour tenants can receive financial 
assistance to assist them to get back into 
work or training. This scheme has been a 
valuable resource for a number of tenants. 
One of Contours tenants in Rochdale 
received £50 from the fund to purchase 
suitable clothing after successfully gaining  
employment.

Contour Opportunity Club This initiative supports customers who are 
interested in employment opportunities, 
training and volunteering in their local 
area. Throughout 2014/15 Contour sent 
out regular emails regarding available 
opportunities to a numbers of its tenants 
across the borough 

Contour Cash for 
Communities Fund 

Community groups in the Rochdale 
borough can bid for up to £2,000 to deliver 
projects which will make real difference to 
their communities. Contour also provide 
start up funding for new groups and 
funding for existing groups.

Regenda 1000 Visit Project Regenda are undertaking home visits to 
tenants in the borough who have not 
contacted the  association for over 12 
months to check on their health and 
wellbeing and to ascertain whether they 
require advice or support 



Registered Provider Initiative Details
Regenda Community 

Champions 
This project is focussing on improving the 
wellbeing and health of residents in the 
Wardleworth, Hamer and Mayfield areas of
Rochdale, by training residents
to become Wellbeing Champions to work 
in the community. Regenda provides 
accredited training (free of charge) to local 
residents to enable them to promote good 
health, literacy, the environment and 
digital inclusion in their communities  

Regenda Job Club - KYP Regenda has established a Job Club at 
the Kashmiri Youth Project in Rochdale. 
The Club, which is staffed by volunteers, 
operates on one day per week and offers 
employment and training advice. The Job 
Club also assists people to access free 
training courses.

Regenda Estate Inspections The Regenda Neighbourhood Team for 
Rochdale carries out regular estate 
inspections across the borough. The 
objectives of these  estate inspections are  
to:

-  Enable the association to monitor the 
appearance and upkeep of its estates

-To give residents and staff the chance to 
work together to make Regenda’s estate a 
better place to live

 - Give tenants an opportunity to make a 
real difference to their estates
 

 Regenda inform tenants when Estate 
inspections are being carried out to give 
them an opportunity to take part. The 
association also informs tenants what they  
have done to improve and maintain 
estates as a result of those inspections.



St Vincent’s Sparthbottoms Work 
Club

The Association has continued to run a 
successful work club in the Sparthbottoms 
Community Centre. During 2014/15 it 
delivered employability training courses at 
the Community Centre.



Registered Provider Initiative Details
St Vincent’s Energy Efficiency The Association has continued to invest in 

energy efficiency measures in its 
properties across the borough of its 
tenants in the borough.  Works carried out 
in 2014/15 included:                           

Boiler replacements to stock across the 
borough

External Wall Insulation, Internal Wall 
Insulation, Cavity Wall Insulation and loft 
top ups all around the Sparth Area

Energy Audits in Sparth area to assess 
behaviour  change after installation of 
Energy Efficient works 

Provision of  Voltage Optimisation Panels 
at John Kemble Court

Retrofitting LED Lighting to  Khubsuret 
House and Alice Ingam Court

Replacement of old in-efficient gas boilers 
at Khuburet House 

St Vincent’s Over2You The Over2You Project aims to raise the 
aspirations of what people expect from 
health and care providers and give St 
Vincent’s customers in the borough a real 
voice in driving up the quality of the 
services they access. The association is 
engaged with health and care services 
and the people who access them to gather 
feedback on the customer experience and 
help shape the way that services are 
provided in the future.

The feedback received through the project 
will provide information for a Quality 
Insight Report for the service provider to 
help them develop their services. St 
Vincent’s will measure the impact of the 
feedback through return visits to services 
and customer focus groups.

Guinness 
Partnership

Circle Project Guinness make referrals to Circle for the 
carrying out of small jobs for tenants over 
55 to assist them to sustain their tenancies



Registered Provider Initiative Details
Guinness 
Partnership

Darnhill Festivals Guinness provided financial contributions 
for both the winter and summer festivals 
on the Darnhill estate and assisted with 
practical activities.

Guinness 
Partnership

Newbold Fun Day Guinness, with the support of community 
groups and other RPs, held a Fun Day in 
July 2014 for Newbold Residents. The 
event was attended by the Fire Service 
who promoted fire safety awareness.

Guinness 
Partnership

Youth Activities Guinness worked in partnership with the 
Council’s Youth Offending Team on 
diversionary activities with young people 
on the Darnhill estate

Great Places Pakeezah Womens 
Group

During 2014/15 Great Places provided 
signposting and funding advice to the 
Women’s Group

Great Places Lets Live Together 
Project

The project provided support to BME 
families moving to Great Places new 
development in Castleton from other parts 
of the borough. The project assists people 
to settle non traditional areas. 

Great Places Wardleworth Work 
Club

Great Places helped set up, promote and 
deliver the work club in conjunction with 
Wardleworth Community Centre. The Club 
provides advice and support to help local 
people gain employment

Great Places Shamwari Project The association provided in kind support 
to the project which assists new migrants 
to settle into communities. A 
representative from Great Places sits on 
the Projects Board of Management and 
the Association provides staff 
management and payroll support. 

Rochdale 
Boroughwide 
Housing

Extra Care RBH completed the development of the 
first purpose build extra care scheme for 
older people in Littleborough in March 
2015. The scheme has 43 affordable rent 
units. a community café,hair salon, 
hobbies room, lounge areas and a 
spacious garden

Rochdale 
Boroughwide 
Housing

Environmental 
Improvements

The ‘Our Choice’ Fund enables RBH 
residents to shape the future of their 
neighbourhoods by providing a pot of 
money for projects that are delivered for 
the community by the community. 

A key element of the programme is that 
residents have the chance to vote at 
events called Decision Days for the 
activities they want to see provided



Registered Provider Initiative Details
Rochdale 
Boroughwide 
Housing

Internal 
Restructuring 

 A restructuring was undertaken by RBH in 
2014/15 which has led to the 
establishment of new teams. The 
restructure will ensure that the 
organisation maintains and strengthens its 
focus on empty homes and provides a 
better customer experience. The newly 
created teams are:

HomeChoice Team – the role of this team 
is to maintain and operate the housing
register on behalf of Rochdale Council and 
operate a Choice Based Letting
Scheme on behalf of other registered 
provider operating in the borough.

New Tenants Team – this team works 
closely with staff in the empty homes
repairs, HomeChoice and Communities 
team to provide one point of contact for 
new tenants including accompanied 
viewings and tenancy sign ups.

Rochdale 
Boroughwide 
Housing

Representative Body In August 2014 RBH held the first set of 
elections since becoming a mutual society.
Turnout was an impressive 63.1% for 
employees and 51.2% for tenants. 

The results of the election were 
announced at RBH’s annual members 
meeting which was held in Heywood in 
September 2014. The meeting provided 
an opportunity for all RBH’s members to 
find out the latest news across RBH and to 
have a say on the organisations future 
plans.

Rochdale 
Boroughwide 
Housing

Young Voices Also in August 2014 the RBH Young 
Voices (the organisations junior 
membership scheme) held their first event 
with approximately 80 people gathering at 
the Skylight Circus in Rochdale. RBH 
Young Voices also helped to design the 
organisations 2014 summer activities 
programme, with activities including 
cookery, multi-sports activities, and 
adventure sessions at Hollingworth Lake. 

Young Voices aims to give young people 
between the ages of 8 and 17 a say and a 
stake in RBH’s mutual society and in the 
communities where they live.



Registered Provider Initiative Details
Riverside Status for All Riverside have provided funding to a 

community project which works on the 
Langley Estate to support young people. 
The project provides work experience and 
training opportunities

Riverside Falls Awareness 
Event

Riverside held the event on the Langley 
estate focussing on older people and 
providing information, support and advice 
to enable them to live independently in 
their own homes. Activities, health checks, 
refreshments and entertainment were 
provided at the event

Riverside Riverside Foundation The Foundation is a charity which provides 
funding for Community Projects. On 
Langley the Foundation has provided 
funding for the Angel Project which 
operates a Youth Community Hub 
delivering self help advice, training, a work 
club and a charity shop.

Riverside Volunteering Riverside is working in partnership with 
Rochdale Community Champions to 
deliver a volunteering scheme providing 
digital inclusion training, money advice, 
work clubs, work experience and training 
opportunities.



 

Subject: Food and Feed Plan 2015/16 Status: For Publication

Report to: Communities, Regeneration and 
Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
Cabinet                                                                                                              

Cabinet Member: Portfolio Holder for Culture, 
Health and Wellbeing

Date: 29 October 2015 

                     2 November 2015 

Report of: Director of Neighbourhoods 

Author Email:    
andy.glover@rochdale.gov.uk       

Authors: Andy Glover
                     Nicola Rogers 

Tel:                            01706 924105                             
nicola.rogers@rochdale.gov.uk                                                                     01706 924124

Comments from Statutory 
Officers:

Monitoring Officer:   Yes
Section 151 Officer: Yes

Key Decision: No

1 Purpose of the report

1.1 This report presents the Council’s Food and Feed Service Plan for the current year 
(2015/16). It identifies any variation from last year’s Service Plan, and provides 
details of future developments for the Service.

2 Recommendations

2.1  Members are recommended to:

2.1.1 accept the report submitted by the Food Standards Agency following its audit of 
the Council’s Food Safety function in March 2015 (Appendix 1); and

2.1.2 endorse the draft Service Plan set out in Appendix 2 as the authority’s Food and 
Feed Service Plan for 2015/16, prior to its formal submission to Cabinet. 

3 Background

3.1 The Food Standards Agency (FSA) was formed in 2000 in response to a number 
of damaging, high profile food scares. The FSA has set out in a Framework 
Agreement the levels of service to be provided by local authorities for Food Safety, 
Food Standards (labelling and composition) and Animal Feeding stuffs. Local 
authorities are required to submit returns of both the qualitative and quantitative 
aspects of work carried out. The FSA carry out audits of local authorities as part of 
a “rolling programme”, to check compliance with the Framework Agreement.

mailto:nicola.rogers@rochdale.gov.uk


3.2 It is a requirement of the Framework Agreement that local Food Authorities should 
review their performance in relation to Food on an annual basis; this authority has 
traditionally chosen to do so by submitting its Food and Feed Plan for 
consideration by elected members.  

3.3 The most recent Food Law Code of Practice was issued in April 2014 and informs 
Food Authorities on the execution and enforcement of food legislation. Food 
Authorities must have regard to this Code when discharging their statutory duties. 

3.4 Previously the Code of Practice has acknowledged that Food Authorities would 
come under varying pressures and many would eventually be unable to meet their 
inspection programmes. The amended Code advises Authorities to discharge their 
duties as effectively as possible by using means appropriate to the circumstance. 
It states that Food Authorities should ensure that enforcement action is 
reasonable, proportionate, risk-based and consistent with good practice. It guides 
officers to take account of the full range of enforcement options. The Code 
acknowledges that interventions are the key to food business operators improving 
compliance with food legislation. It states that an Interventions Programme is 
central to a local regulatory and enforcement regime. The Code defines the 
different types of interventions, the circumstances and frequency in which they 
should be applied. The intervention ratings determine that more intensive 
regulation is directed at those businesses that present the greatest risk to public 
health. This is consistent with a risk-based approach allowing professional 
judgement to apply a proportionate level of regulatory and enforcement activities 
to each food business. 

3.5 Due to resource pressures, and in common with other local authorities, in recent 
years this Council has sought to maximise its efforts by prioritising interventions 
against businesses considered to pose the highest risk.  This approach was 
specifically endorsed by the Council’s Internal Audit team in its report dated 
November 2014.  This approach is set to continue during 2015/16, but must be 
seen against the outcome of the audit carried out by the FSA in March 2015 
(discussed in section 4 below).  

4          Audit of Rochdale Council’s Food Safety function by the Food Standards 
Agency (March 2015) 

4.1 In March 2015, Rochdale Council’s food Safety function was subject to a formal 
audit by two assessors acting on behalf of the FSA.  As stated by the FSA in their 
final draft report, the reason for the audit was that Rochdale Council’s annual 
returns data (known as the Local Authority Enforcement Monitoring Scheme or 
LAEMS) indicated that the authority had a relatively low number of staff employed 
on Food work and a relatively high number of overdue inspections / interventions.

4.2  Whilst challenging, the audit was carried out in a professional and supportive 
manner.  A copy of the final audit report (formally submitted to the Council’s Chief 
Executive on 7 August 2015) is attached as Appendix 2. For ease of reference, 
the main points as set out in the Executive Summary are reproduced below:



FSA finding Rochdale Council response
1 The Authority needs to ensure 

that it has sufficient 
officers/resources to deliver the 
full range of food hygiene law 
enforcement activities as 
statutorily required of competent 
food authorities.   

Discussions with Public Health are 
ongoing to ensure that (i) any backlog 
of inspections is eradicated during 
2015/16 and (ii) there is sufficient 
sustainability to ensure that the 
authority does not find itself in this 
position moving forward.   

2 The Authority should continue to 
develop an annual Food and Feed 
Service Delivery Plan.  

The Council has agreed to ensure that 
a Food Plan is adopted during the 
second quarter of 2015/16, and this 
report is intended to achieve this aim.

3 The Authority should ensure that 
the backlog of overdue 
interventions/inspections are 
urgently addressed.

See 1 above

4 Interventions/inspections needed 
to be carried out at frequencies 
not less than that specified in the 
FLCoP and recorded in sufficient 
and consistent detail to 
demonstrate establishments have 
been fully assessed to the legally 
prescribed standards.

See1 above.  The Council also accepts 
that visits should be recorded in more 
detail and this has been addressed in 
terms of staff training.

5 The Authority needs to complete 
its review of the Enforcement 
Policy and non-compliances 
should be followed up by 
appropriate action.    

A revised Enforcement Policy has 
been adopted by Cabinet.  Non-
compliances are now followed up by 
staff in a much more proactive manner 
than previously. 

6 Ensure that all officers are 
appropriately qualified, authorised 
and have specialist knowledge 
and training to be competent to 
deliver the technical and 
administrative aspects of their 
work. 

Again, this is accepted and has been 
actioned.

  
5          Proposed Food and Feed Service Plan for 2015/16

5.1   A copy of the Council’s Food and Feed Service Plan for 2015/16 is attached to 
this report as Appendix 2.  The Plan is retrospective in the sense that it looks 
back to performance in 2014/15; is current in that it sets out the targets for 
service delivery in 2015/16; and forward-looking in that it considers issues which 
may impact upon the Service in future years.  A summary of these issues is set 
out below.   



5.2   Review of 2014/15

5.2.1 Section 6 of the Food and Feed Service Plan in Appendix 2 confirms that, in 
accordance with the priority-based approach outlined in paragraph 3.5 above, 
123 out of 123 Category A and B premises for Food Hygiene and 4 out of 5 High 
Risk premises for Food Standards were inspected.  However, it is acknowledged 
that medium and low risk inspections were not undertaken in accordance with 
the requirements of the Food Standards Agency during this period.  (By way of 
clarification, Food Hygiene inspections relate to the conditions in which food is 
produced and the cleanliness of the premises concerned, whereas Food 
Standards relates to primarily to composition and the accuracy of labelling 
applied to food products). 

5.3    Current year (2015/16)

5.3.1 Section 2.4 of the Service Plan in Appendix 2 confirms that, on 1 April 2015, a 
total of 1846 food premises and 259 feed premises were identified as liable for 
enforcement purposes.  Section 3 of Appendix 2 sets out the numbers of 
inspections to be undertaken during 2015/16, in accordance with the designated 
inspection frequencies as defined.  

5.3.2 Traditionally, the Service has always opted to prioritise its interventions in terms 
of those businesses perceived to pose the highest risk.  Whilst this year we are 
as ever mindful of a risk-based approach, and will need to continue this 
approach in relation to Food Standards and Feed, we are seeking to eradicate 
the backlog of inspections of lower-risk premises which have arisen over several 
years with regard to Food Hygiene.  This will be achieved through the provision 
of much-needed additional funding from Public Health.  Whilst additional funding 
provided will not stretch to eradication of the backlog in Food Standards, it is 
proposed to adopt a phased approach and pursue additional funding in future 
years as required.  The Service is also actively exploring ways to ensure the 
sustainability of benefits gained from the one-off additional funding provided in 
2015/16, so that the improvements in performance gained as a result are not 
eroded away over time.   

5.3.3 It is important to note that the above approach will go an extremely long way to 
bringing the authority into compliance with the FSA’s Code of Practice during 
2015/16 (certainly with regard to Food Hygiene).       

   
5.3.4 It should be noted that Food Hygiene Rating Scores can only be given following 

a full inspection of the relevant premises.  However, the remainder of Section 3 
(Appendix 2) highlights a number of ways other than inspection in which the 
Service will engage with local food businesses to improve compliance, including 
sampling and advice to business.

5.4   Outline for 2016/17

5.4.1 The Service envisages continuing with its risk-based approach during future 
financial years (certainly for Food Standards and Feed), although additional 
support will be sought to eradicate any backlog on Food Standards.  

Alternatives considered
None – the authority is obliged to produce an annual Food and Feed Service Plan.



6 Financial Implications       

   6.1    A recurring budget of £107,000 (reduced to c£103,000 in this financial year due 
to efficiency savings) has been committed by Public Health to improve Food 
Safety.  In addition, a sum of £71,000 has also been provisionally agreed during 
the FSA audit to ensure the eradication of the inspection backlog by the end of 
2015/16. This money will be found from contingencies and a procurement 
exercise is now underway.   

7  Legal Implications

7.1   The work set out in the report is required to allow the authority to best comply with 
its statutory duties as set out in Paragraph 3.1 above. Should the Council fail to 
provide sufficient resources to undertake and manage the work will cause the 
Council to be in breach of its statutory duty as food authority and subject to 
criticism and challenge by the Food Standards Agency.   

8 Personnel Implications

8.1   There are no Personnel implications arising from this report.   

9 Corporate Priorities

9.1   This report contributes to the Council’s 2014/15 Corporate Plan in the following 
ways:

 Prosperity – more and more successful businesses
 People – increased healthy life and wellbeing

10 Risk Assessment Implications 

10.1  In previous years, the Council has been at risk of failing to meet its statutory 
obligations in terms of meeting the expectations of the Food Standards Agency 
with regard to intervention work.  As a result of the inspection of the authority 
carried out by the FSA in February / March 2015, this situation has been 
acknowledged and an assurance given to the FSA that additional funding will be 
made available from Public Health.  The purpose of this funding will be to buy-in 
additional inspections from external contractors and to fund the appointment of 
an additional qualified officer from March 2015.  This will enable the Council to 
eradicate its inspection backlog and put in place measures to ensure the 
sustainability of the Service moving forward.  



11 Equalities Impacts

11.1 Workforce Equality Impacts Assessment

There are no (significant) workforce equality issues arising from this report.

11.2 Equality/Community Impact Assessments
Approximately 21% of Rochdale’s population are from an ethnic minority 
background. This part of the population has traditionally included a significant 
proportion of food business operators and this has resulted in the challenge of a 
larger proportion of non-compliant food businesses being run by ethnic 
minorities.

Two team members speak minority languages as well as English. The Team 
uses interpreters as required.  However, the Council would wish to better 
understand the needs of all its businesses (including those from a BME 
background) and intends to undertake an exercise which would improve its 
understanding in this regard.

Background Papers
Document Place of Inspection



       

 

1 

 

 
 
 
  
  
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

Report on the Audit of Local Authority Food 
Law Service Delivery and Food Business 
Compliance 
 
 
 
 
 

Rochdale Metropolitan Borough Council 
17 -19 March 2015 
 



       

 

2 

 

Foreword 

Audits of local authorities’ feed and food law enforcement services are 
part of the Food Standards Agency’s arrangements to improve consumer 
protection and confidence in relation to food and feed. These 
arrangements recognise that the enforcement of UK food and feed law 
relating to food safety, hygiene, composition, labelling, imported food and 
feeding stuffs is largely the responsibility of local authorities. These local 
authority regulatory functions are principally delivered through their 
Environmental Health and Trading Standards Services.  
 
The attached audit report examines the Local Authority’s Food Law 
Enforcement Service. The assessment includes the local arrangements in 
place for database management, inspections of food businesses and 
internal monitoring. It should be acknowledged that there will be 
considerable diversity in the way and manner in which local authorities 
may provide their food enforcement services reflecting local needs and 
priorities.   
 
Agency audits assess local authorities’ conformance against the Food 
Law Enforcement Standard (‘The Standard’), which was published by the 
Agency as part of the Framework Agreement on Official Feed and Food 
Controls by Local Authorities and is available on the Agency’s website at: 
www.food.gov.uk/enforcement/enforcementwork/. 
 
The main aim of the audit scheme is to maintain and improve consumer 
protection and confidence by ensuring that local authorities are providing 
an effective food law enforcement service. The scheme also provides the 
opportunity to identify and disseminate good practice and provide 
information to inform Agency policy on food safety, standards and feeding 
stuffs. Parallel local authority audit schemes are implemented by the 
Agency’s offices in all devolved countries comprising the UK. 
 
The report contains some statistical data, for example on the number of 
food premises in the Authority. The Agency’s website contains 
enforcement activity data for all UK local authorities and can be found at: 
www.food.gov.uk/enforcement/monitoring. 
 
For assistance, a glossary of technical terms used within the audit report 
can be found at Annex C. 
 
 
 

 

  

 

 

 

http://www.foodstandards.gov.uk/pdf_files/fsa_framework.pdf
http://www.food.gov.uk/enforcement/monitoring


       

 

3 

 

Contents 

1.0    Introduction ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 4 

Reason for the Audit ----------------------------------------------------------------------------- 4 

Scope of the Audit -------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 5 
Background  ----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 5 

2.0    Executive Summary ---------------------------------------------------------------------- 6 

3.0  Audit Findings ------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 7 

3.1  Organisation and Management ------------------------------------------------------- 7 

Strategic Framework, Policy and Service Planning -------------------------------- 7 
Documented Policies and Procedures ------------------------------------------------- 9 

Officer Authorisations --------------------------------------------------------------------- 10 

 
3.2 Food Premises Database -------------------------------------------------------------- 11 

 
3.3 Food Premises Interventions -------------------------------------------------------- 12 

 
3.4 Enforcement ------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 16 

 
3.5 Internal Monitoring, Third Party or Peer Review ------------------------------ 17 

Internal Monitoring ------------------------------------------------------------------------- 17 
Food and Food Premises Complaints ------------------------------------------------ 18 
Food Inspection and Sampling --------------------------------------------------------- 18 

Records -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 19 
Third Party or Peer Review ------------------------------------------------------------- 19 

 
ANNEX A Action Plan for Rochdale Council --------------------------------------- 21 

 
ANNEX B     Audit Approach/Methodology -------------------------------------------- 32 

 
ANNEX C     Glossary -------------------------------------------------------------------------- 33 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



       

 

4 

 

1.0     Introduction 

 
1.1 This report records the results of an audit at Rochdale Metropolitan 

Borough Council with regard to food hygiene enforcement, under 
relevant headings of the Food Standards Agency Food Law 
Enforcement Standard. The audit focused on the Authority’s 
arrangements for the management of the food premises database, 
food premises interventions, and internal monitoring. The report has 
been made publicly available on the Agency’s website at 
www.food.gov.uk/enforcement/auditandmonitoring/auditreports.  

 Hard copies are available from the Food Standards Agency’s 
Operations Assurance Division at Aviation House, 125 Kingsway, 
London WC2B 6NH, Tel: 020 7276 8428.  

 
Reason for the Audit 

1.2 The power to set standards, monitor and audit local authority food law 
enforcement services was conferred on the Food Standards Agency 
by the Food Standards Act 1999 and the Official Feed and Food 
Controls (England) Regulations 2009. This audit of Rochdale 
Metropolitan Borough Council was undertaken under section 12(4) of 
the Act as part of the Food Standards Agency’s annual audit 
programme.  

 
1.3 Regulation (EC) No. 882/2004 on official controls performed to ensure 

the verification of compliance with feed and food law includes a 
requirement for competent authorities to carry out internal audits or to 
have external audits carried out. The purpose of these audits is to 
verify whether official controls relating to feed and food law are 
effectively implemented. To fulfil this requirement, the Food Standards 
Agency, as the central competent authority for feed and food law in the 
UK has established external audit arrangements. In developing these, 
the Agency has taken account of the European Commission guidance 
on how such audits should be conducted.1 

 
1.4 The Authority was selected for inclusion in the Food Standards 

Agency’s programme of audits of local authority food law enforcement 
as the Local Authority Enforcement Monitoring Scheme (LAEMS) data 
submitted to the Agency for 2012/13 indicated that the Authority had a 
relatively low full time equivalent (FTE) staffing ratio per food 
establishment and a relatively high number of overdue 
inspections/interventions. 

 
   
   
 

                                                        
1 Commission Decision of 29 September 2006 setting out the guidelines laying down criteria 

for the conduct of audits under Regulation (EC) No. 882/2004 of the European Parliament and 
of the Council on official controls to verify compliance with feed and food law, animal health 
and animal welfare rules (2006/677/EC) 

http://www.foodstandards.gov.uk/industry/report_foodlaw1stpg.htm


       

 

5 

 

 
  Scope of the Audit 
 

1.5 The audit examined Rochdale Council’s arrangements for food 
premises database management, food premises interventions and 
internal monitoring, with regard to food hygiene law enforcement. The 
scope of the audit also included an assessment of the Authority’s 
overall organisation and management, and the internal monitoring of 
other related food hygiene law enforcement activities. 

 
1.6 Assurance was sought that key authority food hygiene law 

enforcement systems and arrangements were effective in supporting 
business compliance, and that local enforcement was managed and 
delivered effectively. The on-site element of the audit took place at the 
Authority’s offices, Number One Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale, on 
17 – 19 March 2014.   

 
Background 

 
1.7      Rochdale Metropolitan Borough Council is located in the southern 

Pennine Moors in the north west of England.  The Borough covers 62 
square miles and is primarily rural with urban developments of dense 
housing and industrial areas located along major roadways. The 
Borough is divided into the townships of Rochdale, Heywood and 
Middleton together with the eastern urban area, the Pennines 
Township. The population is estimated to be just over 204,000.   

  
1.8 The overall structure of the Authority comprised of the Chief 

Executive’s Office and six directorates. Food hygiene law enforcement 
was the responsibility of the Business Engagement and Compliance 
Unit which reported to the Chief Public Protection Officer who reported 
to Director of Economy and Environment.     

     
1.9 The Authority reported the profile of food businesses at 31 March 2014 

as follows: 
 

Type of Food Premises      Number 

Primary Producers 9 

Manufacturers/Packers 31 

Importers/Exporters 2 

Distributors/Transporters 46 

Retailers 488 

Restaurant/Caterers 1,317 

Total Number of Food Premises 1,893 

 
 
 
.     
 

http://assurance/


       

 

6 

 

 

2.0      Executive Summary 

 
2.1 Rochdale Borough Council was selected for audit as Local Authority 

Enforcement Monitoring Scheme (LAEMS) data submitted by the 
Authority indicated the Authority had a relatively low full time 
equivalent (FTE) staffing ratio per food establishment and a relatively 
high number of overdue inspection/interventions. 

 
2.2 The Authority was found to be delivering a range of food law 

enforcement activities in accordance with the statutory obligations 
placed on the Authority as a competent food authority. A significant 
amount of funding had been secured from Public Health to support 
performance and an historic backlog of overdue interventions of eighty 
percent had been reduced to what was expected to be fifty nine 
percent at the end of the municipal year.  This included interventions 
at approximately five hundred category C rated premises. Sampling 
activity had also been increased and the Authority had also dealt with 
relatively high levels of food and food premises complaints. However 
the Authority required major improvements to attain the required level 
of protection to consumers and business by meeting the statutory 
requirements of the Framework Agreement and the Food Law Code of 
Practice (FLCoP). A summary of the main findings and key 
improvements required is set out below. 

 
2.3 Key areas for improvement:    

 Organisation and management:  

 The Authority needs to ensure that it has sufficient officers/resources 
to deliver the full range of food hygiene law enforcement activities as 
statutorily required of competent food authorities.    

  The Authority should continue to develop an annual Food and Feed 
Service Delivery Plan.   

 Food premises interventions:  

 The Authority should ensure that the backlog of overdue 
interventions/inspections are urgently addressed.  

 Interventions/inspections needed to be carried out at frequencies not 
less than that specified in the FLCoP and recorded in sufficient and 
consistent detail to demonstrate establishments have been fully 
assessed to the legally prescribed standards.  

 Enforcement and follow up actions:    

 The Authority needs to complete its review of the Enforcement Policy 
and non-compliances should be followed up by appropriate action.     

  

 

 



       

 

7 

 

Officer authorisations: 

 Ensure that all officers are appropriately qualified, authorised and have 
specialist knowledge and training to be competent to deliver the 
technical and administrative aspects of their work.  

 

 

3.0  Audit Findings 

 
3.1  Organisation and Management 

Strategic Framework, Policy and Service Planning 

 
3.1.1 The Authority had no documented Food Service Plan for 2013/14 

however in February 2015 a Food and Feed Service plan for 2014/15 
was approved by elected members. The Plan related to the period 
April 2014 to the end of March 2015 and as such the LA had operated 
its food hygiene service without an approved Service Plan for twenty 
two months.         

 
3.1.2 The Plan linked to the Councils Vision & Blueprint to build success and 

prosperity with citizens and partners whilst protecting vulnerable 
people. It also linked with the Public Protection Service aims to;  

 

 Ensure as far as possible the safety of food produced, sold and 
consumed within the Borough. 

 

 Ensure as far as possible the safety of feed produced, sold and 
used within the Borough. 

 

 Ensure as far as possible the safety of primary food production 
within the Borough. 

 

 Ensure as far as possible that food and feed meets appropriate 
quality standards, is correctly labelled and described and is free 
from contaminants. 

 

 Identify risks to the safety of food and feed produced or sold 
within the Borough and to advise and educate food businesses 
and take enforcement action where appropriate. 

 

 Support and promote the Food Standards Agency’s Food 
Hygiene Rating Scheme. 

 

 Support funded regional working via the Food Standards Agency, 
the National Trading Standards Board and the Trading Standards 
North West Food and Feed Groups, and 

 



       

 

8 

 

 Develop the professional qualifications, competencies and 
experience of Food and Feed Safety officers. 

 
3.1.3 Approximately 16.5% of the population of Rochdale were from an 

ethnic minority background and that this part of the population 
traditionally included a significant proportion of food business 
operators which the Authority stated had resulted in the challenge of a 
larger proportion of non-complaint food businesses being run by ethnic 
minorities.   

 
3.1.4   The Plan and the covering report to the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee clearly stated that the resources available to the service 
would not enable the Authority to deliver a full programme of food 
hygiene inspections/interventions in accordance with the Food Law 
Code of Practice (FLCoP). However in 2014 the Service had received 
ongoing public health grant funding to assist in the delivery of food 
food hygiene inspection. The Plan was unclear as to how the funding 
would be best used to achieve maximum impact in allowing the 
Authority to meet its statutory duties.Figures for 2013/14 provided in 
the Plan stated 152 inspections had been completed in the year and a 
total of 1493 inspections were outstanding. In addition due to the lack 
of resources, the service was also no longer able to deal with service 
requests and complaints in the way it had previously done so and a 
selection criteria had been developed to determine which complaints 
would take priority.      

 
3.1.5 It was noted that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee had requested 

that the Director of Economy and Environment Services present the 
2015/2016 Food and Feed Service Plan to an earlier meeting in the 
Municipal year.        
 

3.1.6 The Service Plan was however well structured and broadly followed 
the Service Planning Guidance in the Framework Agreement and had 
been appropriately approved.     

 
.   

 



       

 

9 

 

  

 

Documented Policies and Procedures 

 
3.1.8 The Authority had developed a range of documented procedures/work 

instructions for food hygiene law enforcement. However there was no 
overall control procedure for the management and review of 
procedures/work instructions.      

 
3.1.9 The Authority acknowledged that some documented procedures 

required review and auditors discussed the need to ensure that 
procedures for each of the enforcement activities covered by the 
Standard were in place and reviewed at regular intervals.  

   
 
 

Recommendations 
 
3.1.7 The Authority should: 
 

   
(i) Appoint a sufficient number of authorised officers to 

carry out the food law work required by the Food Law 
Code of Practice.  [The Standard - 5.3] 

 
(ii) Continue to produce a documented annual Service 

Delivery Plan in accordance with the Service Planning 
Guidance in the Framework Agreement and gain 
appropriate approval early in the municipal year.  [The 
Standard 3.1]       

 

(iii) Ensure that service plans include a clear comparison 
of the resources required to effectively manage and 
carry out the full range of statutory food law 
enforcement activities against the resources available 
to the Service. [The Standard - 3.1] 

 
(iv) Ensure that the Service Plan identifies any shortfalls in 

its delivery of statutory duties and clearly identifies how 
and when these will be addressed, and the potential 
consequences for the LA and consumer protection. 
[The Standard 3.1]       

 

(v) Ensure that the Service Plan identifies how the Public 
Health grant funding for food hygiene law enforcement 
can be best utilised to address shortfalls in its statutory 
duties. [The Standard 3.1]        

 
  

        
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



       

 

10 

 

 
 

  Officer Authorisations 

 
3.1.11 The Authority had developed a documented procedure for the 

authorisation of officers to ensure they were appropriately qualified, 
experienced and competent to carry out Food Law Enforcement. The 
procedure was however dated 2003 and required review.     

 
3.1.12 Checks on authorisations found there were insufficient legislative 

references and one officer’s authorisation contained out of date 
legislation. The Authority needed to review the authorisation of officers 
to ensure they are appropriately authorised under specific legislation 
and at a level in accordance with their training and qualifications. The 
Authority also needed to review the draft of delegated powers to the 
Chief Public Protection Officer to ensure legislation was up to date.   

 
3.1.13 Qualifications and training records for a number of officers were 

examined but records available mainly related to 2013/14 and full 
checks on the qualifications and training of staff was not possible. 
However the checks carried out demonstrated that those officers were 
receiving the minimum 10 hours relevant training per annum based on 
the principles of continuing professional development.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Recommendation 
 
3.1.10 The Authority should: 

 
(i) Ensure that all documented policies and procedures 

for each area of enforcement activities are reviewed 
at regular intervals and when there are changes to 
legislation or centrally issued guidance. [The 
Standard - 4.1]  

 
(ii) Set up, maintain and implement a control system for 

all documentation relating to its enforcement 
activities. [The Standard - 4.2]  

  
   



       

 

11 

 

3.1.14 The Authority would benefit from a review of recording CPD and 
training for officers. This should identify training needs to ensure 
officers, including the lead food officer, maintain competence to deliver 
the technical and administrative aspects of their work.  

  
 

 
 

 
3.2 Food Premises Database 

3.2.1 The Authority was operating a food premises database system 
capable of providing returns required for the Local Authority 
Enforcement Monitoring System (LAEMS). Documented instructions 
for officers inputting data had been developed in order to ensure data 
was correctly entered and accurate.  

      
3.2.2 The LA also had a documented system for checking the accuracy of 

LAEMS data prior to the submission of returns to the Agency.  
.   
3.2.3 There was no overall procedure or work instruction for the 

maintenance of the database and Auditors highlighted the Agency 

Recommendation 
 
3.1.15   The Authority should: 
 

(i) Ensure that all authorised officers including the lead 
food officer are appropriately qualified and receive 
the training needed to be competent to deliver the 
technical and administrative aspects of the work in 
which they will be involved, in accordance with the 
Food Law Code of Practice. [The Standard - 4.1]  

 
(ii) Review the authorisation of officers to ensure they 

are appropriately authorised under specific 
legislation and at a level in accordance with their 
training and qualifications.  [The Standard - 4.1] 

 
(iii) Review the draft of delegated powers to the Chief 

Public Protection Officer to ensure legislation is up 
to date.  [The Standard - 4.1] 

 
(iv) Ensure that relevant records of qualifications, 

training and experience for each authorised officer 
and appropriate support staff is maintained by the 
Authority. [The Standard – 5.5] 

 
 

 
 
        
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



       

 

12 

 

publication “Making Every Inspection Count” which focused on 
maintaining database accuracy.  

 
3.2.4  Auditors had also identified potential anomalies and inaccuracies in 

Food Hygiene Ratings Scheme (FHRS) data and the Authority advised 
it would carry out further investigation and correction of data as 
required.   

  
3.2.5 During discussions, auditors were informed that the Authority was 

considering introducing a new overarching CRM system. Auditors 
discussed the need to ensure that any new computerised system 
offered sufficient capability for the LA to fulfil its responsibilities under 
the FLCoP and Framework Agreement.     

 
 

 
 
3.3 Food Premises Interventions 

 
3.3.1 For several years the resources allocated to food hygiene law 

enforcement had been insufficient for the Authority to deliver a full 
programme of inspections/interventions as required by the FLCoP and 
the Framework Agreement. Whilst being unable to deliver a full 
programme of interventions the LA had adopted a risk based approach 
to prioritisation of inspections and had concentrated inspection 
activities at premises highest risk rated A and B. The lack of 
inspections and interventions had over several years had however led 
to a substantial backlog.  

  
3.3.2 In 2014 the service had secured additional funding for food hygiene 

enforcement activities from the LA Public Health budget. The Authority 
Feed and Food Service Plan 2014/15 set out food hygiene inspections 
due as 1344 and a proposed plan of 724 inspections as detailed in the 
table below. .     

 
  

Recommendations 
 
3.2.6 The Authority should: 
 

(i) Set up, maintain and implement an overall 
documented procedure to ensure that the food 
premises database is accurate, reliable and up to 
date. [The Standard – 11.2]   

 

(ii) Ensure that any new computerised systems 
introduced by the LA are reliable and capable of 
providing information reasonably requested by the 
Agency. [The Standard – 6.3] 

 



       

 

13 

 

 Inspections 
due 

Inspections 
planned 

Public Health 
funded 

Cat A  10 10  

Cat B 64 64  

Cat C 796 0 500 

Cat D 265 0  

Cat E  132 0  

Unrated 77 0 150 
 
 

3.3.3 During the audit which took place towards the very end of the 
municipal year the LA was asked to run reports to establish the 
number of inspections overdue. The figures produced by the LA 
showed that 1119 inspections were overdue. These were primarily 
category C,D and E premises and included a substantial backlog of 
inspections from previous years..     

 

3.3.4 It appeared that the Authority had been partly frustrated from 
delivering a higher number of inspections as a result of problems in 
recruitment of staff and employment of contractors. Auditors were also 
concerned that the LAs new procurement arrangements may also 
delay employment of contractors in 2015/16 and affect the LAs ability 
to make the most of its grant funding. Auditors were also advised the 
service was planning to employ an administrator.  

   
3.3.5 During discussions it appeared that there was no written or agreed 

plan as to how the Public Health funding could be most effectively 
used to improve performance to meet the requirements of the 
Framework Agreement and the FLCoP.            

 
3.3.6 The Authority would benefit from a documented review of its shortfall 

in performance and a structured assessment and costing of options 
available to use the Public Health grant in the most effective way to 
meet the requirements of the Framework Agreement and the FLCoP.            

.  
3.3.7 The Authority had developed a documented procedure for food 

hygiene interventions and approval of establishments under product 
specific regulations. 

 

3.3.8 Records of six inspections carried out by a range of officers at food 
businesses were checked during the audit. The key issues were as 
follows: 

 

 There was a lack of an appropriate aide-memoire with prompts 
and space for officers to record inspection details. 

 

 There was a lack of detailed records being maintained, officer 
records were generally though use of a ticklist or exception 
reporting on the aides-memoire. 

 



       

 

14 

 

 Records were not always retrievable, for example there were 
missing inspection records and scanned pages or documents 
relating to inspections and in the approved establishment files.  

 

 There was a lack of follow up actions following inspections and 
timely revisits should have been undertaken and /or notices 
served at 3 out of the 6 files examined. 

 

 It would be useful for officers to highlight significant areas for 
checking at the next inspection (i.e. red flagging). It was noted 
that the frequency of inspections for A and B risk rated premises 
was in general being met, though this was not the case for C risk 
rated premises or below. 

 
 Premises generally appeared to be correctly risk rated and 

reports were being left at every visit with appropriate information.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



       

 

15 

 

 
 
 

3.3.9 Checks carried out on approved establishment files were limited as 
files were stored in a remote location and 3 day notice was required to 
access files. It was not possible to assess whether establishments 
required approval under Regulation (EC) No 853/2004 or if file 
contents required by Annex 10. However the limited examination of file 
records available found that from recent interventions undertaken, 
detailed inspection records had been maintained using an appropriate 
aides- memoire. 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Recommendations 
 

3.3.10 The Authority should: 
 

(i) Review the food hygiene service intervention strategy 
to ensure that it meets compliance with the Food Law 
Code of Practice and the Standard in the Framework 
Agreement. [The Standard - 7.1] 

 
(ii) Carry out interventions/inspections at a frequency 

which is not less than that specified by the Food Law 
Code of Practice and centrally issued guidance.  
[The Standard - 7.1] 
 

(iii) Ensure that inspections/interventions are recorded in 
sufficient detail to demonstrate establishments have 
been fully assessed to the legally prescribed 
standards, the Food Law Code of Practice and 
centrally issued guidance. [The Standard - 7.2 and 
7.3] 

 
(iv) Assess the compliance of establishments and 

systems in their area to the legally prescribed 
standards and ensure that appropriate and timely 
follow up action is taken where non-compliance is 
found in accordance with the Authority’s enforcement 
policy. [The Standard - 7.3] 

 



       

 

16 

 

 Verification Visit to a Food Premises  
 
3.3.11  As part of the audit a verification visit was undertaken to a local 

takeaway with an officer from the Authority who had carried out a 
previous food hygiene inspection of the premises. The main objective 
of the visit was to assess the effectiveness of the Authority’s 
assessment of food business compliance with food law requirements.  

 
3.3.12  During the visit the officer was able to demonstrate a good and 

effective working relationship with the FBO and detailed knowledge of 
food safety legislation and food safety management systems. 

  
3.4 Enforcement 

3.4.1 The Authority had developed a documented Enforcement Policy which 
required review. The Authority had drafted a new updated policy 
embracing more recent regulatory developments which was scheduled 
to be approved in the coming months.   

.  
3.4.2 Documented enforcement procedures relating to the serving of 

notices, seizure and detention of food, voluntary closure of premises, 
and legal proceedings had been developed, however these required 
review and updating. 

         
3.4.3 The Authority had undertaken no food seizures, detentions, simple 

cautions or prosecutions in the two years prior to the audit. It also only 
undertook revisits where there was an imminent risk at premises. The 
lack of revisits was not consistent with the LA enforcement policy and 
the FLCoP. Auditors were informed the approach was under review 

 
3.4.4 Audit checks on file records for formal enforcement activities were 

carried out on food hygiene improvement notices, voluntary closures 
and voluntary surrenders of food. Actions were found to be appropriate 
for the circumstances and were generally exercised in line with the 
requirements of the FLCoP. However auditors were unable verify to 
actions in regard to the process for service of notices, there had been 
delays in follow up checks and these had not always been carried out.  

 
 
 



       

 

17 

 

 
 
 
3.5   Internal Monitoring, Third Party or Peer Review  

Internal Monitoring 

 
3.5.1 The Authority had developed a documented internal monitoring 

procedure which aimed to verify conformance with relevant legislation, 
codes of practice, central guidance and the LAs own policies and 
procedures. 

 
3.5.2 The monitoring procedures included information on accompanied 

visits, team meetings, inter Authority audits, performance reviews, 1-2-
1 meetings and database reporting. Whilst there was evidence of a 
range of monitoring activities the Authority needs to review internal 
monitoring to include a focus on corrective action arising from the 
findings of the audit.       

 
 

 
 

Recommendation 
 
3.5.3 The Authority should: 
 

Review internal monitoring to include a focus on corrective 
action arising from the findings of the FSA audit. [The 
Standard – 19.2]   
 

Recommendations 
 
3.4.5 The Authority should: 
 

(i) Complete its review of the LA Enforcement Policy 
and gain appropriate approval. [The Standard – 
15.1]    

 
(ii) Ensure that documented enforcement procedures 

are regularly reviewed and updated. [The Standard – 
15.2]   

 
(iii) Review its decision to only undertake follow up 

actions and revisits where there is “imminent risk” to 
ensure that enforcement actions are undertaken in 
accordance with the Authority’s Enforcement Policy, 
the Food Law Code of Practice and centrally issued 
guidance.  [The Standard – 15.2, 15.3, 15.4]   



       

 

18 

 

Food and Food Premises Complaints 

 
3.5.4 The LA had developed a documented food complaints procedure and 

a food premises complaints procedure both forming part of the Food 
Safety Work Instruction Manual.   

 
3.5.5 In addition the Authority had an undated complaints protocol which set 

out its policy for complaints. The protocol stated that the LA was no 
longer able to investigate every complaint due to a reduction in 
resources and it set out the LAs policy for determining whether or not 
to formally investigate complaints or whether alternative means of 
intervention may be appropriate. The protocol identified a range of 
situations where complaints and service requests would not be 
investigated including;    

 

 Complaints regarding a branded food product. 
 

 Complaint was not related to a persistent offender or business 
with poor performance record by checking APP (i.e premise with 
good compliance history).  

 

 Food complaints relating to any supermarket chain (directed back 
to supermarket) unless the complaint was of a serious nature 
posing risk to health. 

 
3.5.6 Audit checks on five file records of food and food premises complaint 

investigations found that appropriate investigations and action had 
been carried out. 

Food Inspection and Sampling 

 
3..5.7 The Authority had developed a documented sampling procedure but 

needed to develop a food sampling policy. 
 
3.5.8 File checks were carried out on five samples confirmed that effective 

and appropriate follow-up had been taken. The Authority did however 
need to ensure that officers properly recorded the notification of the 
results of analysis to Food Businesses.   

 

 

 

Recommendation 
 
3.5.9 The Authority should: 
 

Set up, maintain and implement a documented sampling 
policy.  [The Standard – 12.4]   
 
 



       

 

19 

 

Records 

 
3.5.10 The Service needed to improve its recording of actions as highlighted 

in the report and there was concern about the speed of retrieval of 
records stored in a remote location. Auditors were advised files such 
as approved premises archived in storage could take up to three days 
for officers to access. 

 

3.5.11 The LA needs to satisfy itself that it has adequate access to files, 
information and data to allow it to deal effectively with situations where 
an urgent response is required. A system of ensuring data and record 
storage needs to be established, fully implemented, and monitored.   

 

 
 

Third Party or Peer Review 

 
3.5.13 In 2014 the Authority had participated in an internal audit which had 

reported on the 15 October 2014. The objectives of the internal audit 
included;   

 

 Whether the Council ensures compliance with statutory Codes of 
Practice e.g. Framework Agreement and Code of Practice. 

 

 Whether an appropriate risk-based programme of work governs 
the food safety work undertaken within the resources available.  

 

 Whether risks in this line of work are minimized to an acceptable 
level.     

 

 Whether food safety inspections of premises (especially those in 
the high and medium risk categories) are conducted frequently 
enough, as prescribed by the Code of Practice.    

 
 3.5.14 The report noted that “due to the impact of efficiency savings on 

staffing levels the Food Safety Service had not been complaint with all 
statutory requirements of the FSA Framework Agreement and Code of 
Practice”. The issues summarized in the report included;    

 

Recommendation 
 
3.5.12 The Authority should: 
 

Maintain up to date accurate records in retrievable form on 
all food establishments in its area, including approved 
establishments, in accordance with the Food Law Code of 
Practice and centrally issued guidance. [The Standard – 
16.1]   



       

 

20 

 

 Current resources only allow inspections of the highest risk rated 
premises and businesses. There is no assurance these 
businesses previously rated medium or low have now not slipped 
into high risk.   

 

 The service has not produced a statutory Food Service Plan 
since 2012/13, however it was noted that a plan for 2014/15 was 
in draft form at the time of the audit. As such no recommendation 
has been made in respect of this finding on the assumption that it 
is to be finalised soon and implemented accordingly. 

 
3.5.15 The Authority had also participated in an AGMA inter-authority project 

in regard to FHRS brand standard and consistency training for FHRS 
which was being implemented.  

.  
     

Auditors:   John Ashcroft 
         Jane Tait 
    
Food Standards Agency 
Local Delivery Audit Team 
Operations Assurance Division 
 

 



       

 

21 

 

ANNEX A Action Plan for Rochdale Council 17-19 March 2015 

 

TO ADDRESS (RECOMMENDATION 
INCLUDING STANDARD PARAGRAPH) 

BY 
(DATE) 

PLANNED IMPROVEMENTS ACTION TAKEN TO DATE 

3.1.7 (i) Appoint a sufficient number of 
authorised officers to carry out the food law 
work required by the Food Law Code of 
Practice.  [The Standard - 5.3] 
 

31 March 
2016 

The Public Protection Section 
acknowledges that it has struggled in 
recent years to inspect lower-risk premises 
with the resources available to it, 
concentrating instead on those premises 
which pose a higher risk.  However, 
significant progress has been made with 
regard to lower-risk premises in 2014/15, 
with the FSA acknowledging that 41% of 
lower-risk inspections due were achieved.  
This is largely due to the additional funding 
provided by Public Health.  Discussions 
have been taking place with Public Health 
to see if further additional funding can be 
provided in 2015/16, with a view to (i) 
eradicating the backlog of lower-risk 
premises due for inspection and (ii) building 
some sustainability into inspection resource 
moving forward.  

A commitment has been secured 
from Public Health for the provision 
of £71k funding (on top of the £107k 
recurrent annual funding already 
provided) which will be used for the 
eradication of the backlog of lower-
risk premises within 2015/16. 
 
Discussion has also commenced to 
re-align some other existing Public 
Health funding to allow for the 
appointment of an additional 
member of staff in the Food team, 
which will enable the team to keep 
on top of its inspection commitments 
moving forward. 
 
A discussion with the STaR 
Procurement team has commenced 
with a view to the commissioning of 
external contractors (who will 
undertake much of the inspection 
work on lower-risk premises during 
2015/16). 
 



       

 

22 

 

TO ADDRESS (RECOMMENDATION 
INCLUDING STANDARD PARAGRAPH) 

BY 
(DATE) 

PLANNED IMPROVEMENTS ACTION TAKEN TO DATE 

3.1.7 (ii) Continue to produce a documented 
annual Service Delivery Plan in accordance 
with the Service Planning Guidance in the 
Framework Agreement and gain appropriate 
approval early in the municipal year.  [The 
Standard 3.1]       

30 Sept 
2015 

In addition to the FSA, the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee made plain its wish for 
a Service Plan 2015/16 to be developed 
early in this municipal year, and it is 
intended to present a Plan for member 
consideration during the second quarter of 
2015/16.   
 
Members of the Scrutiny Committee also 
requested that they be provided with an 
update on the findings of the FSA Audit in 
March 2015, and this response to the FSA 
will also form part of the documentation to 
the Committee.  
 

The Food and Feed Service Plan 
2014/15 has now completed its 
progress through the Council’s 
governance arrangements and has 
been adopted by the Council.  The 
Plan was approved by the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee on 26 
February 2015 and by Cabinet on 20 
April 2015. 
 

3.1.7 (iii) Ensure that service plans include a 
clear comparison of the resources required to 
effectively manage and carry out the full range 
of statutory food law enforcement activities 
against the resources available to the Service. 
[The Standard - 3.1] 

30 Sept 
2015 

The Service Plan for 2015/16 will contain a 
breakdown of the resources available to the 
Section for food / feed enforcement, and an 
analysis of how these resources will be 
deployed to increase the number of 
inspections carried out at lower risk 
premises (Categories C-E), which the 
Scrutiny Committee also wished to see.  
 

A document setting out the proposed 
approach to lower-risk premises 
(which depends upon both an 
additional one-off sum of £71k and 
the recurrent annual £107k funding 
from Public Health) has now been 
drafted and is submitted to the FSA 
along with this response.  
 



       

 

23 

 

TO ADDRESS (RECOMMENDATION 
INCLUDING STANDARD PARAGRAPH) 

BY 
(DATE) 

PLANNED IMPROVEMENTS ACTION TAKEN TO DATE 

3.1.7 (iv) Ensure that the Service Plan identifies 
any shortfalls in its delivery of statutory duties 
and clearly identifies how and when these will 
be addressed, and the potential consequences 
for the LA and consumer protection. [The 
Standard 3.1]       

30 Sept 
2015 

See 3.1.7(iii) above  See 3.1.7(iii) above 

3.1.7 (v) Ensure that the Service Plan identifies 
how the Public Health grant funding for food 
hygiene law enforcement can be best utilised to 
address shortfalls in its statutory duties. [The 
Standard 3.1] 

31 March 
2016 

As stated in 3.1.7(i) above, Public Health 
funding will be used to eradicate the 
backlog of lower-risk inspections during the 
current financial year, with some 
sustainability for future years being built in.   
 

See 3.1.7(i) above 



       

 

24 

 

TO ADDRESS (RECOMMENDATION 
INCLUDING STANDARD PARAGRAPH) 

BY 
(DATE) 

PLANNED IMPROVEMENTS ACTION TAKEN TO DATE 

3.1.10 (i) Ensure that all documented policies 
and procedures for each area of enforcement 
activities are reviewed at regular intervals and 
when there are changes to legislation or 
centrally issued guidance. [The Standard - 4.1] 

31 March 
2016 

The Section contends that it did have a 
number of documented procedures / work 
instructions in place at the time of the audit.  
These are essentially fit for purpose 
(indeed, they were followed when a major 
detention of 22 pallets took place on the 
second day of the audit); however, it is 
accepted that some updating would be 
appropriate.   
 
Given current managerial constraints, it is 
proposed that this work will be done by 
officers on an overtime basis using a 
portion of the Public Health funding.  This is 
set out on the accompanying document 
relating to lower risk premises / Public 
Health funding.   
 

A figure of £7000 to cover the 
necessary overtime payments has 
been built into the additional one-off 
Public Health funding provided for 
2015/16.  This has now been 
approved. 

3.1.10 (ii) Set up, maintain and implement a 
control system for all documentation relating to 
its enforcement activities. [The Standard - 4.2] 

31 March 
2016 

The Service will introduce a control system 
for documentation relating to its 
enforcements activities. 
 
 

The Section has committed to a 
review and updating (using Public 
Health monies to fund overtime) of 
its current documentation, and feels 
that this is an appropriate response 
in the circumstances.     



       

 

25 

 

TO ADDRESS (RECOMMENDATION 
INCLUDING STANDARD PARAGRAPH) 

BY 
(DATE) 

PLANNED IMPROVEMENTS ACTION TAKEN TO DATE 

3.1.15 (i) Ensure that all authorised officers 
including the lead food officer are appropriately 
qualified and receive the training needed to be 
competent to deliver the technical and 
administrative aspects of the work in which they 
will be involved, in accordance with the Food 
Law Code of Practice. [The Standard - 4.1] 

30 Sept 
2015 

It is agreed that all staff must be kept up to 
date with all relevant training requirements 
(including 10 hours CPD for Food).  
Provision will be made for all Council Food 
staff to attend training courses as 
appropriate.   
 
With regard to the Lead Officer, the FSA is 
aware that - following the recent 
management restructure – the Food 
Section will be led by a very experienced 
officer with full Environmental Health 
qualifications.  This will ensure that all CoP 
requirements are met.   
 

Continuing.  The management 
restructure has not yet been fully 
implemented. 

3.1.15 (ii) Review the authorisation of officers to 
ensure they are appropriately authorised under 
specific legislation and at a level in accordance 
with their training and qualifications.  [The 
Standard - 4.1] 

30 Sept 
2015 

It is accepted that authorisations should be 
revisited with view to being refreshed.   

Enquiries have commenced at a 
meeting with AGMA colleagues on 
15 April 2015.  Current examples of 
good practice have been gathered 
and will now be considered for 
adoption by the Food team 
 



       

 

26 

 

TO ADDRESS (RECOMMENDATION 
INCLUDING STANDARD PARAGRAPH) 

BY 
(DATE) 

PLANNED IMPROVEMENTS ACTION TAKEN TO DATE 

3.1.15 (iii) Review the draft of delegated powers 
to the Chief Public Protection Officer to ensure 
legislation is up to date.  [The Standard - 4.1] 

30 June 
2015 

The Council’s Constitution is in the process 
of being updated.  Enquiries have been 
made with colleagues in Democratic 
Services and the latest version covering the 
delegation of powers to officers is likely to 
be on the Council’s website in the near 
future.  This will include the “catch all” 
provision authorising officers under all 
relevant legislation whether listed in the 
Constitution or not, thereby obviating the 
need for constant updating. 
 

Legal advice has been taken and 
confirmation received that the use of 
the “catch all” provision obviates the 
need for constant updating of the 
legislation listed within the 
Constitution. 

3.1.15 (iv) Ensure that relevant records of 
qualifications, training and experience for each 
authorised officer and appropriate support staff 
is maintained by the Authority. [The Standard – 
5.5] 

30 June 
2015 

It is accepted that a better system of 
recording CPD hours could be introduced.  
The Team Leader will set up a matrix / 
spreadsheet onto which all staff can enter 
details of their CPD hours undertaken in 
each calendar year, thereby making it 
easier to establish that all staff have 
acquired the requisite number of hours.    
 

Implementation will be achieved by 
30 June 2015. 



       

 

27 

 

TO ADDRESS (RECOMMENDATION 
INCLUDING STANDARD PARAGRAPH) 

BY 
(DATE) 

PLANNED IMPROVEMENTS ACTION TAKEN TO DATE 

3.2.6 (i) Set up, maintain and implement an 
overall documented procedure to ensure that 
the food premises database is accurate, 
reliable and up to date. [The Standard – 11.2]   

31 March 
2016 

This is agreed.  Given the comments 
previously made by the Internal Audit team, 
and the fact that new members of staff are 
now beginning to undertake food work, it is 
in the Section’s interest to ensure that the 
database is accurate and up to date.  
 

This work may require officers to 
work overtime in order to ensure that 
all data is inputted at the earliest 
opportunity – as stated above, this 
will be funded through the additional 
Public Health monies (now 
confirmed).  
 
Discussions have commenced with 
colleagues in ICT to ensure that 
“pinch points” of information flow 
(which undermine the database 
staying up to date) are better 
managed. 
 
The list of duplicate premises 
identified by the FSA in the pre-audit 
exercise has now been corrected. 
 



       

 

28 

 

TO ADDRESS (RECOMMENDATION 
INCLUDING STANDARD PARAGRAPH) 

BY 
(DATE) 

PLANNED IMPROVEMENTS ACTION TAKEN TO DATE 

3.2.6 (ii) Ensure that any new computerised 
systems introduced by the LA are reliable and 
capable of providing information reasonably 
requested by the Agency. [The Standard – 6.3] 

Ongoing This is agreed.  It is acknowledged that the 
Council is considering the adoption of a 
new centralised back office system (other 
than Flare), which could have implications 
for the Section. Should this approach be 
taken officers will feed in the FSA’s 
requirements at every opportunity as we do 
not wish to lose the functionality of the 
Flare facility (which suits our current needs 
very well).   
   

The Section has consistently worked 
with corporate ICT to ensure that our 
requirements are understood and will 
be met, and we will continue to do 
so. 
 
An officer is engaging with ICT to 
ensure that our needs are fully 
reflected in any new corporate CRM 
system to be introduced.  

3.3.10 (i) Review the food hygiene service 
intervention strategy to ensure that it meets 
compliance with the Food Law Code of Practice 
and the Standard in the Framework Agreement. 
[The Standard - 7.1] 

30 Sept 
2015 

The food hygiene intervention strategy in 
the Service Plan will reflect the 
requirements of the FLCoP and will provide 
that interventions will be carried out at the 
frequency required by the FLCoP  
 
 
 
 

Done / ongoing. 



       

 

29 

 

TO ADDRESS (RECOMMENDATION 
INCLUDING STANDARD PARAGRAPH) 

BY 
(DATE) 

PLANNED IMPROVEMENTS ACTION TAKEN TO DATE 

3.3.10 (ii) Carry out interventions/inspections at 
a frequency which is not less than that specified 
by the Food Law Code of Practice and centrally 
issued guidance.  
[The Standard - 7.1] 

31 March 
2016 

The Section is committed to carrying out 
interventions at all food premises in 
accordance with CoP, subject to the 
resources at its disposal. The Section is 
keen to eradicate the backlog of lower-risk 
inspections which are due, and the 
proposed means of achieving this via the 
acquisition of additional Public Health 
funding has been set out in para 3.1.7 (i) 
above.   
 

Further detail on our approach to 
achieving Compliance in 2015/16 
(and sustaining that thereafter) is set 
out on the accompanying document.    

3.3.10 (iii) Ensure that inspections/interventions 
are recorded in sufficient detail to demonstrate 
establishments have been fully assessed to the 
legally prescribed standards, the Food Law 
Code of Practice and centrally issued guidance. 
[The Standard - 7.2 and 7.3] 

30 June 
2015 

This issue will be discussed with Food staff, 
who will be reminded of the need for full 
and detailed record keeping (so as to be 
able to evidence that appropriate 
inspections have taken place).  Any 
necessary review of Flare codes will also 
take place. 
  

Not progressed as yet 

3.3.10 (iv) Assess the compliance of 
establishments and systems in their area to the 
legally prescribed standards and ensure that 
appropriate and timely follow up action is taken 
where non-compliance is found in accordance 
with the Authority’s enforcement policy. [The 
Standard - 7.3] 

30 June 
2015 

Again, this is accepted.  The Section 
acknowledges the need for it to increase its 
number of re-visits and discussions are 
already underway on how to achieve this 
(as well as the adoption of “red flagging” of 
key premises and the use of a more 
detailed aide memoire). 
 

The Section recognises its 
obligations here and has begun to 
explore options on how to improve 
here. An internal Performance 
Indicator to monitor improving 
standards has been developed, but 
identification of a cohort group of 
premises is required. 
     



       

 

30 

 

TO ADDRESS (RECOMMENDATION 
INCLUDING STANDARD PARAGRAPH) 

BY 
(DATE) 

PLANNED IMPROVEMENTS ACTION TAKEN TO DATE 

3.4.5 (i) Complete its review of the LA 
Enforcement Policy and gain appropriate 
approval. [The Standard – 15.1]    

30 June 
2015 

A draft of a new Enforcement Policy has 
been completed and is currently 
undergoing consultation with local trade 
groups.  Once this is completed, the draft 
will be submitted for consideration by 
Overview and Scrutiny (the next meeting of 
which will be in June 2015) and thereafter 
will be presented to Cabinet.   
 

Consultation has now been 
completed.  The draft has been 
scheduled to make its way through 
the governance processes on the 
following dates: 

 Informal Cabinet – 4 June 

 Scrutiny – 10 June 

 Cabinet – 29 June 
 

3.4.5 (ii) Ensure that documented enforcement 
procedures are regularly reviewed and 
updated. [The Standard – 15.2]   

31 March 
2016 

This is agreed.  Officers will be tasked with 
re-visiting these, using Public Health 
monies to fund overtime as appropriate.  
 

Overtime will be funded through the 
additional Public Health monies (now 
confirmed). 

3.4.5 (iii) Review its decision to only undertake 
follow up actions and revisits where there is 
“imminent risk” to ensure that enforcement 
actions are undertaken in accordance with the 
Authority’s Enforcement Policy, the Food Law 
Code of Practice and centrally issued guidance.  
[The Standard – 15.2, 15.3, 15.4]   

30 June 
2015 

Although the Section does deal with 
“imminent risk” (as evidenced by the 
detention of 22 pallets during the FSA 
audit), it is accepted that more can be done 
with regard to re-visits and follow-up work.  
The Section accepts this and will be 
discussing with staff how best to improve in 
this area. 
 

The Section recognises its 
obligations here and has begun to 
explore options on how to improve 
here. 



       

 

31 

 

TO ADDRESS (RECOMMENDATION 
INCLUDING STANDARD PARAGRAPH) 

BY 
(DATE) 

PLANNED IMPROVEMENTS ACTION TAKEN TO DATE 

3.5.3 Review internal monitoring to include a 
focus on corrective action arising from the 
findings of the FSA audit. [The Standard – 19.2]   

30 June 
2015 and 
onwards 

Acknowledged The corrective action identified in the 
audit will be discussed at the 6 
weekly team meetings, where it will 
be a standing agenda item (with a 
view to ensuring that progress 
against this action plan is regularly 
monitored). 
 

3.5.9 Set up, maintain and implement a 
documented sampling policy.  [The Standard – 
12.4]   

30 June 
2015 

This is agreed.   An approach has been made to 
AGMA authorities on 15 April 2015 
and examples of best practice 
acquired.  These will be adopted 
moving forward. 
 

3.5.12 Maintain up to date accurate records in 
retrievable form on all food establishments in its 
area, including approved establishments, in 
accordance with the Food Law Code of 
Practice and centrally issued guidance. [The 
Standard – 16.1]   

Done Number One Riverside provides a vastly-
improved working environment to that 
experienced on previous audits, but one of 
the few drawbacks is the relative lack of on-
site storage space (requiring the use of 
remote locations for file archiving).  
However, it is conceded that on-site 
storage for certain approved premises 
would be useful.   
 

A potential (albeit limited) storage 
location in the building has now been 
identified. 
 



       

 

32 

 

ANNEX B    Audit Approach/Methodology                

 
The audit was conducted using a variety of approaches and methodologies as 
follows: 
 
(1) Examination of LA policies and procedures. 
 
The following relevant LA policies, procedures and linked documents were 
examined before and during the audit: 
 

 Food Service Plan  

 Officer authorisation, training and qualification records 

 Enforcement Policy  

 A range of food hygiene law enforcement procedures  
 Minutes of meetings  

 
(2) File reviews – the following LA file records were reviewed during the audit:  
 

 General food premises inspection records 

 Training records 

 Approved establishment files 

 Food and food premises complaint records 

 Food sample records 

 Formal enforcement records. 
 
(3) Review of Database records: 
 

 To review and assess the completeness of database records of food 
hygiene inspections, food and food premises complaint investigations, 
samples taken by the authority, formal enforcement and other activities 
and to verify consistency with file records 

 

 To assess the completeness and accuracy of the food premises 
database  
 

(4) Officer interviews – the following officers were interviewed: 
 

 Chief  Public Protection Officer    

 Team Leader  

 Environmental Health Officer 
 

Opinions and views raised during officer interviews remain confidential and 
are not referred to directly within the report. 
 
(5) On-site verification check:  
 
A verification visit was made with an officer to a local food business. The 
purpose of the visit was to verify the outcome of the last inspection carried out 
by the LA and to assess the extent to which enforcement activities and 



       

 

33 

 

decisions met the requirements of relevant legislation, the FLCoP and official 
guidance, having particular regard to LA checks on FBO compliance with 
HACCP based food safety management systems. 
 
 
ANNEX C    Glossary                                                                                                
 
Authorised officer 
 
 
 
Broadly Compliant 
 

A suitably qualified officer who is authorised by the 
local authority to act on its behalf in, for example, 
the enforcement of legislation. 
 
An outcome measure which the Food Standard 
Agency has developed with local authorities to 
monitor the effectiveness of the regulatory service 
relating to food law. It is based on the risk rating 
scheme in the Food Law Code of Practice which is 
currently used by food law enforcement officers to 
assess premises which pose the greatest risk to 
consumers failing to comply with food law. 
 

Codes of Practice Government Codes of Practice issued under 
Section 40 of the Food Safety Act 1990 as 
guidance to local authorities on the enforcement of 
food legislation. 
 

County Council A local authority whose geographical area 
corresponds to the county and whose 
responsibilities include food standards and feeding 
stuffs enforcement. 
 

District Council 
 
 
 
E.coli O157 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
External Temporary  
Storage Facility (ETSF) 

A local authority of a smaller geographical area and 
situated within a County Council whose 
responsibilities include food hygiene enforcement. 
 
E.coli O157 belongs to the group of verotoxigenic 
E.coli (VTEC) bacteria which are a toxin-producing 
strain of Escherichia coli that occur naturally in the 
gastrointestinal tract of animals such as cattle and 
sheep, and are pathogenic to humans. E.coli O157 
is the VTEC strain that has been most commonly 
implicated in human infection in the UK. 
 
A warehouse (formerly known as an enhanced 
remote transit shed or ERTS) designated by HM 
Revenue and Customs (HMRC), where goods are 
temporarily stored pending clearance by HMRC, 
and prior to release into free circulation. 
 

Environmental Health 
Officer (EHO) 

Officer employed by the local authority to enforce 
food safety legislation. 



       

 

34 

 

 
 

Feeding stuffs Term used in legislation on feed mixes for farm 
animals and pet food. 
 

Food hygiene 
 
 
Food Hygiene Rating 
Scheme (FHRS) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Food Safety 
Management System 

The legal requirements covering the safety and 
wholesomeness of food. 
 
The Food Hygiene Rating Scheme provides 
information to the public about hygiene standards in 
catering and retail food establishments. It is run by 
local authorities in partnership with the Food 
Standards Agency.  Businesses that fall within the 
scope of the scheme are given a ‘hygiene rating’ 
which shows how closely the business was meeting 
the requirements of food hygiene law at the time of 
inspection. The scheme also encourages 
businesses to improve hygiene standards. 
 
A written permanent procedure, or procedures, 
based on HACCP principles. It is structured so that 
this requirement can be applied flexibly and 
proportionately according to the size and nature of 
the food business.  
 

Food standards The legal requirements covering the quality, 
composition, labelling, presentation and advertising 
of food, and materials in contact with food. 
 

Framework Agreement The Framework Agreement consists of: 

 Food and Feed Law Enforcement Standard 

 Service Planning Guidance 

 Monitoring Scheme 

 Audit Scheme 
 
The Standard and the Service Planning 
Guidance set out the Agency’s expectations on the 
planning and delivery of food and feed law 
enforcement.  
 
The Monitoring Scheme requires local authorities 
to submit yearly returns via LAEMS to the Agency 
on their food enforcement activities i.e. numbers of 
inspections, samples and prosecutions. 
 
Under the Audit Scheme the Food Standards 
Agency will be conducting audits of the food and 
feed law enforcement services of local authorities 
against the criteria set out in the Standard.  
 



       

 

35 

 

Full Time Equivalents 
(FTE) 

A figure which represents that part of an individual 
officer’s time available to a particular role or set of 
duties. It reflects the fact that individuals may work 
part-time, or may have other responsibilities within 
the organisation not related to food and feed 
enforcement. 
 

HACCP Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Point – a food 
safety management system used within food 
businesses to identify points in the production 
process where it is critical for food safety that the 
control measure is carried out correctly, thereby 
eliminating or reducing the hazard to a safe level.  
 

LAEMS Local Authority Enforcement Monitoring System is 
an electronic system used by local authorities to 
report their food law enforcement activities to the 
Food Standards Agency. 
 

Member forum A local authority forum at which Council Members 
discuss and make decisions on food law 
enforcement services. 
 

Metropolitan Authority A local authority normally associated with a large 
urban conurbation in which the County and District 
Council functions are combined. 

  
Risk rating 
 
 
 
 
 
Safer food, better 
business (SFBB) 

A system that rates food premises according to risk 
and determines how frequently those premises 
should be inspected. For example, high risk 
premises should be inspected at least every 6 
months. 
 
A food safety management system, developed by 
the Food Standards Agency to help small catering 
and retail businesses put in place food safety 
management procedures and comply with food 
hygiene regulations. 
 

Service Plan A document produced by a local authority setting 
out their plans on providing and delivering a food 
service to the local community. 
 

Trading Standards The Department within a local authority which 
carries out, amongst other responsibilities, the 
enforcement of food standards and feeding stuffs 
legislation. 
 

Trading Standards 
Officer (TSO) 

Officer employed by the local authority who, 
amongst other responsibilities, may enforce food 



       

 

36 

 

standards and feeding stuffs legislation. 
 

Unitary Authority A local authority in which the County and District 
Council functions are combined, examples being 
Metropolitan District/Borough Councils, and London 
Boroughs.  A Unitary Authority’s responsibilities will 
include food hygiene, food standards and feeding 
stuffs enforcement. 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



Appendix 2

FOOD & FEED
SERVICE PLAN

2015 / 2016

ECONOMY & ENVIRONMENT
Public Protection Service

Business Engagement & Compliance Team

Service Manager / Lead Officer :  Nicola Rogers
Team Leader (Food Safety): Jackie Hall

Team Leader (Food Standards and Feed): Gary Singleton



Contents  
Contents 2

1. Service Aims and Objectives 4

1.1 Aims and Objectives 4

1.2 Links to Corporate Objectives and Plans 4

2. Background 4

2.1 Profile of the Local Authority 4

2.2 Organisational Structure 5

2.3 Scope of the Food & Feed Service 6

2.4 Demands on the Food Service 7

2.4.1 Food Hygiene 8

2.4.2 Food Standards 8

2.4.3 Feed Safety 8

2.4.4 Service Delivery Points 9

2.4.5 External Factors 9

2.5 Enforcement Policy 9

2.6 Document Management 9

3. Service Delivery 9

3.1 Food and Feed Safety Premise Visits 9

3.1.1 Food Hygiene Inspections 9

3.1.2 Food Hygiene Rating Scheme 10

3.1.3 Food Standards Inspections 11

3.1.4 Feed Inspections 12

3.2 Food & Feed Safety Complaints / Requests for Service 12

3.2.1 Food Hygiene 12

3.2.2 Food Standards and Feed 13

3.3 Primary Authority 13

3.4 Advice to Business 13

3.5. Food and Feed Safety Sampling 13

3.5.1 Food Hygiene Sampling Programme: 14

3.5.2 Food Standards Sampling Programme 14

3.5.3 Feed Sampling Programme 14

3.5.4   Arrangements for analysis and examination of samples 14

3.6 Control and Investigation of Outbreaks and Food Related Infectious Disease 14

3.7 Food and Feed Safety Alerts 14



3.8 Liaison with Other Organisations 14

3.9 Food and Feed Safety Promotion 15

4. Resources 15

4.1 Financial Allocation 15

4.1.1 Food Hygiene 15

4.1.2 Food Standards 16

4.2 Staffing Allocation 16

4.3 Staff Development Plan 17

5. Quality Assessment 17

6. Performance 18

6.1 Review against the Service Plan 18

6.1.1 Food Hygiene 18

6.1.2 Food Standards 19

6.1.3 Feed 20

6.2 Identification of any variation from the Service Plan 20

6.2.1 Food Hygiene 20

6.2.2 Food Standards 20

6.2.3 Feed 20

6.3 Areas for Improvement 21

6.4 Future Challenges 21

6.4.1 Introduction of the FSA Code of Practice (2015) 21

6.4.2 Resources 21

6.4.3 Legislative 21



1. Service Aims and Objectives

1.1 Aims and Objectives

Rochdale Council’s Public Protection Service aims to:

 ensure as far as possible the safety of food produced, sold and consumed within the 
Borough;

 ensure as far as possible the safety of feed produced, sold and used within the 
Borough;

 ensure as far as possible the safety of primary food production within the Borough;

 ensure as far as possible that food and feed meets appropriate quality standards, is 
correctly labelled and described and is free from contaminants;

 identify risks to the safety of food and feed produced or sold within the Borough and to 
advise and educate food businesses and take enforcement action where appropriate;

 support and promote the Food Standards Agency’s Food Hygiene Rating Scheme;

 support funded regional working via the Food Standards Agency, the National Trading 
Standards Board and the Trading Standards North West Food and Feed Groups; and

 develop the professional qualifications, competencies and experience of Food and 
Feed Safety officers.

1.2 Links to Corporate Objectives and Plans

Activities in this Plan directly link to the four key priorities identified in the current Corporate 
Delivery Plan, ie they are intended to ensure service delivery with co-operative values and 
ethics at the heart of what we do in relation to People; Place; Prosperity; and Public Service 
Reform.

2. Background

2.1 Profile of the Local Authority

Rochdale Borough is located in the north-east region of the Greater Manchester conurbation. 
The Borough covers 62 square miles of which about two-thirds is rural. It is characterised by 
urban developments of dense housing and industrial areas located along major roadways.

The Borough is divided into four Townships based around the towns of Rochdale, Heywood 
and Middleton, together with the eastern urban area, the Pennines Township.

Full information about the profile of the Borough can be found on the Council’s website at 
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/pdf/2011-Borough-Profile.pdf

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/pdf/2011-Borough-Profile.pdf


2.2 Organisational Structure 

The organisational structure for Public Protection is currently in a state of flux as during 
2015/16 the team moves from its previous location within the Economy and Environment 
Directorate to its new home within Public Health.  

For comparative purposes, the previous structure is shown below and the proposed new 
structure is shown overleaf:



 

2.3 Scope of the Food & Feed Service

The Food Service is provided by Rochdale Council’s Public Protection Service, which is also 
responsible for a number of other service areas. The following is a list of the main 
responsibilities:

 provide a high quality food service in accordance with the FSA Framework Agreement 
(April 2010);

COUNCIL

CABINET

PORTFOLIO HOLDER OVERVIEW & 
SCRUTINY

PUBLIC HEALTH
Director of Public Health

PUBLIC PROTECTION SERVICE
Head of Public Protection

CORE FUNCTIONS
Service Manager

Lead Officer (Food Safety)
Lead Officer (Food Standards 

and Feed)

ANIMAL FEED
Oldham Trading Standards

FOOD 
STANDARDS

 
0.15 FTE

FOOD HYGIENE

3.3 FTE 

LANCASHIRE COUNTY 
SCIENTIFIC SERVICES

Public Analyst

NATIONAL TRADING 
STANDARDS BOARD

Feed Funding

HEALTH PROTECTION 
AGENCY

Food Examiner

ICT / APP 
SUPPORT

0.2 FTE

ADMIN 
SUPPORT

1 FTE

TRAINEE 
SUPPORT

0.1 FTE

INFECTIOUS 
DISEASES

0.2 FTE



 undertake programmed food safety and food standards inspections of food premises, with 
reference to the FSA Code of Practice (April 2015). Available resources are targeted at 
the higher-risk premises;

 carry out investigation of complaints regarding food premises and items of food produced 
or sold within the Borough (applying risk-based criteria);

 liaise with other local authorities in relation to businesses for which the authority acts as 
Primary Authority and providing advice to these businesses where appropriate;

 dealing with basic requests for information and advice from food businesses and 
signposting where appropriate;

 carry out food sampling to check for compliance with composition and labelling legislation. 
(This work is carried out as part of a planned programme of work funded by the Food 
Standards Agency);

 participate in the AGMA Food Liaison Group, TSNW Food & Agriculture Group and other 
regional / national agencies; and

 control and investigate outbreaks of food-related infectious disease (provided in 
conjunction with other Public Protection staff).

Feed Service delivery is co-ordinated by Rochdale Council’s Lead Officer (Feed) but the 
inspection of premises handling animal feed and sampling is carried out by Oldham Trading 
Standards.

2.4 Demands on the Food Service

The breakdown of premises liable for enforcement for all Food Safety purposes at 1st April 
2015 is as follows:

The breakdown of premises liable for enforcement for all Feed Safety purposes at 1st April 
2015 is as follows:  

Primary Producer 8
Manufacturer / Packer 31
Importer / Exporter 1
Distributor / Transporter 40
Retailers 488
Restaurants & Caterers 1278

TOTAL 1846

Placing Feed on the Market 1
Feed Ingredients / Surplus Food 8
Transport 3
Stores 10
Livestock Farms 229
Arable Farms 8
TOTAL 259



2.4.1 Food Hygiene

The breakdown of premises by risk category liable for enforcement for Food Hygiene 
purposes at 1st April 2015 is as follows:

Cat A (Highest Risk)  20
Cat B 93
Cat C 466
Cat D 726 
Cat E (Lowest risk) 502 
Unrated 39 
TOTAL 1846 

The Authority is responsible for approving premises carrying out specialist processes, which 
fall within the scope of EC Regulation 853/2004. The numbers of these premises are as 
follows:

Dairy Products 5
Meat Products 5
Minced Meat & Meat Preparations 2
Cold Stores 2
TOTAL 14

2.4.2 Food Standards 

The breakdown of premises by risk category liable for enforcement for Food Standards 
purposes at 1st April 2014 is as follows:   

High Risk (A) 7
Medium Risk (B) 271
Low Risk (C) 1518
Unrated 2
TOTAL 1798

It would normally be expected that the total numbers in paragraphs 2.4.1 and 2.4.2 above 
tallied.  Officers are analysing records with a view to determining why this discrepancy 
appears on the database.   

2.4.3 Feed Safety

The breakdown of premises by risk category liable for enforcement for Feed Hygiene and 
Standards purposes at 1st April 2014 is as follows:   

High Risk 0
Medium Risk 12
Low Risk 82
Unrated 165
TOTAL 259



2.4.4 Service Delivery Points 

The Public Protection Service is based at Number One Riverside, Floor 3, Smith Street, 
Rochdale, OL16 1XU and operates between 8.45am and 4.45pm, Monday to Friday

The service can also be contacted by telephone via the Council’s Contact Centre, the Citizens 
Advice Consumer Service, through the website ‘www.rochdale.gov.uk’ and by email. 

2.4.5 External Factors

Approximately 16.5% of Rochdale’s population are from an ethnic minority background. Those 
of Pakistani origin form the largest proportion at 8.3%, with other ethnicities such as 
Bangladeshi and Chinese making up another 4%. The most deprived 3% of areas in the 
Borough have a bigger proportion of people from minority ethnic backgrounds (up to 30%).

This part of the population has traditionally included a significant proportion of food business 
operators and this has resulted in the challenge of a larger proportion of non-compliant food 
businesses being run by ethnic minorities.

2.5 Enforcement Policy

The Council has a Public Protection Enforcement Policy 2015 which covers the requirements 
for both Food and Feed Safety enforcement. The policy was developed in accordance with 
the Regulators’ Compliance Code (2014) and the Framework Agreement on Official Feed and 
Food Controls by Local Authorities (2010).  It was formally adopted by Rochdale Council’s 
Cabinet on 29 June 2015 and will be displayed on the Council’s website. 

2.6 Document Management

Records of all Food and Feed Safety enforcement work are stored in both digital and / or 
paper format and are retained for 6 years.

3. Service Delivery

3.1 Food and Feed Safety Premise Visits

3.1.1 Food Hygiene Inspections

Food Hygiene inspections should be carried out on the basis of risk-based prioritisation, in line 
with the FSA Code of Practice. The Code sets out the frequencies at which routine food 
hygiene visits to food businesses should be made as follows:  

Category Minimum frequency

A Highest risk At least every six months
B At least every 12 months
C At least every 18 months
D At least every 24 months
E Lowest risk Alternative enforcement strategies every 36 months



Inspection programme

The number of programmed food safety visits due during 2015/16 is 1200. These are 
currently made up as follows:

Inspections 
due

Inspections and 
interventions planned 

including Public Health 
funding

Cat A (Highest risk) 20  20
Cat B 93 93
Cat C 254 254
Cat D 545 545
Cat E (Lowest risk) 396 396
Unrated 115 115
TOTAL 1423 1423

In previous years, the Section has struggled to undertake a full inspection programme in 
compliance with FSA expectations due to resource constraints.  However, the provision of 
funding from Public Health during 2015/16 will enable a full inspection programme to be 
undertaken, eradicating any historical backlog which has built up.   This is reflected in the 
table above (specifically the right hand column).  

Recurrent Public Health funding has enabled the Section to recruit a 1.0 fte qualified Food 
Safety Officer in early 2015 (which has contributed greatly to performance in 2014/15), and a 
further 1.0 fte administrative support has now been recruited from August 2015.   In addition, 
provision of additional one-off funding of £71,000 from Public Health (2015/16 only) will 
purchase a considerable number of inspections to be carried out by external consultants, as 
well as funding overtime work to update the Council’s Food policies and procedures.  Taken 
together, this funding will allow the Section to comply with the FSA Code of Practice for 
inspections and eradicate the historical backlog of inspections due which has built up over 
many years (particularly regarding lower-risk premises).    

Priority will continue to be given to the higher risk premises and where appropriate, 
inspections will also be carried out at premises subject to complaints.

Proactive Enforcement

As a result of Public Health funding, the following proactive enforcement work will be carried 
out to raise compliance in food businesses during 2015/16:

 Healthy Workplaces Project
 AGMA Healthy Catering Award Scheme in schools
 Pest Control Initiative in Takeaways 
 Reducing foodborne disease (E. Coli) within catering establishments
 Food Allergen Awareness training in Educational / Caring establishments
  ‘Love Your Takeaway’ Initiative

3.1.2 Food Hygiene Rating Scheme

The Service participates in the FSA’s Food Hygiene Rating Scheme. This involves retail and 
catering businesses being given a food hygiene rating after each full hygiene inspection. They 



are provided with a window sticker which they are asked to display at their premises. The 
results are also available through the Council’s website and as part of the Food Standards 
Agency national scheme.

The ratings allow consumers to make informed decisions about where they may wish to eat or 
purchase food and will help to improve hygiene standards by publicising information about 
individual businesses. The ratings are as follows:

0 (Lowest) Urgent Improvement Needed
1 Major Improvement Needed
2 Improvement Needed
3 Generally Satisfactory
4 Good
5 (Highest) Very Good

As of the 1st April 2015, there were 204 food businesses with a rating of 0-2 (non-compliant). 
As such, a Performance Indicator for the Public Protection Service in 2014/2015 is to reduce 
this number by 25%.  This performance indicator was surpassed, with 49% of non-compliant 
premises being inspected in 2014/2015 and moved into compliance as a result.

3.1.3 Food Standards Inspections

Food Standards inspections should be carried out on the basis of risk-based prioritisation, in 
line with the FSA Code of Practice. The Code sets out the frequencies at which routine food 
standards visits to food businesses should be made as follows:

Category Minimum frequency

A Highest risk At least every 12 months
B At least every 24 months
C Lowest risk Alternative enforcement strategies every 60 months

Inspection programme

The number of programmed Food Standards visits due during 2015/2016 is 1655.  These are 
made up as follows:

Inspections due Inspections 
planned

A (Highest risk) 7 7
B 176 120*
C (Lowest risk) 1486 0
Unrated 0

*this figure includes 100 inspections funded by Public Health. 

This programme of inspections will make substantial inroads into the backlog which was the 
subject of concern by the FSA during March 2015.   

Priority will continue to be given to the higher risk premises and where appropriate, 
inspections will also be carried out at premises subject to complaints.



3.1.4 Feed Inspections

In 2013, the Food Standards Agency committed funding to the delivery of animal feed 
enforcement work via the National Trading Standards Board. Subsequently in 2015/2016 
funding has been provided through Trading Standards North West for 16 Feed Inspections to 
be carried out in Rochdale.

 Inspections
Alternative Enforcement 

Strategies
Manufacturer (A1-A8/R1-
R4/R6/A11) 1
Co Product Producer - R12 3
Mobile Mixer - R4
Importers
Stores - R9 2
Distributor (A1-A8/R1-R3/R5/A11)
Transporter - R8 1
On Farm Mixer - R10 and R11 1
Supplier of Surplus Food - R7 3
Livestock farms - R13 5 9
Arable Farms – R14 1
Total: 16 10

In respect of samples Rochdale has committed to 3 samples to be analysed for DON and 
ZON.

As none of the qualified officers in this Service have the required competencies and Continual 
Professional Development, in 2015/16 this work will continue to be carried out on our behalf 
by Oldham Trading Standards.

3.2 Food & Feed Safety Complaints / Requests for Service

3.2.1 Food Hygiene

Complaints and requests for service in respect of food and the hygiene of food premises are 
dealt with in line with documented procedures.  All complaints received are assessed by the 
Team Leader (Food), with the level of investigation / action being determined based on the 
risk to public health arising from the complaint.

We will continue to prioritise the most serious complaints and selection criteria have been 
developed to determine which complaints will take priority.

Approximately 450 complaints and service requests are expected to be dealt with in 2015/16.   

All requests for ‘Health Certificates’ are dealt with to enable local businesses to export food. A 
charge is made for this work. Approximately 100 such requests are expected to be dealt with 
in 2015/16.



3.2.2 Food Standards and Feed

All food standards complaints are recorded and assessed for further action in line with 
documented procedures. The possible actions which are available, are included in the 
Enforcement Policy and are determined by the Team Leader (Commercial Practices) in 
consultation with the Lead Officer.

The Service expects to receive approximately 40 complaints and requests for trader advice 
per annum relating to food standards and feeding stuffs. From 1 April 2012 the service 
previously provided by Consumer Direct was transferred to the Citizens Advice Bureau.

3.3 Primary Authority 

The aim of the Primary Authority Principle is to increase communication between local 
authorities dealing with businesses, which have multiple premises located in different parts of 
the country. It is a legal requirement that regulatory services comply with the Primary Authority 
Principle. The benefits of the Principle are as follows:

 greater enforcement consistency;
 increased efficiency and reduced enforcement duplication;
 preventative enforcement through advice on compliance;
 resolution of conflicts between different authorities and between authorities and 

businesses;
 better understanding and awareness of commercial issues;
 increased understanding of local businesses; and
 enhanced technical and audit expertise.

3.4 Advice to Business

The service will continue to provide basic assistance to business, to help them to comply with 
the requirements of legislation and improve compliance.  This will primarily take place during 
routine inspections, complaint investigations and by signposting to extensive online guidance.

All written documentation clearly differentiates between legal requirements and 
recommendations for business improvements.

As a result of Public Health funding, the following proactive work will incorporate business 
advice during 2015/16:   

 Healthy Workplaces Project
 AGMA Healthy Catering Award Scheme
 Pest Control Initiative in Takeaways
 Reducing foodborne disease (E. Coli) within catering establishments
 Food Allergen Awareness training in Educational / Caring establishments, and
 ‘Love Your Takeaway’ Initiative

3.5. Food and Feed Safety Sampling

The Food Standards Agency Framework agreement requires local authorities to develop a 
sampling programme which should include the following:

 samples submitted following a complaint;



 samples taken as part of an investigation of a suspected food poisoning outbreak; and
 routine sampling, to assess the safety of particular foods.

3.5.1 Food Hygiene Sampling Programme:

Without FSA funding for food hygiene samples this year, priority will be given to samples from 
non-compliant businesses and those required during outbreak investigations.  It is anticipated 
50 samples will be taken in 2015/16.

3.5.2 Food Standards Sampling Programme

For several years the Food Standards Agency has committed funding to food standards 
sampling work via bids from regional food groups. Subsequently in 2015/2016 funding has 
been provided through Trading Standards North West for 15 food standards samples to be 
taken in Rochdale. 

3.5.3 Feed Sampling Programme

Since 2013, the Food Standards Agency has committed funding to feed sampling work via the 
National Trading Standards Board. Subsequently in 2015/2016 funding has been provided 
through Trading Standards North West for 3 feed samples to be taken in Rochdale. 

3.5.4   Arrangements for analysis and examination of samples

The authority’s Public Analyst is Lancashire County Scientific Services.

The Food Examiner who carries out microbiological analysis of food samples is the Health 
Protection Agency (Preston Laboratory).

3.6 Control and Investigation of Outbreaks and Food Related Infectious Disease

The Council liaises with a Consultant in Communicable Disease Control (CCDC) from the 
Greater Manchester Health Protection Unit in all matters relating to the control and 
investigation of food related infectious disease. When required the CCDC heads the Outbreak 
Control Team, which is convened in accordance with criteria laid down in the Infectious 
Disease Outbreak and Control Plan, and includes representatives from the Council.

The investigation of suspected outbreaks is carried out in conjunction with the Public 
Protection Service Communities Team.

3.7 Food and Feed Safety Alerts

Food Alerts are issued by the Food Standards Agency to advise local authorities and 
consumers of foods which may not comply with food safety standards. These are dealt with in 
line with documented procedures, which comply with the guidance provided in the FSA Code 
of Practice ensuring that all food alerts ‘For Action’ are dealt with.

3.8 Liaison with Other Organisations

The Public Protection Service is committed to being involved in liaison with other local 
authorities, and associated organisations, to achieve consistency and to maintain our level of 
knowledge and understanding in a rapidly changing area of work. This is done by being 
actively involved in a number of Groups, including:

 AGMA Food Liaison Group;



 AGMA Public Protection Partnership;
 Greater Manchester Health Protection Unit;
 Public Health England;
 Trading Standards North West Food & Agriculture Group;
 Trading Standards North West Feed Group; and
 The Partnership Enforcement Team.

We also have consultation arrangements with other service providers within the Council in 
respect of:

 applications for planning approval;
 Building Regulations approval; and
 applications under the Licensing Act 2003.

3.9 Food and Feed Safety Promotion

In addition to the advisory activities carried out to support food businesses set out above, 
work is continuing to increase awareness of the importance of food safety and healthy eating 
amongst consumers. This includes the promotion of the Food Hygiene Rating Scheme, 
AGMA Healthy Catering Award and FSA seasonal campaigns.  The Service delivers the 
Healthier Chip Shop Project funded by Public Health to reduce trans-fats and offer choices 
regarding portion size and steamed fish. The Healthy Workplace Project also funded by Public 
Health also includes food safety tips and practical hand washing techniques with the UV hand 
wash station.  Events organised by Link4Life are also supported, and information on allergens 
has been sent out to 650 local businesses by mailshot.

4. Resources 

4.1 Financial Allocation

The Food Hygiene and Food Standards teams have previously been part of separate teams 
within the Public Protection Service, but from June 2015 are both part of the same section 
(covering Core functions).  However, Food Safety work is not carried out in isolation. As such, 
figures for financial resources are based on the staffing levels identified in section 4.2 below.

4.1.1 Food Hygiene

The following is an estimate of the appropriate financial allocation for Food Hygiene officers’ 
workload (2015/16):



Food Hygiene

Expenditure
Employee Costs 126,410       
Other running costs 10,000          
Externally Contracted Inspections 65,000          
TOTAL 201,410       

Income
Public Health Funding 90,000          
TOTAL 90,000          

NET 111,410       

4.1.2 Food Standards

The following is an estimate of the appropriate financial allocation for Food Standards 
officer’s workload:

Food Standards

Expenditure
Employee Costs 20,938          
Other running costs 1,000            
Externally Contracted Inspections 6,000            
TOTAL 27,938          

Income
Public Health Funding 13,000          
TOTAL 13,000          

NET 14,938          

4.2 Staffing Allocation

The Food Hygiene, Food Standards and Feed functions are co-ordinated by the Lead Officer 
(Food) and Lead Officer (Feed) in the Public Protection Service.  The Service also carries out 
a wide range of associated functions including Health and Safety, Commercial Practices, 
Animal Health, Private Water Supplies, Air Quality and Environmental Permitting.

The officers involved in providing Food Hygiene and Food Standards work are legally 
qualified, have the appropriate experience and competencies, have knowledge of the 
Borough’s food business environment and receive at least 20 hours Continuing Professional 
Development per annum, as required by the FSA’s Code of Practice. They consist of:



Service Manager: (Core) (NR) Lead Officer (Food), Lead Officer (Feed) 
and responsible for a wide range of other 
regulatory functions.
10% of her time spent on Food and Feed

Team Leader: Food Hygiene (JH) 80% of time spent on Food Hygiene work
Team Leader: Health & Safety / ICT (GPF) 20% of time spent on Food Safety work
Team Leader: Commercial Practices (GS) 15% of time spent on Food Standards work
2.5 FTE Senior Public Protection Officers 
(DM, GW, GS)

80% of time spent on Food Hygiene work

1 FTE Trainee Public Protection Officer (PM) 10% of time spent on Food Safety work
1 FTE Team Leader (G8) (LB)
1 FTE Senior Officer (G7) (SA)

10% of each officer’s time spent on 
Infectious disease investigations by 
Communities Team

1 FTE Admin Officer (MP) 100% of time on Food Safety work from 27 
July 2015

Feed Safety work is provided by appropriately qualified officers from Oldham’s Trading 
Standards Service.

4.3 Staff Development Plan

The training and development of staff is essential to ensure that officers are able to carry out 
their duties effectively. Each year, officers are asked to identify their needs as far as training is 
concerned during Performance and Development Reviews. Managers then assess these 
against the needs of the service in order to ensure that the appropriate 20 hours of Continuing 
Professional Development training are attained.

Training for staff is provided in a number of ways:

 induction training for new members of staff;
 courses provided by the Council’s Communications Team & Virtual College;
 training provided by the FSA through the AGMA Food Liaison Group and TSNW Food 

and Feed Groups;
 courses and seminars provided by external organisations;
 in-house training including team meetings and instruction provided on-the-job and on a 

one-to-one basis; and
 Regional team meetings ie AGMA Food Group.

Officers attending external courses and seminars as appropriate are expected to give a 
presentation to the rest of the team. This can range from a simple overview of the event to a 
more formal presentation providing considerable detail; including copies of hand-outs, etc.

5. Quality Assessment

Documented procedures have been developed to verify conformance with the FSA 
Framework Agreement, relevant legislation, codes of practice, documented policies and 
procedures. These include:

 monitoring of officers work by the Service Manager and Team Leaders;
 Performance Indicators;
 team meetings;



 accompanied inspections;
 one-to-one meetings with officers;
 identification of training needs;
 review of documents; and
 review of complaints against the service.

6. Performance

6.1 Review against the Service Plan

The Service Manager and Team Leaders monitor and review performance against the Service 
Action Plan at monthly 1-2-1 meetings; team meetings (every 6 weeks); and on an annual 
basis. 

In addition, a full annual review is carried out at the end of March each year for the LAEMS 
return, identifying any variances and presenting an improvement plan which sets out any 
necessary improvements, service developments and challenges.

Performance for the year 2014/15 was as follows:

6.1.1 Food Hygiene

Inspections
Risk Rating

Due Done Outstanding

A (Highest Risk) 21 21 0 

B 102 102 0

C 607 430 177

D 540 53 487

E (Lowest Risk) 397 7 390

Unrated 96 96 0 

Risk Rating Broadly Compliant Premises

A (Highest Risk) 0 

B 40

C 405

D 721

E (Lowest Risk) 499



Enforcement Actions Premises Number

Voluntary Closure 13

Improvement Notice 12

Advisory Notice 627

Samples Satisfactory Unsatisfactory

36 24 12

Complaints Number

Food 336

Hygiene of Premises 120

6.1.2 Food Standards          

Inspections
Risk Rating

Due Done Outstanding
High (A) 5 4 1

Med (B) 174 75 99

Low (C) 1823 32 1791

Unrated 1 1 0

Risk Rating Broadly Compliant Premises

High (A) 4

Med (B) 229

Low (C) 1670

Enforcement Actions Number

Advisory Notice 69



Samples Satisfactory Unsatisfactory

25 19 6

Complaints Number

Food 34

6.1.3 Feed

Category Inspections
Alternative 

Enforcement 
Strategies

R5 (Placing on the Market) 1 0

R7 (Manufacture) 0 1

R8 (Transporter) 0 0

R9       (Storage of feed and feed products) 2 0

R10 (On Farm Mixer) 0 0

R12 (Co Products) 0 0

R13 (Livestock) 33 14

R14     (Arable farms) 1 1

Totals: 37 16

6.2 Identification of any variation from the Service Plan

6.2.1 Food Hygiene

All of the planned visits to Category A premises were completed. 

All of the planned visits to Category B premises were completed.

A total of 586 visits were carried out at premises of category C-E or unrated, of which 532 
were carried out by external contractors.  This was possible due to the provision of Public 
Health funding.  

6.2.2 Food Standards 

4 out of the 5 planned visits to High Risk premises were carried out.



75 targeted inspections to lower risk premises and unrated food businesses were carried out 
by external contractors because of Public Health funding for the delivery of the Healthy 
Workplaces project.  A further 71 visits were attempted but resulted in no inspection (eg 
closed down, nobody present, change of use). 

6.2.3 Feed
In 2014/2015 funding was provided through Trading Standards North West for 37 Feed 
Inspections to be carried out in Rochdale.  All 37 of the funded feed visits were carried out, 
with a number of Alternative Enforcement Strategies (eg written questionnaires where 
premises are considered a lower risk) being undertaken.  All work was carried out on this 
Council’s behalf by suitably-qualified colleagues from Oldham Council. 

6.3 Areas for Improvement

It is acknowledged that the Public Protection Service was not compliant with the requirements 
of the FSA’s Code of Practice during 2014/15 in relation to the frequency of inspection of low 
risk food and feed businesses. This was due to the challenges brought about by Public Sector 
Reform and reduced local government funding.

As such, priority has rightly been given to tackling the highest risk, non-compliant, problem 
food and feed premises that continued to cause consumer and economic detriment to the 
Borough.

However, as previously stated the welcome additional funding received from Public Health for 
2015/16 will be used to virtually eradicate the long-standing backlog of inspections.  This will 
be achieved through the appointment of 1.0 fte qualified food safety officer and 1.0 fte admin 
support, as well as the buying-in of additional inspections to be undertaken by external 
consultants.  This will bring the Service into broad compliance with FSA expectations. 

6.4 Future Challenges

Horizon scanning has identified the following challenges to effective, compliant Food Safety 
and Feed Safety service delivery for 2015/16 and in the near future:

6.4.1 Introduction of the FSA Code of Practice (2015)

 changes to Food Standards Risk Ratings will significantly increase the number of high 
and medium risk premises;

 clarification of Lead Officer qualifications requiring suitable qualifications, experience, 
competencies, operational and management responsibility and technical 
understanding of the food / feed production processes in the Authority; and

 requirement of 20 hrs CPD training for food officers.

6.4.2 Resources

 risk posed by further possible efficiency savings and consequent loss of officer 
expertise;

 possible withdrawal of Public Health Funding;
 possible withdrawal of Food Standards Agency funding for food sampling and feed 

inspections;
 increased number of non-compliant businesses due to increased number of 

inspections;
 delayed appointment and training of appropriately qualified officers; and
 access to appropriate and up-to-date ICT equipment and premise database.



6.4.3 Legislative

 introduction of the Food Information Regulations 2014;
 Allergen labelling requirement (December 2014) for all food; prepacked and non-

prepacked;
 revised Feed Law Code of Practice (2015);
 amendment to the Food Law Code of Practice (2015) implementing requirement to 

ensure qualified officers have 20 hours continuing Professional Development per 
annum.



1

APPENDIX 

Equality Impact Assessment

 

What are you assessing?  Please tick the appropriate box below.

Function Strategy Policy Project Other, please specify below

x

Service:

Economy and Environment

Section: 

Public Protection

Responsible Officer:

Andy Glover

Nicola Rogers

Name of function/strategy/ policy/ project assessed:

Food and Feed Service Plan 2015/16

Date of Assessment:

14 September 2015

Officers Involved:

A Glover

N Rogers

1.What is the purpose of the function/strategy/policy/project assessed?

(Briefly describe the aims, objectives and purpose of the function/strategy/policy/project)

The local authority has a statutory duty to enforce Food legislation, relating to both Food Hygiene 
(cleanliness and suitability of the environment in which food is produced) and Food Standards (labelling and 
composition of food products).  All Food Authorities are monitored on their performance by the Food 



2

Standards Agency, to whom annual returns of inspection and other intervention activity must be made.

The Food and Feed Service Plan for 2015/16 sets out how the authority has performed in 2014/15; its plans 
for 2015/16; and any issues identified for 2016/17.  

2.Who are the key stakeholders?

Food producers and retailers in the Borough

Residents of the Borough, and visitors to the Borough who may visit local food premises, or anyone who consumes 
food labelled in the Borough

Elected members

Authorised officers engaged in Food enforcement activity 

3. What is the scope of this equality impact assessment? That is, what is included in this 
assessment.  

This EIA relates to the enforcement activity undertaken or to be undertaken in relation to food, as set out in the 
Council’s Food and Feed Service Plan 2015/16.

4.Which needs is this function/strategy/ policy/ project designed to meet?

The needs of:

 the Council in its role as Food Authority, being statutorily obliged to undertake a programme of inspections 
and other interventions relating to food premises in the Borough;

 the Council’s authorised officers, bearing in mind their limited resource; 
 food premises, who will benefit from an inspection regime which will bring them into contact with the 

Council’s authorised staff and who will benefit from this engagement; and
 local residents (and visitors to the Borough) who experience food produced or labelled within the Borough.   

5.Has a needs analysis been undertaken?

As a Food Authority, the Council is obliged to review its performance relating to food on an annual basis.  The Service 
Plan represents this review process.

6.Who is affected by this function/strategy/ policy/ project?

The following are impacted by the Service Plan under consideration:

 the Council in its role as Food Authority, being statutorily obliged to undertake a programme of inspections 
and other interventions relating to food premises in the Borough;



3

 the Council’s authorised officers, bearing in mind their limited resource; 
 food premises, who will benefit from an inspection regime which will bring them into contact with the 

Council’s authorised staff and who will benefit from this engagement; and
 local residents (and visitors to the Borough) who experience food produced or labelled within the Borough.     

7.Who has been involved in the review or development of this function/strategy/ policy/ project and 
who has been consulted?  State your consultation/involvement methodology.

Council staff involved in food related enforcement activity

Chief Public Protection Officer

Executive Director (Economy and Environment) 

Portfolio Holder

Food Standards Agency (via its audit of the level of service provided by the authority conducted in March 2015)  

8.What data have you considered for this assessment and have any gaps in the data been identified.  
What action will be taken to close any data gaps?

The Council retains a comprehensive database on which details of all inspections / interventions are 
recorded.  The system identifies all known local premises on the basis of risk, and thereby enables a 
comprehensive risk-based inspection programme to be identified for the subsequent municipal year.  This 
data is at the heart of the proposed Service Plan.  At this moment it is not known precisely how many food 
premises are managed by persons from particular ethnic groups, although it is suspected that certain types 
of food business (eg takeaways) are run by and tend to members of the BME communities.  It is further 
suspected – although no firm evidence has yet been gathered – that such premises will tend to be not 
classed as “broadly compliant” (this being in essence the minimum acceptable standard for a food 
business).  In addition, it is true that premises such as takeaways have attracted the attention of the 
authorities in relation to CSE activity.   

9.Are there any other documents or strategies which are linked to this assessment? If so, please 
include hyperlinks to these documents below, where available.

N/a

10.What impact will this function/strategy/policy/project have on all the protected groups?  This 
includes both positive and potentially negative impacts.

Race Equality 

In relation to Rochdale Borough, the 2011 Census confirms the following data on ethnicity.  The overall 
population of Rochdale Borough is 211, 699.  Of these, 166, 481 are classified as white British (79%); and 
45,218 (21%) as BME.    BME groups now account for a greater proportion of the population than was the 
case in 2001.  Pakistani is the largest population among the BME groups and now accounts for 10.5% 



4

(22,265) of the total population in 2011, having grown by over 40% over the past decade.  

Given this ethnic diversity, it is apparent that many of the Borough’s food premises (particularly restaurants 
and takeaways) will be owned by persons from particular ethnic groups.  As stated above, officers perceive 
that such premises may form a significant number of the premises classed as falling below the accepted 
minimum standard of broad compliance.  This may well imply the need for greater efforts to be made to 
support these businesses through not only the inspection regime but also focused training events, literature 
in community languages, engagement through officers of a BME background etc.     

Disabled People

The issue of disability is not believed to have a significant impact on the safe provision of food within the 
Borough. 

Carers

Compliant food labelling will assist carers of people with significant health needs, food allergies or food 
intolerances in making informed choices about food and food composition. .

Gender

The issue of gender is not believed to have a significant impact on the safe provision of food within the 
Borough. 

Age

Older and younger people are known to have different dietary requirements usually requiring more fat 
content within their diet. Appropriate and compliant labelling of food will enable people and their carers to 
make informed choices about food composition. 

In relation to CSE (where takeaways have featured in the grooming of young people), and food officers may 
have a “disruptive” role to play in premises suspected of such activity.

Armed Forces and Ex-Armed Forces Personnel

The issue of military / civilian status is not believed to have a significant impact on the safe provision of food 
within the Borough. 

Sexual Orientation

The issue of sexual orientation is not believed to have a significant impact on the safe provision of food 
within the Borough. 

Gender Reassignment

The issue of gender reassignment is not believed to have a significant impact on the safe provision of food 
within the Borough. 

Religion or Belief

Religion / belief is relevant to the provision of food in the Borough in that some premises sell halal or kosher 



5

product, and would therefore be subject to specific labelling requirements as appropriate.

Pregnant Women or Those on Maternity Leave

Pregnant women should avoid certain types of food especially raw eggs, soft cheeses and cured meats. 
Appropriate and compliant food labelling will enable pregnant women to make informed food choices to 
protect their health and the health of their unborn child.

Marriage or Civil Partnership

The issue of marital status is not believed to have a significant impact on the safe provision of food within 
the Borough. 

11.What are your main conclusions from this analysis?

There is a clear need for a piece of research to be undertaken to establish the correlation (if any) between 
ethnicity and compliance with food legislation, with appropriate focused interventions to be developed as a 
result.

12.What are your recommendations?

That the research identified above should be undertaken. 

13.What actions are you going to take to address the findings of this assessment?  Please attach an 
action plan including details of designated officers responsible for completing these actions.

Signed (Completing Officer):___________________ Date:_____________

Signed (Head of Service): ____________________ Date:_____________



6

Equality Impact Assessment Action Plan 2014/15

Action Outcome Target Date For 
Completion

Resource 
Implications

Lead Officer

Mapping exercise to explore 
whether a disproportionate number 
of food premises managed by BME 
community members are falling 
below the minimum accepted legal 
standard of broad compliance. 

Greater understanding, enabling 
officers to devise a focused 
intervention programme and 
thereby raise standards of food 
provision in the Borough 

December 2015 This will need to be the subject of a 
preliminary scoping exercise, to be 
completed by November 2015.  
Additional officer resource may be 
needed to verify the ethnicity of 
premises owners and then use ICT 
to map this against risk / 
compliance.   

A Glover / N Rogers



Subject: ROCHDALE DEVELOPMENT 
AGENCY, QUARTER 2 2015/16 
PERFORMANCE MONITORING REPORT

Status:  Publication

Report to: Communities, Regeneration and 
Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Cabinet Member: Leader of the Council (and 
Lead for Regeneration)

Date: 29th October 2015
 

Report of: Director of Neighbourhoods

Author Email:    susan.ayres@rochdale.gov.uk

Author: Susan Ayres

Tel: 01706 925636

1 Purpose of Report

1.1 To provide Members with performance information on the activities of Rochdale
 Development Agency (RDA), undertaken on behalf of the Council.

2 Recommendations

2.1 The performance information of the RDA for Quarter 2 (2015/16) is presented to       
Members for scrutiny.

Reason for recommendation

2.2  To ensure that Members undertake their partnership governance responsibilities        
fully by scrutinising the performance of the RDA.

3 Background

3.1 The RDA is a strategic partner for the Council and has responsibility for
delivering the borough’s ambitions for physical and economic regeneration, including
the retention and creation of local employment.

3.2 The RDA’s Business Plan for 2015/16 has 5 strategic objectives:
 Accelerating Business Growth
 Promoting Economic and Employment Growth
 Developing the infrastructure and connectivity necessary for sustainable 

economic growth
 Transforming our Town Centres
 Investing in our Heritage Assets


3.3 The RDA Business Plan is underpinned by a Grant Funding Agreement 
between the Council and the RDA that details the core and specific purpose 
funding for 2015/16.



Alternatives considered

3.4 No alternatives have been considered. The alternative of not reporting on the
performance of the RDA to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee would create a risk
that the Council does not carry out its partnership governance responsibilities fully.

4. Performance Monitoring

4.1   An executive summary of progress over Quarter 2 has been prepared for the 
RDA Board and is provided here as an overview of physical and economic 
regeneration and investment in the borough. The RDA’s role in each of the projects 
and activities varies from leading and managing projects such as with Kingsway 
Business Park, to supporting the Council or the private sector with their own projects.

4.2  Significant progress has been made on some of the RDA KPI’s (cumulative 
figures unless stated):

 50 companies (annual target of 60) have been assisted to date with 
growth plans with support from the two Greater Manchester Business 
Growth Hub advisors,

 There remains a healthy number of enquiries (115 out of target of 200), 
with 49 from inward investors and there continues to be 91 live enquiries,

 Company referrals to partners have again been strong this quarter with 60 
to date, thus exceeding the annual target of 50,

 46 companies have relocated to the Borough without assistance from the 
RDA – this is a key activity indicator which shows a continuing high 
degree of interest in the Borough.

4.3 The Kingsway development is still gaining momentum:
 WCCTV are nearing completion of their development,
 The Plot H (216,000sqft) speculative development has fully commenced 

on site,
 David Wilson Homes have now sold 109 houses with a further 22 

committed,
 A planning application has been received for the speculative development 

on Plot K.
     
      4.4  On other sites, positive progress is being made:

 Speculative development interest remains strong in the borough (in 
addition to the Kingsway spec developments ) with 95,000sqft on 
Hareshill, 145,000sqft and 67,000sqft on Heywood Distribution Park - all 
commenced and due to complete in early 2016

 The 70,000sqft speculative development on Crown Business Park is now 
occupied by Robert Scott (distributor for Retail Cleaning Products) with an 
option for additional 30,000 sq ft expansion, if required. 

 Investor and developer interest is still growing, but available sites are now 
becoming constrained or tied up by other developers.

 PIN Properties have gained planning permission for the major 
refurbishment of the former Woolworths, Castleton unit and works have 
begun speculatively.

 In Rochdale Town Centre seven retail/leisure units have been let utilising 
the business rates relief scheme, making 12 in total. This has reduced the 
overall vacancy rate in the pilot area from 27% to 11% and there was 
some very positive national press through the Daily Telegraph.

 Practical completion has now been achieved on the Wheatsheaf entrance 
works,



 Genr8 are continuing to finalise legal agreements with the three anchors 
for Town Centre East and press release is expected soon.

 The planning application for the phase 1 works to Warwick Mill has been 
received and an investor’s event is planned for October.

 Planning permission has been granted for a retail unit extension and short 
stay car park at Middleton Shopping Centre.

 An acceptable offer has been received by the Council’s Estate Team for 
the Mossfield School site, with proposals for a retail and leisure 
development linking into the Morrison’s car park.

4.5 In addition to the Executive Summary, an analysis of the RAG (Red, Amber, 
Green) performance rating for individual elements of the Business Plan shows 
a small number of activities or projects experiencing some delays or have 
issues preventing satisfactory performance. The full report is Appendix 1 to 
this report.  A summary of these activities are listed below:

 Royle Works, Castleton: the redevelopment of the site is subject to the 
timescales of the owners. Offers of assistance have been made to the owners 
but currently it is not known when the redevelopment will start. 

 Castleton Railway Sidings: we are awaiting proposals from the private sector 
landowner’s agent for a revised residential scheme which will inform how 
much land remains for business use. The business interested in locating there 
has found temporary accommodation in Heywood until the development plans 
for this site are more certain.

 Lincoln Close/Station Gateway: this is a complex regeneration scheme which 
relies on the development of a key site. Part of the funding for this will come 
from the private sector and it is hoped that a Government Export Grant will 
also contribute. Delays in the approval of the latter is impacting on the wider 
regeneration area

 Telegraph House, Rochdale Town Centre: Terms have been agreed with 
Trillium and Council solicitors are awaiting the return of signed legal 
agreements. This is delaying the relocation of the tenant and the subsequent 
demolition of Telegraph House.

Wherever possible the RDA and the Council are supporting the private sector 
to progress these projects, be it by prioritising planning advice, seeking 
determinations of grant applications or acting as facilitator between the 
various interests.

5 Financial Implications

5.1 There are no direct financial implications as a result of this report.

6  Legal Implications

6.1 The recommendations within this report will result in a due diligence exercise. 
Members should be fully aware of the activities that the RDA performs on 
behalf of the Council in delivering the Council’s corporate priorities.

7 Personnel Implications

7.1 There are no personnel implications arising from this report.



8 Corporate Priorities

8.1  The functions undertaken by the RDA on behalf of the Council contribute to the 
Place and Prosperity elements of the Corporate Plan by improving the infrastructure, 
creating the physical conditions for growth and supporting the creation of new jobs. 
The activities also support the Council in the local contribution to the Greater 
Manchester Growth Plan.

9. Risk Assessment Implications 

9.1  There are no specific risks for members to consider arising from this report.

9.2 The RDA finances are independently audited and reviewed by the RDA Board, 
and copies are made available to the Council, along with a risk schedule produced by 
the RDA.

9,3 All delivery risks are assessed at the programme or project level and reported to 
members as appropriate.

10. Equalities Impacts

10.1 Workforce Equality Impacts Assessment

There are no (significant) workforce equality issues arising from this report.

10.2 Equality/Community Impact Assessments

There are no (significant) equality/community issues arising from this report.

Background Papers
Document Place of Inspection



Rochdale Development Agency
Update Report 
Quarter 2: July 2015 – September 2015  

BUSINESS PLAN OBJECTIVE  SO1 – ACCELERATING BUSINESS GROWTH 

Key 
Priority 

No
Target/Action Lead Timing Progress •••

To improve the productivity & competitiveness of local companies through targeted business support

1.1 Assistance to Local Businesses
 Continue to deliver quarterly networking 

events with the Chief Executive and/or the 
Leader

 Issue monthly business newsletter to share 
information

 Assist local businesses to relocate/expand 
within the borough – annual target of 18

CH

CH

CH

Quarterly

Monthly

Quarterly

 July breakfast cancelled due to low numbers – impact of school holidays.

 Continue to issue monthly newsletter using MailChimp.

 11 businesses assisted in year to date, with 7 in Q2.



1.2 Working with the Business Growth Hub 
 Attend 2 Team Rochdale meetings a year to 

share knowledge and information about 
business activity

 Hub Advisor to attend monthly RDA Business 
& Investment Team meetings

 Assist company with production of growth 
plans – annual target of 60

CH

Advisor

Sep15, Mar 
16

Monthly

 Continue to develop Team Rochdale approach to all business support on offer. 
Meeting held in May with 20 staff.

 50 growth plans completed by the Growth Hub advisors in year to date (Q2 17) 
offering support on a range of issues around growth plans and grant applications 
where appropriate.



1.3 Support businesses with external finance packages, 
in particular national and regional grants/loans

 Monitor grant applications, collating 
information about investment levels and job 
outcomes in line with the KPIs

CH Quarterly  Spreadsheet completed on an ongoing basis with info regarding successful and 
pipeline bids.  •

1.4 Property Information and Advice
 Provide bespoke property information based 

on client needs – annual target of 200 
property enquiries handled

 Support clients by attending meetings with 
premises owners and/or agents

CH Quarterly  115 property enquiries received in year to date (Q2 62).

 Continue to work with 91 live enquiries.



1.5 Public Relations and Media
 Offer PR assistance, including writing of 

articles and circulation to local media outlets
CH Monthly  Press releases issued in conjunction with companies where appropriate. 

1.6 Promote and support local supply chain opportunities 
 Work with STaR to deliver one networking 

meeting a year with procurement as the main 
theme

 Support the Oldham & Rochdale Construction 

CH

CH

Annually

Quarterly

 Construction meeting took place in September with support from Gleeson Homes 
and the STaR team. 

 Attended meeting and support steering group by collating information on 





1

Network by arranging speakers with supply 
chain opportunities

 Encourage local developers to bring their own 
projects to the network, helping them meet 
some of their local economic benefit targets

 Support the Scout Moor Wind Farm Meet the 
Buyer event in May

CH

CH

Monthly

    May 15

forthcoming projects.

 Contact made with Gleesons regarding Hill Top School site. Attended September 
meeting.

 Attended the event and made contact with Turleys, consultants leading on the 
scheme.

To provide a high quality and bespoke investor support service for incoming firms

1.7 Property Information and Advice tailored to investor 
clients   

 Provide bespoke property information based 
on client needs - annual target of 200 
property enquiries handled (both inward 
investors and existing businesses)

 Support clients by attending meetings with 
premises owners and/or agents

 Successful inward investment projects – 
annual target of 7

CH

CH

Ongoing  Investment pack already in use.

 Total of 115 enquiries received to date, with 49 of these from inward investors.

 8 companies relocated in year to date (Q2 6).



•
1.8 Public Relations and Media

 Offer PR assistance, including writing of 
articles and circulation to local media outlets

CH Monthly  Press releases issued in conjunction with companies where appropriate. 

To promote the attractions of the borough for new development and pro-actively engage with prospective investors, especially within the target sectors

1.9 Working with Property agents
 Work with Insider or Place North West to 

deliver a developer forum
 Deliver/support two agents briefing events to 

develop awareness and relationships

CH

CH

Dec 15

Twice yearly
 Proposals received but still being considered – will now be in 2016. 

1.10 Working with the Property Media
 Work with the Business Desk on a Kingsway 

promotion
 Share all press releases with the regional 

media
 Attend the Insider Business of Property 

Conference

CH

CH

        DC

Jun 15

Ongoing

 Kingsway featured in every email bulletin from the Business Desk during June.

 All press releases shared with regional and specialist media.

 2 staff attended the Insider Conference in May.

•

1.11 Focussed Marketing
 Advertising Kingsway on Business Desk 

website and daily bulletin
 Develop targeted marketing campaign for 

growth sectors

CH

CH

Jun 15

Jul 15

 Complete – increase in June of around 25% of visits.

 Initial work undertaken.



1.12 Social media communication
 Undertake staff training for social media in the 

workplace
 Develop strategy for public and business 

facing social media including mobile 
websites, Twitter and LinkedIn

CH

CH

Sep 15

Oct 15

 Linkedln training taken place with 5 staff – additional training due in October.

 Link strategy work to training and develop plan after delivery.



To support local employment, recruitment & skills development activities at the borough levels

1.13 Helping existing employers through advice and 



2

referrals
 annual target of 50 referrals to partner 

support agencies
CH Quarterly  Total of 60 referrals made in year to date (Q2 21) – many companies referred to 

more than one partner. These include MAS, UKTI, A2F and Growth Hub. 
1.14 Supporting agencies that recruit Rochdale residents 

 Ensure new job opportunities are shared with 
delivery partners to maximise local job 
opportunities 

CH Quarterly  ELP staff attend monthly team meeting. Where they are unable to meet a need, 
they share vacancies with commercial organisations. 

1.15 Developing skill levels 
 Liaise with the Rochdale Skills Advisor to 

share information
 Link the Skills Gateway website to the RDA 

and Kingsway websites

CH

CH

Quarterly

Jul 15

 Meeting took place in June with advisor and Bus & Invest team staff. 

 Skills Gateway funding expired at end of month.



1.16 Promote apprenticeships to Businesses 
 Ensure team are up to date with current 

apprenticeship offer and are able to signpost 
to Rochdale Council lead officer 

CH Quarterly  Referrals to Andy Turner have fallen but in September he did attend a business 
networking event at the Rugby Club and spoke about benefits of employing an 
apprentice. 



3

BUSINESS PLAN OBJECTIVE SO2 – PROMOTING ECONOMIC AND EMPLOYMENT GROWTH

Key 
Priority 

No
Target/Action Lead Timing Progress

To maintain the momentum of development at Kingsway Business Park as a major mixed-use development area

2.1  Successfully implement a development aid 
programme to ensure the viability of 
development projects to maximise investor 
interest

DC Jul 15  The Council and Wilson Bowden have agreed the principle of a deal for the 
Council to share the letting risk for Plot H. The draft Agreement has been 
circulated for comment and RDA has responded on behalf of RBC following 
consultation with Legal. Due for completion in October. 



2.2  Secure 3 developments on Kingsway during 
2015/16

DC Mar 16  Contractors on behalf of Wireless CCTV are building a 12,000 sq ft industrial unit 
including 5,000 sq ft of offices, which is scheduled for completion in October 
2015, with occupancy prior to the end of the year. 

 David Wilson Homes obtained planning permission in March 2015 for a scheme 
for 68 new homes on land between The Hornet pub and their current site. On their 
current site 109 houses have already been sold with a further 22 legally 
committed.

 Construction work at Plot H is ongoing for a 216,000 sq ft warehouse (known as 
“Kingsway 216”) with completion scheduled in Summer 2016.

 A planning application has been submitted for 4 speculative units on Plot K 
totalling 200,000 sq ft.



2.3  Commence construction of 200,000 ft2 unit on 
Plot H by end of summer

DC Sep 15  A contractor has been appointed (Bowmer and Kirkland) and work has now 
commenced on site with completion due in Summer 2016. •

2.4  Work with JD to promote the business

 Secure JD’s future growth by additional land 
purchase, and

 Support JD’s internal expansion

RD
RD
RD

Mar 16
Jun 15
Mar 16

 2 Press releases have been issued for JD Sports since April with a further one 
due in Autumn subject to advice from comms. 

 JD Sports have advised that initial design work on their new building is likely to 
commence in early 2016.

 The installation of further mezzanine floors at JD Sports existing building means 
their total floorspace is now 1.4m sq ft.

•
2.5  Pursue a retail operator for Plot U or Plot V

 Develop a hotel investment strategy for 
Kingsway

DC
DC

Mar 16
Sept 15

 Discussions have taken place with an operator but nothing has been agreed. 
 The hotel strategy is being discussed with the Kingsway agents but there is no 

market for high quality hotels at present. 
2.6  Resolve land issue with Kingsway Park High 

School and RBC Legal

 Develop a Masterplan for Plots M & V

DC

RD

Sept 15

Mar 16

 The Kingsway land (part of Plot M) can no longer be offered to the Kingsway Park 
High School Trust as there is a pre-emption agreement in place between the 
Council and WBD. The school has now been offered another piece of land.

 RBC has an alternative to offer the trust which clears the way for Kingsway to 
progress the Turf Hill Boundary change and integration of Plots M & V.



2.7  Secure the S106 contribution from David 
Wilson Homes Phase 2 development to pay 
for the Kingsway Link and assist with the 
commencement of development

RD Mar 16  Planning permission was granted in March 2015 for 68 units. The s106 
agreement makes provision for funding the Kingsway Link bus service. The timing 
of this contribution is related to DWH making a start on site on Plot U2. •

To progress the improvement & development of the borough’s other business parks & major employment sites

2.8  Work with Crown Business Park to promote 
the available land and vacant property via the 

CN Mar 16  70,000 sq ft pre-let warehouse unit completed in June 2015 – Robert Scott moved 
in. Option for additional 30,000 sq ft expansion, if required. 



4

database and through an agents’ event  Promotion of Phase II speculative office scheme and Phase III D&B industrial 
opportunity is ongoing. Announcement of new office lettings likely in October.

 Phase III has planning permission for small industrial unit scheme (25,000 sq ft), 
but no plans to build scheme speculatively at present.



2.9  Work with Preston O’Herlihy to promote the 
new 95,000 ft 2 speculative unit at Hareshill 
Business Park to potential occupiers via the 
database and through an agents’ event

CN Mar 16  Work on the building commenced in September 2015.



To maintain and support the sustainable renewal and modernisation of the borough’s stock of existing employment premises

2.10 Stakehill Business Park
 Arrange for the completion of the 

Landscaping Contract
 Deliver Occupiers Breakfast Briefing
 Present and agree Gating Order proposals 
 Implement gating order proposals including 

TRO and yellow lining

RD
RD
RD
RD

Sept 15
Sep 15
Sept 15
Mar 16

 The next phase of landscaping works is now complete.
 The Occupiers Briefing is planned for late November.
 Following input from businesses near the proposed Gatehouse the principles of a 

workable traffic management solution for this area have now been agreed and are 
being drawn up in detail by RBC Highways.

 Commercial Estates Group are developing their signage strategy for the estate, 
which will be the subject of a planning application in Autumn 2015.   

 Discussions are ongoing with RMBC Highways about the form of Traffic 
Regulation and Gating Orders required to implement double yellow lines and 
security measures across the estate.



2.11 Managed offices and smaller industrial workspace
 Work with RBC and private property owners 

to market any vacant space through the 
property database

 Promote the development of available land 
through the Investment Pack and Property 
Portfolio

CN

CN

Mar 16

Mar 16

 All available space is captured and constantly updated to send out to agents, 
developers and to any potential occupiers who enquire about land and property.

 The investment pack is available to send out and includes a prospectus of sites 
and the available land and property.



2.12 Selective redevelopment of older industrial stock 
 Work with property owners / developers and 

planning to determine the requirement for 
maintaining employment land and property 
within the Borough

 Work with Property owners / developers to 
establish the viability of redevelopment of old 
premises or a change of use where 
necessary

 Work with property owners and developers to 
carry out refurbishment works on three 
existing commercial buildings across the 
Borough

CN

DC

RD

Mar 16

Mar 16

Mar 16

 This is carried out in response to developer enquiries and will increase in the 
autumn.

 Done through regular and ongoing meetings with agents, developers and 
landlords and includes sites such as Woolworths, Royle Works, units on Stakehill, 
Crown, Hareshill and Heywood Distribution Park.

 Planning application submitted for the redevelopment of former Woolworths 
building to provide high-bay industrial accommodation.

 Planning application submitted for the removal of conditions that restrict hours of 
operation at Hanson Place, to make the building more attractive to occupiers.



To promote the development of new build employment premises, including speculative schemes to satisfy identified demand

2.13  Provide support and demand reports to 
investors or developers who are considering 
investment in commercial premises in the 
Borough

CN Mar 16  This is done through regular meetings with developers and investors, and also in 
response to enquiries which come through to the RDA. 

2.14  Review the take up of larger speculative units 
and communicate to potential investors/media

 Promote further speculative development at 

CN

DC

Mar 16

Mar 16

 A review of the take up will be carried out at year end.

 Plot H speculative development has started on site, and Plot K should be agreed  




5

Kingsway and other locations over the next month.
2.15 Creative property solutions to mitigate speculative 

development risks
 Establish the principle of RBC investing in 

new development
 Secure legal, state aid and accountancy 

advice as appropriate
 Commit the first phase of the scheme

DC

DC

DC

Jun 15

Jun 15

Oct 15

 The principle of RBC investing in speculative development has been established 
and agreed with the Leader and Chief Executive. Legal and state aid advice has 
been secured to confirm the process.

 The first project is Plot H which is now on site. The Legal Agreement is to be 
drawn up in September and signed off in October.



To support the development of a number of major mixed-use area regeneration schemes in selected locations outside the main town centres 

2.16 Royle Works 
 Work with West Register to agree terms for a 

disposal of Royle Works to a developer or 
occupier  

 Assist the purchaser to develop a viable 
scheme which is fitting for a key gateway site 
and does not compete with the town centre

RD

RD

Dec 15

Mar 16

 Royle Works – currently under control of West Register following the site going 
into administration in the past. RDA have been involved in discussions with West 
Register and potential investors and developers to try and influence the 
development plans in line with the Masterplan created in 2009. 

 Offers for the site were submitted in May and a number of developers had pre-
submission discussions with RDA, however it is understood that an offer from a 
local employer has been accepted. They are currently undertaking site 
investigations. RDA has had meetings with the employer to offer assistance with 
the potential relocation.



2.17 Castleton Railway Sidings 
 Work with potential occupier and the Growth 

Hub to establish a business case for funding 
of a new unit 

 Assist potential occupier and architect to 
submit a planning application

CN

CN

Dec 15

Mar 16

 RDA working to support potential occupier, in conjunction with RBC Planning – 
ongoing.

 Harris Lamb (acting for Tata, who own the site) working on a revised residential 
scheme that may, or may not, leave land available for the proposed occupier 
facility.

 Awaiting submission from Harris Lamb of residential scheme to RBC Planning 
before further progress can be made.

 Occupier looking to relocate the majority of their operations to the industrial unit in 
Heywood, due to the landlord’s requirements for them to move out of their 
existing unit by the end of 2015. RDA working with occupier on the relocation to 
Gregge Street.



To support the activities of the private sector in creating new employment - creating accommodation, especially in our main town centres or in locations near to major public 
transport hubs

2.18 Former Post Office building
 Work with the owners (Hurstwood) and 

agents (Nolan Redshaw) to identify and 
promote the building to potential occupiers. 
Direct potential occupier enquiries to agents

CH Mar 16  Building is included on the property database and clients are referred to it when 
appropriate. 

2.19 Newgate House
 Support Tetrosyl to implement their planning 

permission, progress the highway closures 
and secure occupation of The Holme car 
park. 

GD Mar 16
 The planning application has been approved.  
 The objections to the closure order have been withdrawn and the order has been 

made pending the 6 week challenge period.
 The occupation of the Holme car park is being progressed with Tetrosyl.
 Tetrosyl intend to occupy the building on a phased basis from September 

onwards.



2.20  Work with the Town Centre Management 
Company on property related matters in the 
town centre to provide support and guidance 
to potential investors

 Work with RBC and private property owners 

CN Mar 16  This work is ongoing.

 This is carried out regularly and will continue throughout the year. 




6

to promote & market any vacant space 
through the property database

 Promote the development of available land & 
properties through the Investment Pack and 
Property Portfolio

 The investment pack is available to send out and includes a prospectus of sites 
and the available land and property. This is to be updated to include vacant units 
on all major industrial estates across the borough during next quarter.

To identify, evaluate and support regeneration opportunities arising from the disposal of surplus or underperforming public property assets

2.21 Reshaping the public property estate 
 RDA to attend Council SAM, OAM and 

disposals groups
JS Mar 16  RDA are attending and providing input to the groups. 

2.22 Advising on property disposals 
 RDA to provide commercial development 

advice to the Council service units as and 
when required.

JS Mar 16  RDA are providing the commercial development advice as and when required. 



7

BUSINESS PLAN OBJECTIVE SO3 – DEVELOPING THE INFRASTRUCTURE AND CONNECTIVITY NECESSARY FOR SUSTAINABLE 
ECONOMIC GROWTH

Key 
Priority 

No
Target/Action Lead Timing Progress •••

Support efforts to physically improve the strategic transport network where this directly helps enable business & employment growth

3.1 South Heywood 
 Coordinate the delivery of the South 

Heywood initiative
 Coordinate the link road planning application 

for submission in the new year
 Coordinate the acquisitions and relocations 

strategy to deliver vacant possession of the 
required site or work towards a CPO

 Agree heads of terms for the legal 
agreements between the Council and the 
landowners/developer

DC

DC

DC

DC

Mar 16

Mar 16

Mar 16

Sep 15

 RDA are programme managers for the South Heywood programme.

 Design work continues to complete detailed design in order that a planning 
application for the road can be submitted in 2016. Changes to the alignment 
based on counsel advice will delay the planning application but should avoid the 
need for a CPO.

 Early discussions with residents have taken place and more formal discussions 
will commence when the alignment is confirmed.

 Draft HoT are being produced and are being worked on to determine the funding 
mechanism, which is reliant on the costs of the road being agreed.



3.2 Lincoln Close / Station Gateway
 Secure possession by Agreement of the car 

park land required for the new road

 Secure agreement from HCA on funding for 
the new road

 Work with Highways to deliver the highway 
scheme

 Assist Hanson Springs with the remarketing 
of their old site at Lincoln Close

RD

RD

RD

CN

Sep 15

Sep 15

Mar 16

Mar 16

 RMBC and RDA are engaged in ongoing dialogue with Hanson Springs, the 
potential purchasers of their unit and the head lessees of the industrial estate, 
Industrious. The principles of a deal have now been agreed with only a small 
number of minor issues to resolve.

 Discussions with HCA are ongoing and a proposal is with HCA for consideration.
 Highways are ready to progress the road once agreement is reached with 

Hanson Springs and following the discharge of conditions on the existing 
planning permission for the road.

 RDA are assisting with all parts of these deals which will bring a new company 
into Rochdale, and enables two relocations within the borough.



Support public transport investment and services which improve the connectivity of local residential areas with major employment locations, both within the borough and 
across the City Region

3.3  Work with TfGM to secure funding for the 
Kingsway Link for 2016/17

RD Mar 16  Discussions are ongoing with TfGM about the continuation of this important 
service. All DRT (ie Ring and Ride) services across Greater Manchester are 
subject to a review process for 2016/17 which will conclude in October 2015. The 
Kingsway Link Bus is very favourably placed to continue into future years. JD 
Sports have offered a financial contribution to the bus service starting in April 
2016.       



3.4  Work with TfGM to promote their Travel 
Choices agenda

 Work with Kingsway Transport Consultant 
and TfGM to encourage the use of Public 
Transport on Kingsway in keeping with the 
site-wide travel plan

 Support TfGM to encourage the usage of 
Metrolink to access Kingsway Business Park

RD

RD

RD

Mar 16

Mar 16

Mar 16

 Kingsway Link patronage figures are at over 1,600 per month on average for 
2015. Trips have dropped slightly during June and July however this is an 
expected seasonal variation.

 Metrolink patronage has increased to a peak of nearly 8,000 trips per month from 
the Kingsway stop.   

 The Kingsway Travel Plan Coordinator continues to work alongside RDA and 
TfGM to promote public transport links and encourage staff to use other forms of 
transport other than the car. JD Sports and WCCTV are preparing Travel Plans.





8

Support the progressive development of a high-speed broadband infrastructure covering the wider borough to drive future business growth

3.5 BT Outreach Programme 
 Promote the ‘Get Digital Faster’ website 
 Promote the Super Connected Cities voucher 

scheme and encourage take up by local 
businesses

CH
CH

Mar 16
Mar 16

 Rochdale is part of the GM wide Broadband programme being led by Transport 
for Greater Manchester with activity already underway across the borough.

 BT had a presence in the Exchange Shopping Centre in August to promote 
superfast broadband. They also attended the Business Exhibition in the Town 
Hall and the Rugby Club networking event.



3.6  Work with BT to finalise the installation of 
fibre throughout Kingsway

RD Sep 15  BT have confirmed that the installation of fibre on Kingsway should be complete 
by the end of August, although there is currently a delay with BT activating the 
fibres, which is expected by the end of October.



Promote the adoption of high environmental standards within the construction & development sectors

3.7  Deliver a launch event for the Kingsway 
Sustainable Development Guide 

RD Dec 15  This is being progressed through the Kingsway Sustainability Group and a 
suitable launch event is being considered for before March. 

Contribute to the development of low carbon energy generation schemes, especially in connection with those regeneration schemes that the Agency is helping to deliver

3.8  Work with landowners and developers to 
identify a site for a low carbon development

 Explore any possible funding to contribute 
towards the project

 Heads of terms agreed for a renewable 
energy scheme

RD Mar 16  Planning permission was granted in March 2014 for a Wind Turbine in the field 
adjacent to Broadshaw Farm. The field is owned by the Homes and Communities 
Agency.

 HCA are working positively with RDA to assist with the implementation of this 
scheme.                              

 Discussions are ongoing concerning a number of enquiries for energy schemes  
on Kingsway but none are very attractive to the business park at present (issues 
include size and scale of the building, number of deliveries, and low employment 
levels, plus a requirement to be away from houses which limits the available 
plots).



3.9 Promote benefits of physical activity, using Kingsway 
as good practice 

 Support the Council in delivering the 
inaugural Rochdale Half Marathon via 
Kingsway Business Park

 Support private sector led events that may 
want to utilise Kingsway Business Park 

RD

RD

Sept 15

Dec 15

 The Rochdale Half Marathon, 10k and fun run took place on 23rd August. The 
event was organised by Cannonball Events from Todmorden, and over 1,200 
runners took part. The start/finish and event village were located adjacent to the 
Town Hall, and included part of the Kingsway Business Park. The event was well 
received and generated positive publicity for Rochdale. There were some issues 
relating to the impact on residents from the road closures. Initial planning has now 
commenced for the 2016 event.          





9

BUSINESS PLAN OBJECTIVE SO4 – TRANSFORMING OUR TOWN CENTRES

Key 
Priority 

No
Target/Action Lead Timing Progress

4.1 Medium Term Strategy
 Produce & distribute a revised version of the 

Medium Term Action Plan to prioritise & guide 
the comprehensive regeneration proposals 
for the town centre

 Provide guidance, coordination and support 
to private sector development opportunities in 
the town centre including Drake Street 
housing and mixed use development sites

GD

GD

Mar 16

Mar 16

 The Medium Term Action Plan was endorsed by Cabinet in 2013. The plan has 
been presented to the Programme Management Board; Borough Regeneration 
Steering Group; Rochdale Township; Town Centre Management Board; and the 
High Street Foundation.

 A full review of the plan was recently completed.


4.2 Programme Management Centre
 Continue to provide of a coherent and 

coordinated programme management service 
for all the main physical development 
activities within Rochdale Town Centre

 Service and prepare reports for the 
Programme Management Board on a monthly 
basis and coordination of actions arising

 Update the established programme 
management tools (update notes, master-
programme, risk schedule and time slices) on 
a monthly basis

 Update and implement the town centre 
Communications Strategy on a monthly basis, 
including implementation of the PR and social 
media strategy and website 

 Coordinate, monitor and provide an 
operational overview of the town centre 
Capital Programme

 Support project delivery and liaison with 
Project Managers and stakeholders. Provide 
information/updates to partner and 
stakeholder meetings

GD

GD

GD

GD

GD

GD

Mar 16

Mar 16

Mar 16

Mar 16

Mar 16

Mar 16

 The PMC continues to coordinate and monitor the town centre programme, 
including general enquiries, communications, project liaison, master-programme, 
risks, town centre capital programme and Highway Movement Framework. The 
PMC continues to provide a central resource for dealing with ad-hoc queries and 
providing updates, including attendance at Rochdale Township Regeneration 
Group, TCM and HSF meetings.

 The town centre website www.rochdaletowncentre.com continues to be reviewed 
and updated to provide up to date programme information. The Twitter account is 
used to communicate information (the account has 1400 followers).

 The Communications Strategy is being implemented jointly between the 
Programme Management Centre and RMBC Communications Team. The 
Rochdale town centre leaflet is to be revised, updated and re-printed to create an 
Autumn  2015 edition. 

 The TCCP monitoring meeting takes place bi-monthly. 

•

4.3 Exchange Shopping Centre
 Hold quarterly catch up meetings with the 

Exchange Shopping Centre 
 Provide the centre manager with monthly 

updates on town centre developments  

JS

GD

Mar 16

Mar 16

 The catch up meetings have taken place and updates have been issued to the 
Exchange Centre manager. 

4.4 Public Realm
 Coordinate the delivery of a comprehensive 

package of public realm improvements across 
Rochdale Town Centre

 Support Rochdale Council in delivering the 

GD

GD

Mar 16

Dec 16

 
 A HLF bid has been approved and the river re-opening work has started on site 

and hoardings have been installed. The work is expected to complete in early 
2016.

 Options for the prioritisation of public realm schemes across the town centre 

http://www.rochdaletowncentre.com/


10

project to re-open the River Roch within The 
Butts area, revealing the mediaeval bridges 
and creating public open space

 Liaise with Rochdale Council regarding the 
commission with consultants, BDP, to 
coordinate and support the delivery of public 
realm across the town centre, including the 
river re-opening, Baillie Street and the 
external spaces around the Town Hall & The 
Esplanade

GD Mar 16

along with funding are currently being considered.  This includes the delivery of 
the public realm associated with the river reopening.  The outcome of the river 
reopening scheme will influence the delivery of other public realm works across 
the town centre.  

 BDP have prepared a town centre wide public realm masterplan which will be 
used to inform future priorities. 

 Initial consultation with Members on the Baillie Street public realm scheme has 
commenced.  Opportunities to deliver this scheme as part of the river re-opening 
contract are currently being considered.  



4.5 Private Sector Investment and Development 
 Monitor enquiries and respond in a timely 

manner by meeting investors and developers
 Provide bespoke advice and information to 

potential developers & investors, and bring in 
support from the Council & TCM as required  

JHi

JHi

Mar 16

Mar 16

 RDA is monitoring take up of the Business Rates Scheme on a monthly basis.  To 
date seven units have been let within the scheme.  A further five lettings have 
taken place (see 4.10).  

 Ad hoc advice to developers & investors is given as required.
 Bespoke schedule of available properties produced for each enquiry if requested.



4.6 Rochdale Market
 Through the PMC, provide support to the 

relocation and establish a permanent open-air 
market within The Butts area, immediately 
alongside the reopened river, including the 
provision of support facilities and 
infrastructure

GD Mar 16  A project team to take forward the market project has been established. The 
project team will now start to consider key operational/delivery issues that need to 
be addressed. It is proposed to appoint a specialist to undertake a feasibility study 
of options. This will include defining the delivery programme/timescales, phasing 
options and identify costs & funding.



4.7 Office and other uses 
 Promote the take-up of other vacant units 

within the main town centre area, including 
the Post Office conversion scheme and the 
vacant unit on the ground floor of Number 
One Riverside

 Work with TCM to identify retail investment 
opportunities

JHi

JHi

Mar 16

Mar 16

 Ad hoc advice given as required working with property agents and TCM.

 

 Ad hoc advice given as required working with property agents and TCM.



4.8 Highways Movement Strategy
 Work with Highways to develop and obtain 

approval to Phase 2 of the Highway 
Movement Framework 

 Support Highways to complete the Town 
Head Phase 3 scheme improvements

 Support Highways & Planning to implement 
new access arrangements for the river re-
opening scheme

 Support Highways & Planning to put in place 
the necessary traffic orders and highway 
closures needed to accommodate the Town 
Centre East scheme 

GD

GD

GD

GD

Dec 15

Mar 16

Dec 15

Mar 16

 
 Townhead Phase 3 work started on site in June 2015 and is due to complete by 

end 2015.

 Future HMF schemes are being reviewed, including the highways works 
associated with the permanent market and Baillie Street. 

 The river re-opening scheme is on site and the associated highways works are 
identified in the programme. 

 Progress still needs to be made on the traffic orders and highway closures 
needed to accommodate the Town Centre East scheme.  This will take place in 
the second half of 2015.



4.9 Station Gateway
 Liaise with Planning & Highways on a monthly 

basis to identify any delays or risks 
associated with the proposals 

 Update the Station Gateway programme and 
risk register quarterly and report to the 
Programme Management Board 

GD

GD

Mar 16

Mar 16

 The budget is monitored through the TCCP monitoring meetings and the 
programme and risks are reported to the PMB.
  

 The updated Station Gateway masterplan is due to be considered by Members in 
the second half of 2015. 





11

4.10 Reuse or empty/under-used properties  
 Support the successful delivery of the 

Council’s pilot Business Rates Discount 
Scheme designed to encourage the re-
occupation of presently vacant retail 
properties 

 Monitor vacancy levels and prepare a report 
on the success of the Business Rates 
scheme on a quarterly basis 

 Monitor enquiries and respond in a timely 
manner by meeting investors and developers

 Provide guidance and support to the High 
Street Foundation, TCM and TC Steering 
Group to help deliver property related 
objectives 

JHi

JHi

JHi

GD

Mar 16

Mar 16

Mar 16

Mar 16

 RDA has launched the pilot business rate discount scheme with RBC to help 
tackle vacancies on Yorkshire Street, Baillie Street, The Walk and South Parade. 
Take up from businesses has been encouraging, with a number of previously 
vacant properties now let and other businesses in legal discussions to let 
properties.

 The current position as at the end of September is that 7 properties have been 
awarded grants, making a total of 11 vacant properties have been let although 
one additional vacancy has arisen in the designated area. There are also 3 further 
properties where businesses are in negotiation with agents/landlords.

 Signage in the shop windows to advertise the scheme has been fitted.
 RDA continue to provide guidance, coordination and support to the High Street 

Foundation/Futures Board, TCM and TC Steering Group to provide updates and 
complete any relevant actions.

 



4.11 Site assembly and clearance 
 Secure the relocation of the remaining tenant 

in Telegraph House and vacant possession of 
the building

 Work with RBC Legal to ensure the terms of 
the Development Agreement to secure ‘good 
& marketable’ title of the site is achieved 

 Confirm with Genr8 their proposals for the 
Bell Street site and the Baillie Street 
properties

 Tender the demolition contract for Telegraph 
House

LG

GD

GD

JB

May 16

Aug 15

Dec 15

Dec 15

 RDA has now agreed terms with Trillium for the vacation of Telegraph House and 
the relocation to the ground floor of the Rochdale Post Office property. Trillium 
has now agreed terms for a new lease of the post office property. Council 
solicitors have sent out the draft legal agreements and we are awaiting final sign 
off of the relocation proposals from the Ministry of Justice (Trillium’s sub-tenant).

 In order to satisfy the terms of the Genr8 Development Agreement, the Council 
has acquired the majority of the area with only 1 site not in public ownership (Bell 
Street site). 

 All relevant title information has been forwarded to Genr8. RDA continues to work 
with RBC Legal to clean the title on the Town Centre East site.  Cabinet have 
agreed that the TCE land be ‘appropriated’.  

 The Bell Street site is still in private ownership and discussions have taken place 
with the landowner about the potential development of this site on the basis of 
either a joint venture, implementation agreement or alternatively an outright 
purchase. RDA is still waiting for Genr8 to commission development plans for this 
area, to aid further discussion with the landowner of the Bell Street site.

 The preparation for the tender for the demolition is underway and this contract will 
go out to tender once we have confirmation as to when the building is likely to 
become vacant.



4.12 Temporary use of sites
 Liaise with TCM, RBC Events Coordinator 

and Markets Manager to identify potential 
events

 Monitor and record the use of the sites for 
events and report any issues to the PMB 

JB

JB

Mar 16

Mar 16

 The Baillie Street West car park was closed during the Feelgood Festival for four 
days.

 Several smaller events took place during the summer but none required the 
closure of the car park.  

 There is a proposal for a Christmas Market to be held alongside the temporary 
market, but this is still to be finalised.  This should not affect the amount of car 
parking available for shoppers. 



4.13 Bringing forward the Genr8 scheme
 Review and implement new meeting 

structures for the TCE scheme 
 Support Genr8 to progress the detailed 

design necessary to submit a detailed 
planning application for the scheme before 
the end of 2015, in accordance with the 
Development Framework 

 Confirm and implement the necessary road 

GD

GD

GD

July 15

Dec 15

Dec 15

 Genr8 are currently in detailed discussion with three prospective anchor retailers 
and leisure operators and hope to make announcements in October 2015.  They 
have produced new CGIs to accompany the announcement.

 RDA and Genr8 are developing a masterprogramme for the scheme to include 
approvals, design, CPO, planning, highways and public consultation 

 Genr8 have prepared scheme options for the layout of the site. The Development 
Framework which defines the design parameter of the development (as an 
alternative to preparing an outline planning application) was endorsed by Cabinet 



12

closure & TRO requirements for the scheme 
 Confirm the Genr8 development plans and 

any associated integration arrangements with 
Wheatsheaf Centre needed to deliver a 
comprehensive scheme

 Finalise the details of the TCE scheme and 
related legal & financial matters -

o Ensure the requirements and clauses 
in the Development Agreement are 
satisfied 

o Agree the lease arrangements
o Agree the approach to monitoring the 

development including cost 
consultants and managing agents

o Confirm the revised development 
appraisal, cost plans and commercial 
viability of the scheme

 Complete the risk review and implement any 
necessary mitigation measures

 Acquire any remaining acquisitions/land 
interests, including relocation of remaining 
Telegraph House occupier

 Work with Genr8 to complete the detailed 
contractual agreements with the main anchor 
tenants and agree with Genr8 the terms of 
the negotiations with other prospective 
occupiers 

 Work with Genr8 to confirm the proposals for 
Phase 2 of the scheme 

 Work with RBC Comms and Genr8 to prepare 
and implement a communications strategy for 
the scheme

GD

GD

GD

LG

GD

JS

GD

Dec 15

Aug 15

July 15

May 16

Mar 16

Dec 15

Mar 16

in March 2015. Genr8 are now progressing the scheme design and work towards 
the submission of a detailed planning application in early 2016.

 A report was presented to Cabinet in March 2015 to cover issues such as 
funding, legals, risks and planning to enable the scheme to be progressed.  
Cabinet agree the approach to take further detailed analysis of the options for 
funding be completed in order for decision on the funding route to be made in line 
with delegated approvals.  Work continues to assess the options to fund the 
scheme.

 A review of the CPO programme/process has been undertaken and work is 
progressing to mitigate the need for a CPO process.

 The Genr8 risk has been updated.

 Legal agreements have been agreed with Trillium for the vacation of Telegraph 
House by no later than 1st May 2016. 

 The detailed contractual agreements with the main anchor tenants are expected 
to complete in Oct/Nov 2015. The negotiations with other prospective occupiers 
has commenced but will take time to complete.  

 The proposals for Phase 2 of the scheme have not been progressed (the current 
priority to make progress on Phase 1). 

 A communications strategy for the scheme has been prepared and agreed 
between Genr8 and RBC. The Comms will be rolled out as and when retailers are 
signed along with a marketing strategy.



4.14 Wheatsheaf Centre
 Maintain access for the Wheatsheaf Centre 

service vehicles during the works   
 Maintain pedestrian access to the 

Wheatsheaf Centre
 Achieve Practical Completion of the new 

entrance works
 Work with the new owners of the Centre to 

foster the effective physical integration of the 
Town Centre East project with the 
Wheatsheaf Centre in the wider interests of 
the town centre

LG

LG

LG

JS

June 15

June 15

Aug 15

Mar 16

 Access for service vehicles to the Wheatsheaf Centre was maintained 24/7 
throughout the construction of the new entrance works.

 Pedestrian access was maintained to the shops in the Wheatsheaf Centre via 
the Baillie Street entrance, both by lift and by the existing stair core, throughout 
the construction of the new entrance work. 

 The contractor handed over partial possession of the new entrance works on 27 
June 2015. This included hand-over of one new lift and the new escalators.

 Practical Completion of the new entrance works was achieved in September 
2015. The contractor has 14 days from the date of PC to complete all 
outstanding snagging works.

 There is now a requirement for the Wheatsheaf and the Council to enter into the 
Wheatsheaf Deed of Grant for the footpaths across the cleared Municipal Offices 
site and therefore Solicitors have been instructed accordingly.



Middleton Town Centre
4.15 Middleton Shopping Centre

 Hold quarterly catch up meetings with the 
Shopping Centre owners and manager

JS Mar 16
 Discussions are ongoing with the new Shopping Centre Asset Manager for 

potential new investment in the Centre including changes in the internal 
circulation, recladding elements of the exterior, small extension/reconfiguring 
retail space and improvements to exterior vehicle access.  Planning permission 





13

has been granted for the extension to the existing units and new short term 
parking facility.

4.16 Fountain Street
 Prepare and seek agreement from Middleton 

Township members to options for the 
regeneration of the area through property and 
public realm improvements 

 Begin the implementation of the agreed 
property and public realm improvements 
using capital programme funding   

JB

JB

Mar 16

Mar 16

 The Glenbridge scheme is not being pursued at the request of Members.
 Capital Programme funding (£500k) for public realm and property improvements 

is available for the ‘triangle’ properties.  Options were prepared and reported to 
Middleton Members on the 25 June 2015. More detailed costs were reported to 
Members for approval on August 6th.

 Work has now commenced to take forward options to implement the scheme.



4.17 Public Investment in the Central Area
 Work with the Council to seek to maximise 

investment in the town centre, including future 
schemes funded through the Council’s capital 
programme

 Engage with the Middleton Township 
Regeneration Group to monitor investment 
opportunities

JB

JS

Mar 16

Mar 16

 RDA are working with the Council officers involved with Middleton town centre to 
maximise the on-going investment.

 RDA regularly attend the Group to update Members and monitor opportunities. 

Heywood Town Centre
4.18 Mossfield School

 Provide guidance, coordination and support 
to the Council to facilitate development of the 
site

LG Mar 16  The site has been marketed for sale and 6 offers were received above the asking 
price. 

 All the offers accord with the planning brief for the site.
 A recommendation for approval was submitted to the Delegated Members Panel 

on 10 September and the highest bidder selected.
 An offer has been accepted for a retail/leisure development scheme on the site 

and the legals are currently being progressed.



Littleborough Town Centre
4.19  Work with Carlisle IT to locate an alternative 

site for development and assist with 
discussions with potential retail operators for 
their existing site

CN Mar 16  RDA is working with Carlisle IT to try and secure an alternative site within the 
borough 



14

BUSINESS PLAN OBJECTIVE 5 – INVESTING IN OUR HERITAGE ASSETS

Key 
Priority 

No
Target/Action Lead Timing Progress •••

5.1 Rochdale Town Hall
 Project coordination of the physical works to 

the building through the ‘transform it’ working 
group, including restoration & repair works, 
design of space for new uses, adaptation 
works, on-going maintenance programme 

 Arrange and manage monthly ‘transform it’ 
workstream meetings with relevant Council 
services and partners to agree and implement 
short term works 

 Monitoring of expenditure and budget under 
the Capital Programme

 Prepare and update phasing & action plans 
for the short term works 

 Undertake engagement with English Heritage 
and ROCH & FORTH groups on the short 
terms works 

JHi

JHi

JHi

JHi

JHi

Mar 16

Mar 16

Mar 16

Mar 16

Mar 16

 The cross-service project group led by RDA continues to meet monthly to co-
ordinate workstreams including maintenance, restoration and adaptation works.

 Works recently completed include a full survey of the roof, installation of new 
boilers and replacement of the existing lift.  Feasibility plans for the replacement 
of heating, electrical and IT services have been also completed. 

 The next phase of works will include improvements to install new toilets & extend 
the bar and a ‘mini-refurb’ of the Council Chamber (including new PA system, 
carpets, heating and lighting). Early stage works to the bistro are also being 
planned.

 The restoration of the Magna Carta mural will be undertaken as part of any wider 
restoration works, due to the complexity and costs involved and the significance 
as part of the HLF bid.

 Ongoing meetings and work with FoRTH to increase engagement with HLF bid.



5.2 Community Consultation
 Deliver a programme of public consultation to 

help improve understanding of the building 
and refine options for its future use, and to 
support the HLF bid

JHi July 15  A public consultation exercise on the future proposals for the building took place 
between the 7th and 13th of July to support the HLF bid in December 2015. Overall 
the responses were supportive of the plans and restoration.

 The consultation was run in conjunction with the Friends group (FoRTH).
•

5.3 Heritage Lottery Fund bid for Rochdale Town Hall 
 Prepare and update a programme to ensure 

the submission of the HLF bid by December 
2015. 

 Working with partners and stakeholders to 
manage the preparation of a Conservation 
Management Plan to support the HLF bid

 Arrange and manage monthly ‘fund it’ 
workstream meetings with relevant Council 
services and partners to identify any further 
funding opportunities, including other trust 
fund bids

 Maintain effective engagement with ROCH & 
FORTH groups

JHi

JHi 

JHi

JHi

Dec 15

Dec 15

Dec 15

Mar 16

 Dialogue with HLF and HE will continue and an expression of interest has been 
registered.

 FoRTH have been fully involved in the process and will assist in the Stage 1 bid 
to HLF that is to be submitted by 1st December 2015.

 A report to Cabinet is being prepared to approve the submission of the HLF bid.
 Coordination is essential to ensure that the work is in line with the overall strategic 

plan for the Town Hall and not harm the proposed HLF bid. The Conservation 
Management Plan has been prepared and will be shared with stakeholders and 
Cabinet.

 Involvement of Historic England (formally known as English Heritage) throughout 
the design stage will mitigate any risks of Listed Building Consent not being 
granted. RDA has coordinated recent meetings with HE officers and they have 
expressed written support in principle for the plans. There will be further dialogue 
as the detailed technical design work takes place.



5.4 Warwick Mill
 Liaise with the Warwick Mill investors to 

support and understand their proposals
 Work with RBC Planning and the Warwick 

Mill investors to influence the design of the 

RD

RD

Mar 16

Mar 16

 The scheme is focussed on a business showroom model, which will allow 
Chinese businesses to showcase their products to a UK/European market. The 
project team is being led by JLL and Opal Partnership (Architects). G-Suite 
appear keen to make progress with this scheme and have indicated that they 



15

scheme.
 Provide commercial advice on the scheme to 

Middleton members.  Provide advice on the 
development process and market demand to 
help foster the long-term success of this 
major regeneration scheme

 Work with the Hong-Kong based investor / 
developer and MIDAS to integrate the project 
into Greater Manchester, Rochdale Borough 
and Middleton TC in particular and to 
optimise the wider economic development 
benefits of this substantial inward investment

RD Mar 16
have a significant amount of pre-let showroom spaces. There is no longer a 
residential component to the scheme.

 RDA continues to assist with commercial and development advice to influence the 
scheme.

 A planning application and accompanying listed building consent has now been 
submitted for the conversion of Warwick Mill and the demolition of London House. 
A second application for the new build element on the London House site will be 
submitted at a later date. 

 Negotiations are ongoing with nearby landowners about the potential for use of 
sites for temporary off-site car parking.

 The sole tenant of Warwick Mill (the Lighthouse Project) has generated significant 
press publicity and public support for their continued presence in Middleton. 

 G Suite intend to host an investor launch event in Beijing in November.



5.5 Former Rochdale Fire Station
 Provide support to RBC Planning on property 

and investment matters to help maximise the 
regeneration potential of the building as part 
of the Station Gateway project 

JB Dec 15
 A meeting has been held with the Fire Service Museum to discuss their HLF 

funding application and links with the Town Hall.
 The Fire museum staff attended the consultation day on Sat 11th July at the Town 

Hall.


5.6 River re-opening
 Support Rochdale Council in delivering the 

project to re-open the River Roch within The 
Butts area

 Provide updates to the town centre PMB to 
identify any key risks associated with the   
project, such as funding issues, delays and 
constraints on delivery

GD

GD

Mar 16

Mar 16

 The scheme is on site and is expected to complete in Spring 2016.

 The budget is monitored through the TCCP monitoring meetings. 
 The programme is reported to the PMB.



5.7 Heritage Areas
 To support Rochdale Council planning and 

Conservation officers to develop sustainable 
development proposals for other heritage 
assets such as Rochdale TC Conservation 
Area, Middleton THI area, Middleton Tonge 
Hall and Hopwood Hall College listed 
buildings

JHi Mar 16  Planning for the improvement of the public realm in the wider conservation area 
around the river re-opening is being undertaken with RBC.

 Work with the Conservation Team to prioritise activity and funding is ongoing.
 Met with CLP / E ON and RBC conservation officer to review the proposed 

replacement street lighting proposals to ensure it does not harm the conservation 
area and heritage of the town centre.



5.8 Baillie Street
 Identify a short term plan of action for 

maintaining 17A-21 Baillie St and securing 
temporary uses pending the TCE scheme

 Manage any necessary repair and 
improvement works to the buildings to 
improve marketability pending the TCE 
scheme 

 Agree with Genr8, English Heritage and the 
Planning Service the plan of action for the 
17A-21 Baillie St buildings and the Bell St site

JB

JB

GD

Mar 16

Mar 16

Dec 15

 Available to let first floor of 19 Baillie Street. 
 21 Baillie Street has now been vacated by Shopmobility, however the Market 

Manager is now using the whole building.  
 Progressing with an enquiry for the future use of 21 Baillie Street.





16

Key Performance Measures 

Performance 
Measures 
2015/16
 

Business 
Plan 
Target 

Cumulative 
Performance 
(current Q ) 

Status


 

Commentary

No. of companies 
directly assisted with 
growth plans 

60 50 (17)  Growth plans are in place where an in depth intervention has taken place.

No. of successful 
inward investment 
projects relocating 
into the borough 

7 8 (6)  6 new businesses established in the borough that are RDA and Growth Hub Clients, this includes Accent Hansen who are the first business to 
take advantage of the business rates relief scheme.

No. of local 
companies 
successfully 
relocating/expanding 
within the borough 

18 11 (7)   RDA/Growth Hub clients have relocated/expanded. 

No. of jobs 
safeguarded by 
companies assisted

350 196  Numbers are spread across a number of businesses.

No. of jobs created by 
companies assisted

250 93  Data gathered from some businesses, but still awaiting figures from others.

Total level of public 
sector investment 
spent on projects 

£9m Information collated annually.

Total level of private 
sector investment 
leveraged-in by 
projects

£22m Information collated annually.

Key Activity 
Indicators

   

Amount of new-build 
floorspace (m2) in 
projects assisted by 
RDA (includes mixed 
use schemes) 

35,000 - Information collated annually.

Amount of floorspace 
(m2) converted or 
refurbished in 
projects assisted by 
RDA (includes mixed 
use schemes) 

10,000 - Information collated annually.



17

Total number of 
enquiries received & 
handled by RDA 

200 115 (62)  Number of enquiries remains buoyant, with 34 of these coming from outside the borough.

No. of inward 
investment projects 
relocating into the 
borough (but not 
registered as RDA 
clients) 

15 46 (44)  Data collated via EGi which lists recent property deals across the borough. Evidence that the property market remains buoyant. 

No. of companies 
referred to partner 
support agencies

50 60 (21)  Some companies have been referred to more than one agency depending on their needs. Referrals have been made to The Growth Hub, 
Employment Links and the Manufacturing Advisory Service. 

Key to RAG symbols

Red Indicates - target not achieved or experiencing critical delays or the project is not now proceeding.

Amber  Upward arrow indicates - project still has some issues to resolve but is improving, possibly nearing completion.

 Across arrow indicates - there are some issues preventing satisfactory performance and/or is experiencing some delays.

 Downward arrow indicates - there are issues with the projects performance and it is not performing as well as expected and/or is experiencing significant delays.

Green Indicates - target achieved/completed or performing well.



 

Subject: Directorate Plans 2015-16: Quarter 2 
Performance Update

Status: For Publication

Report to: Communities, Regeneration and 
Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee

Cabinet Members: 

Cabinet Member for Neighbourhoods and 
Community
Cabinet Member for Housing and Environment
Cabinet Member for Regeneration

Date: Thursday, 29 October 2015
 

Report of: Director of Neighbourhoods 

Author Email:  joanne.platt2@rochdale.gov.uk

Author: Joanne Platt

Tel: 01706 924857

1. Purpose of the report

To report progress at the end of Quarter 2 (1st July – 30th September 2015) towards 
achievement of the targets contained in the former Economy and Environment 
Directorate Plan 2015-16 and the Communities section of the former Customer and 
Corporate Services Directorate Plan 2015-16.

2. Recommendations

Members are asked to consider and / or challenge the information contained within the 
report and the appendices.

3. Background

3.1 On 23rd July, the Committee approved the Directorate Plans for 2015-16 for the 
Economy and Environment Directorate and the Communities section of the Customer 
and Corporate Services Directorate. 

3.2 In accordance with the Council’s performance management framework, progress 
towards the targets contained in directorate plans are to be reported to relevant 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees at the end of each quarter.

3.3 Following the recent senior management review, the directorate plan for the former 
Customer and Corporate Services Directorate has been split between the new 
Neighbourhoods Directorate Plan and the new Resources Directorate Plan, and the 
directorate plan for the former Economy and Environment Directorate has been split 
between the new Neighbourhoods Directorate and the new Economy Directorate.

However, as the new structure was not implemented until the last 2-weeks of Quarter 



2, the updates reported this quarter are based on the former directorate structures.

Performance monitoring for Quarter 3 is now taking place in accordance with the new 
structure and reports for Quarter 3 will be based on the new structure.

3.4 The Quarter 1 progress reports for the former Economy and Environment Directorate 
and the Communities section of the former Customer and Corporate Services 
Directorate are attached at Appendices 1 and 2. Actions within each appendix have 
been colour coded in accordance with the following criteria.

Green: Action completed or on track to be completed by the target date

Amber: Action not fully completed or not on track to be completed by the target 
date due to circumstances outside of the directorate’s control

Red: Action not fully completed or not on track to be completed by the target 
date

The Appendices include a commentary against any actions that are amber and red.

4. FORMER ECONOMY AND ENVIRONMENT DIRECTORATE PLAN 2015-16 
QUARTER 2 PROGRESS

4.1 Performance Overview

82.5% (33) of the actions included in the Directorate Plan 2015-16 are on target at the 
end of Quarter 2 as shown below.

4.2 Performance Highlights

 The Get Digital Faster programme (Superfast broadband now has upgraded 28 
cabinets in all parts of the borough and is on target. 179 businesses in the borough 
have taken advantage of the Broadband connection Voucher scheme to fund or 
reduce the costs of connecting to Super-Fast Broadband. The best performance in GM 
has been with Rochdale borough businesses seeking to reduce their carbon emissions 
and energy costs. 

Economy & Environment Directorate Plan: 
Summary of performance against actions



 Roll out of the new Household Waste Collection and Recycling Service starts on 20 
October.  A new Strategy and Policy has been approved by the Council which seeks to 
increase recycling rates across the Borough and make significant financial savings. 

 The number of planning applications submitted to the Council remains high, a sign of 
continued economic investment in the Borough. The number submitted since the start of 
2015 is10% higher than the same period in 2013. The Council has seen a sharp increase 
in the number of major planning applications submitted, with an increase of 13% from the 
same period last year. Fee income is predicted to be around £900k for the calendar year, 
a similar figure to 2014.

 The Council continues to work hard to rationalise its estate. To date in 2015/16 the 
Council has disposed of assets for capital receipts totalling £1.54m. A further £4.77m of 
capital receipts are currently subject to legal completion.

Work to provide a new cemetery in part of Denehurst Park is now complete as planned, 
on time and within budget. A dedication service was recently held in the presence of the 
Leader of the Council and the Mayor, following which the council has received some very 
positive feedback from elected members and the public who were impressed with the 
quality and layout of the new cemetery.

4.3 Exceptions

Members will note that two of the targets are rated as red.  The first is in relation to the 
additional income target set for New Homes Bonus of £500k.  A more detailed narrative is 
provided in Appendix 1 - Reference EE1001. 

The second area is a delay in the development of Quarterly reporting to Townships on 
performance by Environmental Management (Reference EE2006).  Due to the focus on 
preparing for the roll out of the new waste and recycling Scheme, this is still being 
developed and will be the subject of a future paper to O&S Committee as part of the 
planning process for 2016-17.

5. FORMER CUSTOMER AND CORPORATE SERVICES DIRECTORATE PLAN 2015-
16 (COMMUNITIES SECTION) QUARTER 2 PROGRESS

5.1 Performance Overview

94.4% (17) of the actions included in the Communities section of the Directorate Plan 
2015-16 are on target at the end of Quarter 2 as shown below. 



5.2 Performance Highlights

 The Customer and Community Access Strategy and 2015-16 action plan are being 
developed. Benefits and outcomes for the Connected Council Programme have now been 
defined and presented to Wider Leadership Team and Informal Cabinet, and work is now 
underway on producing specific measurable customer improvements and associated 
savings.

 Work is underway on the Access Channel Strategy and 2015-16 action plan. Recent 
highlights include: WEB -preparation for migration to/launch of new SharePoint platform 
later this month; development of MyAccount functionality for January launch; creation of 
CRM-based eForms for November launch. CONTACT CENTRE – working on improved 
reporting, performance management, processes and training to support roll-out of new 
telephony platform and CRM. CUSTOMER SERVICES – MyAccount hub action plan 
produced to define customer service environment and access improvements. Direct Debit 
first draft action plan produced for February campaign.

 The new Customer Care Strategy and 2015-16 action plan is being developed. In addition 
to the ongoing customer service training that takes place, training plans are now being 
developed to support customer-facing staff in using the new CRM and Contact Centre 
telephony platform tools that are scheduled for deployment in the coming weeks. This is 
supported by a review of customer journey processes across all access channels. 

 Work is underway on the Customer Insight, Engagement and Feedback Strategy and 
2015-16 action. The first meeting of the Customer Research and Intelligence group took 
place on 19 October. The group met with Experian to review opportunities for using 
Mosaic to improve the delivery of business outcomes by using better customer insight. 
Work has started on producing 6-8 customer personas to complement customer journey 
and service process redesign. The first draft action plan for the campaign to increase 
Council Tax Direct Debit payments (scheduled for February) has been produced. A 
citizen’s panel was assembled and successfully participated in the peer review process. 
Options for creating a sustainable citizen’s panel approach, as well as other tactics 
including workshops, focus groups and more are now being considered and the 
recommended approach included as part of the strategy.

 Rochdale Citizens Advice Bureau (the current supplier of the Advice contract) has dealt 
with more clients in the first six months of 2015-16 than in any previous six month period. 

Customers & Corporate Services Directorate Plan: 
Communities

Summary of performance against actions



We are working with the Supplier on better reporting mechanisms which will clearly 
demonstrate outcomes, the value of the service and areas for improvement.

 A number of events have been held across the borough which recognises the contribution 
the armed forces make to our borough.  A full report on all armed forces work carried out 
has been written and presented to each Township Committee.

 The Registrars service is now benefitting from the refurbished accommodation with 
improved customer access facilities and more attractive decoration to attract ceremony 
customers. The improved facilities and redecoration now provide a pleasant environment 
where customers can enjoy the unique historical importance of the Town Hall.

5.3 Exceptions

 The installation and go live of the on-line booking software in the Coroners Service has 
been delayed due to delays by the software supplier. This will be completed in Quarter 3.

6. Conclusions

6.1 Monitoring shows that good progress is being made in delivering against the targets in 
Directorate Plans for 2015-16. A further update showing progress at the end of the 
third quarter will be brought to Committee in February 2016.

7. Alternatives considered

7.1 Not applicable

8. Financial Implications

8.1 None – priorities in Directorate plans are delivered within approved budgets.

9. Legal Implications

9.1 None

10. Personnel Implications

10.1 None

11. Corporate Priorities

11.1 All actions in Directorate Plans are linked to the Corporate Priority or Priorities to which 
they contribute.

12. Risk Assessment Implications 

12.1 None

13. Equalities Impacts

13.1 Workforce Equality Impacts Assessment

There are no workforce equality issues arising from this report.

13.2 Equality/Community Impact Assessments



There are no equality/community issues arising from this report. 

Background Papers
Document Place of Inspection

Economy and Environment Directorate Plan 
2015-16

Customer and Corporate Services  
Directorate Plan 2015-16

Number One Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale, 
OL16 1XU



       

 

     

       

 

Action Plan 
 

 

Due Date 
 

Status 
 

 

       

       

       

  

Page  1  Of  14 
 

 

14/10/2015 
 

  

       

 

Economy and Environment Directorate Plan 2015-16    

EE1001 Encourage new private homes and development of sites for social housing and delivery of 
the Empty Property Programme to maximise the Council’s New Homes Bonus (NHB) allocation and 
meet the Borough housing target as set out within the Core Strategy. 

30 September 
2015 

  

Objectives: Promoting Regeneration and the Economic growth of the Borough  

The quarter one update set out the significant work being carried out to increase the number of new homes being built in the borough and to reduce the 
number of long term empty properties. With regards to the delivery of new homes much work has been undertaken and continues to be carried out by 
officers from both Planning and Strategic Housing to foster and encourage private developers to commence building and to maintain the rate of build.  The 
bringing forward of the development of residential land in the Council Regeneration Sites Programme is supporting the drive for new homes provision 
across the borough. In addition the Council is supporting its Registered Provider partners to deliver schemes funded through the Affordable Homes 
Programme 2015-18. As a result of role played by the Council approximately 450 new homes (the exact figure has not yet been finalised) were developed 
in the borough between 1st October 2014 and 1st October 2015. In terms of long term empty homes the overall figure had fallen by 33 as at 5th October 
2014. The Empty Property Team are continuing to have success in bringing existing long term empty homes back into use through the use of an extensive 
range of measures and legal powers available however their efforts are being nullified by an increase in the number of new long term empty properties.  
Work is ongoing to identify the reasons behind the increase in the number of long term empty homes and look at potential measures, in addition to the 
ones already being utilised, to address this problem. Based on data as at 5th October 2015 the Council’s projected New Homes Bonus allocation for 
2016/17 is £724,776 against a budget target of £1,130,000. (This budget target includes an additional £500k income target set as part of the 2016/17 
savings proposals). The Directorate will be looking to bring forward other savings to mitigate the shortfall in income 
 
The projected allocation is broken down as follows: 
 

PROJECTED NHB GRANT 

 Budget 
Target 

Property 
Target 

Latest Forecast - 
5/10/2015 

Actual 

Total Stock 
Increase  

669,000 +512 £619,746 +453 

Empty 
Property 
Decrease 

391,000 -300 £50,780 -33 

Affordable 
Homes 
Premium 

70,000 +200 £54,250 +155 

Total NHB £1,130,000  £724,776  
 
The NHB allocation received by the Council is based on figures contained in the Annual Council Tax Return which is due to be submitted on 16th October 
2015 .The total NHB allocation relating to housing stock, as shown in the table above is now fixed as it is based on VOA banding data as at 14 September 
2015. The Affordable Homes Premium is also fixed as it relates to affordable homes built in 2014/15. However there is still a possibility to amend the 
Empty Homes element of NHB allocation if the Council can identify a ‘significant variance’ in the figures from 5th October 2015 to 16 October 2015 (the 
submission date of the CT return).Capacity Grid is working for the Council to verify that the empty homes data held by the Council Tax Team is accurate. 
It is hoped that the work they are undertaking will produce evidence of a “significant variance” and that this will have a positive impact on the current 
projected NHB allocation relating to Empty Homes. 

Comment Date: 
07/10/2015 

 

Appendix 1 



       

 

     

       

 

Action Plan 
 

 

Due Date 
 

Status 
 

 

       

       

       

  

Page  2  Of  14 
 

 

14/10/2015 
 

  

       

 
 

EE2006 Deliver quarterly Township report process to encourage and support further member 
involvement on the delivery of Environmental Management delivery activities, focused on individual 
township priorities and objectives 

31 August 2015   

Objectives: Deliver high quality Universal Services 

Deferred due to formation of New Directorate and work required on performance monitoring and data collection and analysis process within the service.  
A draft quarterly plan will be presented to Overview & Scrutiny later in year for proposed inclusion in 2016/17 performance plan 

Comment Date: 
06/10/2015 

 

      

EE1002 Formulate 5-10 year Residential Growth Strategy for the borough which links into the 
Greater Manchester Place Initiative 

31 July 2015   

Objectives: Promoting Regeneration and the Economic growth of the Borough  

The Council is awaiting the Inspector’s final report as to whether he considers the uplifted target of 460 homes per annum within the Core Strategy will 
adequately fulfil the Borough’s housing needs over the plan period.  Planning permissions have recently been granted for a number of significant 
developments on former Council owned sites including, Nile Street in Rochdale, George Street in Heywood and the former Hilltop School, Kirkholt.   

Comment Date: 
06/10/2015 

 

      

EE1004 To secure the adoption of the Core Strategy  10 October 2015   

Objectives: Promoting Regeneration and the Economic growth of the Borough  

The Council is awaiting the report of the Planning Inspector following the closure of the Examination in Public in June.  The Inspector has been in recent 
contact with the Council to request confirmation of how it proposes to take account of the recent Ministerial Statement on wind power developments in its 
local plan policies and for a list of any minor modifications proposed to the document by the Council.  These essentially update references and improve 
the clarity of wording where required to accord with more recent legislation and guidance. We are now awaiting the Inspectors formal report and any 
modifications to the Strategy that he feels will be needed to find the plan sound.  Following a statutory period of consultation on any final modifications 
which may be proposed by the Inspector it is hoped to adopt the Core Strategy through Full Council in early 2016. 

Comment Date: 
01/10/2015 

 

      

EE1005 Design and build Junction 19 Link Road and Hareshill road Improvements to facilitate growth in 
residential and employment in Heywood as agreed and supported by the Combined Authority and the GM 
Growth strategy.  

31 March 2016   

Objectives: Promoting Regeneration and the Economic growth of the Borough  

Further appraisal of the highway alignment options is underway to determine the final route for progressing to detailed design. Previous options have 
never considered land to the east of Hareshill Road, as this land did not present the levels of development land the RDA expected to return respective 
value for the construction costs of “new” Hareshill Road. Current developer stakeholder Russell’s are reviewing the costs implications of this route, which 
under highways construction principles is a preferred alignment, and an agreed route will be confirmed by the Rochdale Board with the developer by end 
of October 2015,and also confirmed to Transport for Greater Manchester. 

Comment Date: 
06/10/2015 

 

      

 

 

 



       

 

     

       

 

Action Plan 
 

 

Due Date 
 

Status 
 

 

       

       

       

  

Page  3  Of  14 
 

 

14/10/2015 
 

  

       

 

EE1009 Implement Buy with Confidence Scheme/Local Spend 31 March 2016   

Objectives: Promoting Regeneration and the Economic growth of the Borough  

The scheme has not yet been formally launched as the Council is still awaiting the final version of the licence (which sets out the legalities / conditions of 
membership) from the administering authority.  However, in anticipation of this, the Council has recruited administrative support and officers are working to 
assess the local level of interest in membership (eg by attending business events and proactively contacting members of the previous Fair Trader 
scheme).  As a result, a number of local businesses have expressed preliminary interest in joining the scheme.  In addition, officers have publicised the 
scheme at several public events, particularly during the recent Rogue Trader week and including talks to elderly residents of the Borough (where the idea 
has proved very popular).     

Comment Date: 
06/10/2015 

 

      

EE2007 Explore options for shared services across highways with TFGM and other GM districts in 
order to contribute to savings, resilience and delivery. This work links to the GM Devolved decision 
announcement. 

31 March 2016   

Objectives: Deliver high quality Universal Services 

Rochdale active in discussions with TfGM and other authorities with the aim to implement a Highways Shared Service by April 2016. Cabinet Report 3/8/15 seeking 
approval in principle to continue to develop a business case for a shared service.  
Staff and Trade Unions have been informed. Other affected authorities are similarly communicating with their Members and staff. 

      

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



       

 

     

       

 

Action Plan 
 

 

Due Date 
 

Status 
 

 

       

       

       

  

Page  4  Of  14 
 

 

14/10/2015 
 

  

       

 

 

EE1003 Support Neighbourhood Regeneration on the Langley Estate through delivery of new 
housing schemes at Furrows Park, Langley Central Core and Bowness Road. 

31 December 
2015 

  

Objectives: Promoting Regeneration and the Economic growth of the Borough  

Furrows Park – Keepmoat are continuing to make significant progress on this site. The current position is as follows: 
 
Build: 
42 plots are completed 
30 plots are in progress; 
36 plots are yet to be started. 
 
Sales: 
38 plots are legally complete; 
13 plots have exchanged contracts; 
11 plots are reserved; 
39 (62.9%) of the complete, exchanged and reserved plots are being sold under the Help to Buy Scheme 
14 further plots are available 
 
Latrigg Crescent: The latest position on this Lovell’s development is as follows,  
 
3 reservations,  
4 exchanged plots awaiting completion  
3 completions.  
 
There are a further  8 plots which will be built and hopefully sold this year 
 
Langley Central Core Site – Some revisions have been made to the layout of the scheme and the number of properties to be provided has fallen slightly 
from 101 to 98 units. Mulberry Homes who are developing the scheme on behalf of Riverside are targeting submission of the planning application to 
Middleton Township Sub Committee on 28th October 2015 and Planning and Licensing Committee on 9th  November 2015 

Comment Date: 
06/10/2015 

 

      

      

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



       

 

     

       

 

Action Plan 
 

 

Due Date 
 

Status 
 

 

       

       

       

  

Page  5  Of  14 
 

 

14/10/2015 
 

  

       

 

EE1006 To explore and, subject to Council agreement, take forward for adoption a Community 
Infrastructure Levy on certain types of new development across the Borough 

31 March 2016   

Objectives: Promoting Regeneration and the Economic growth of the Borough  

Feasibility work on introducing a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) on new development in the Borough has been commissioned and an options report 
will be presented to Cabinet before the end of 2015.  The timetable for making progress with the CIL is linked to the adoption of the Core Strategy as the 
viability of a CIL in the Borough needs to be tested against the ability of the Council to deliver the scale of development planned within the Core Strategy, 
once adopted.  Based on the level of development set out in the draft Core Strategy, it is expected that a limited charging schedule could be viable within 
the Borough, albeit not in all wards.  The Council awaits the views of the Planning Inspector as to how much development e.g. new housing the Inspector 
feels will be required across the Borough over the plan period up to 2028 before we can finalise this viability exercise. 
 
There is no legal requirement to introduce a CIL. Most GM Districts are not proposing to do so and few in the north of England.  The initial work has 
concluded the CIL is unlikely to secure additional income from development than could be received from S106 agreements.  However, as it becomes 
harder to pool contributions from new development this may change.  The main advantage of having an adopted CIL charging schedule is that it provides 
much greater flexibility on how we spend monies received as there will be no restriction on the pooling of developer contributions.  It can also be applied to 
all residential development. 
 
Cabinet will be asked to determine whether they wish Officers to progress this work further, or default to the current position whereby, owing to the legal 
restrictions on the pooling of S106 contributions, Officers now have to specify as part of a planning recommendation a specific project for the use of any 
future developer contribution. 
 
If the Cabinet wishes to explore the implementation of the Levy further, the next stage will be to present a further report to Cabinet with a proposed 
charging schedule and a set of spending priorities, and to then consult on this schedule in 2016.  The introduction of a CIL would require independent 
Examination by a Planning Inspector before it can be adopted for planning purposes.  The decision to introduce the CIL would rest with Full Council. 

Comment Date: 
01/10/2015 

 

      

EE1007 Deliver the Council’s statutory responsibilities as a Lead Local Flood Authority 31 March 2016   

Objectives: Promoting Regeneration and the Economic growth of the Borough  

Community flood resilience activities continue in Wardleworth and Heywood with the National Flood Forum. These have been extended to Littleborough to 
include Community Hubs, schools and young people engagement activities and promotion of flood resilience materials to ‘at risk~ neighbourhoods and 
businesses. The first phase of the Calder Brook flood alleviation scheme, a flood basin at Townhouse Road has now been completed and work is ongoing 
in respect of land acquisition and design of the final phase which includes a second flood storage basin on land above Springfield Avenue, Littleborough. 
This is due to be completed by March 2017. 

Comment Date: 
01/10/2015 

 

      

 

 

 

 

 

 



       

 

     

       

 

Action Plan 
 

 

Due Date 
 

Status 
 

 

       

       

       

  

Page  6  Of  14 
 

 

14/10/2015 
 

  

       

EE1008a Develop and Maintain Effective Client role for RDA (Priority Projects, Growth and 
Enterprise, Kingsway)  

31 July 2015   

Objectives: Promoting Regeneration and the Economic growth of the Borough  

“The Quarter 2 2015/16 RDA performance report will be submitted to the Communities, Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
on the 29th October.  The report covers performance against Business Plan objectives and highlights any areas where there are delays or under-
performance. The Council are involved in project groups that oversee the main physical regeneration and investment projects led by the RDA on behalf of 
the Council. This includes finance colleagues. The Council and the RDA Board are working together on the transition of the RDA from a company limited 
by guarantee to a local authority owned company.” 

Comment Date: 
06/10/2015 

 

      

EE1008b Develop and Maintain Effective Client role for RBH (Stock Transfer Agreement, 
Regeneration Priorities, Homeless Contract) 

31 March 2016   

Objectives: Promoting Regeneration and the Economic growth of the Borough  

RBH Performance Reports are to be submitted to the Communities, Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee on10th December 
2015 regarding the delivery of Homelessness Contract and requirements set out in the Stock Transfer Agreement and Tenants Offer document. 

Comment Date: 
24/09/2015 

Officers from the Strategic Housing Team are in discussions with representatives from RBH to develop and implement the necessary processes in relation 
to the introduction of a revised allocations policy covering applicants with reasonable preference. This policy will meet the Council statutory 
responsibilities. Allocations through this policy will be made through RBH’s new ICT Rehousing system LOCATA. RBH will also continue to manage the 
Councils housing waiting list 
 
RBH is leading on the development of a new lettings scheme with partners RPs who participate in the existing CBL scheme. This scheme will cover 
applicants who do not meet the reasonable preference criteria. 

Comment Date: 
06/10/2015 

 

      

EE1010 Increase job creation in the borough through attracting new private sector investment 
supporting local business growth and increasing business resilience (e.g. in town centres), 
ensuring linkages between job creation and skills and employment projects 

31 March 2016   

Objectives: Promoting Regeneration and the Economic growth of the Borough  

Private sector investment interest continues to be strong in the borough. In quarter 2, 47 new industrial and commercial property enquiries were received 
by the RDA, 23 were from outside the borough 15 related specifically to Kingsway Business Park. Twelve businesses relocated within or to the borough, 
or expanded in the borough. Job figures are collected twice a year and the total for Q1 and Q2 is 150 jobs coming to the borough with a further 200 
safeguarded from businesses that could have located outside the borough. Each new recruitment opportunity is linked to the services of Employment 
Links, which is part of the Council’s Economic Affairs Team and helps long term unemployed borough residents into work. The Council receives income 
from providers of the Governments Work Programme to carry out this service. 

Comment Date: 
05/10/2015 

 

      

 

 

 

 

 



       

 

     

       

 

Action Plan 
 

 

Due Date 
 

Status 
 

 

       

       

       

  

Page  7  Of  14 
 

 

14/10/2015 
 

  

       

EE1011 Influencing and local delivery of GM economic and investment policy and programmes to 
meet the needs of the borough and contribute to economic improvement in GM – including Rural 
broadband roll-out, Working Well, GM Growth Company, and new powers and flexibilities under the 
Devolution Agreement 

31 March 2016   

Objectives: Promoting Regeneration and the Economic growth of the Borough  

The Get Digital Faster programme (Superfast broadband now has upgraded 28 cabinets in all parts of the borough and is on target. The remaining 
cabinets all have technical difficulties to overcome needing road closures, deep underground access or are in locations with other works going on 
currently. Regular meetings are held with TFGM and BT to overcome these issues. 179 businesses in the borough have taken advantage of the 
Broadband connection Voucher scheme to fund or reduce the costs of connecting to Superfast Broadband. The Greater Manchester Growth Company is 
helping businesses in the borough a wide range of support. The best performance in GM has been with Rochdale borough businesses seeking to reduce 
their carbon emissions and energy costs. The GM working Well Programme to help Employment and Support Claimants into work is still on target but the 
numbers are very small compared to the scale of help needed. This programme will expand 10 fold from December and it is hoped that the Council will be 
successful in the tender process to deliver this ourselves. 

Comment Date: 
05/10/2015 

 

      

EE1012 To support the preparation by AGMA of the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework as a 
statutory planning document to identify and manage the supply of housing and employment land 
and associated infrastructure to promote and plan for the long term economic growth of the Greater 
Manchester conurbation  

31 March 2016   

Objectives: Promoting Regeneration and the Economic growth of the Borough  

The GM Spatial Framework will be a new 20 year statutory development plan document for Greater Manchester which will set out the scale and broad 
distribution of development which will be needed to accommodate the economic growth ambitions for the conurbation as set out in the Greater 
Manchester Strategy.  The GM Spatial Framework (GMSF) will sit above the Core Strategy, plan for growth over a longer time period than the Core 
Strategy and provide an additional tier of policy making at the local level.  
 
The Council is providing evidence to support the work of AGMA in preparing this new statutory planning document on behalf of the 10 GM Districts.  The 
next stage in the preparation of the GMSF will be to publish a number of documents for consultation in the Autumn of 2015. These will set out a proposed 
scope and vision for the GMSF and a range of strategic growth options.  The consultation will set out the current availability of housing and employment 
land across GM to meet our projected growth and the implications of these broad growth options for the management of our housing and employment 
land supply over a period until at least 2035.  It is proposed to brief all Members on the implications of this for planning within the Borough and to seek 
Member views on the document as part of this initial consultation process. 

Comment Date: 
01/10/2015 

 

      

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



       

 

     

       

 

Action Plan 
 

 

Due Date 
 

Status 
 

 

       

       

       

  

Page  8  Of  14 
 

 

14/10/2015 
 

  

       

EE1013 Refresh the Borough Renaissance Masterplan as a mechanism to respond to the GM 
Growth and Reform Plan and as a framework for public and private sector investment to over the 
next 10 years 

30 September 
2015 

  

Objectives: Promoting Regeneration and the Economic growth of the Borough  

Two internal workshops have been held to review the existing Masterplan and its two previous updates. Although the Masterplan still has 5 yrs. to run it 
has been proposed to updated/refresh and possibly to extend its life by a further 10yrs. Parallel updates of the Sustainable Community Strategy and 
Locality Plan are also underway and consideration is being given to the potential to combine some or all of these Masterplans or at least top considering a 
joint consultation strategy. Therefore further progress on the Masterplan is on hold whilst this is being considered and also in the light of any potential 
influences from the peer/Foresight Reviews. 

Comment Date: 
13/10/2015 

 

      

EE2001 Improve Food Safety 31 March 2016   

Objectives: Deliver high quality Universal Services 

The Council has been working hard to address the shortfalls identified by the Food Standards Agency (FSA) during its audit in March 2015.  As a result, 
confirmation of funding for the commissioning of external inspections to eradicate the historic backlog has been received; a tender for the work has been 
placed on the Chest and a contract should be awarded by mid-October.  Other requirements of the Action Plan arising from the audit are being 
progressed and will be discussed with the FSA at a meeting with regional representatives on 8 October; it is anticipated that this will be positive and reflect 
the strides made since March.     

Comment Date: 
06/10/2015 

 

      

EE2002 Implement Waste Review including Terms and Conditions  31 March 2016   

Objectives: Deliver high quality Universal Services 

The new Waste Management Strategy and Waste Collection Policy have been ratified by elected members after public consultation in August as has the 
new Waste & Recycling Service. The new service, which includes weekly collections of food waste to all properties in the borough (excluding flats and 
communal areas), will see the three main material streams collected on a three weekly frequency. 
 
A full and comprehensive communications strategy is in place to support the launch of the new service which is in action from early September, this 
includes: Door to door canvassing, leafletting and starter packs for all residents, BME and school campaigns plus other internal communications initiatives 
and an external above the line marketing campaign. Additional resources have been allocated to operations and on the ground staff to help reduce 
teething problems and to make sure that the introduction of the new collections progresses as smoothly as possible. 

Comment Date: 
06/10/2015 

 

      

EE2003 Improve Recycling and Participation - deliver a number of initiatives over the coming 12 
months to increase participation and recycling rates and to support the roll out of the new 
collection Policy. 

31 March 2016   

Objectives: Deliver high quality Universal Services 

Ongoing monitoring of excess residual bins and corrective action are ongoing. Our Waste Minimisation Officer, the 4 x Recycling Officers and our 
Communications Officer are now engaged full time in preparing for the new service launch in October. 

Comment Date: 
06/10/2015 

 

      

 



       

 

     

       

 

Action Plan 
 

 

Due Date 
 

Status 
 

 

       

       

       

  

Page  9  Of  14 
 

 

14/10/2015 
 

  

       

EE2004 Deliver Street Lighting Contract (EON) –Finalising CIP and preparation for maintenance 
phase  

31 March 2016   

Objectives: Deliver high quality Universal Services 

The programme was previously behind target; however following an increase in resources by the Service provider the programme is now back on 
schedule.   
 
Eon have recently removed the existing management overseeing the project and have appointed a new Head of Highways Lighting that is more customer 
focused and willing to work in partnership with the Authority.  
 
Although the new management has only been in place for a short period, there has already been a marked improvement in the service with several 
outstanding issues raised by Elected Members being re-investigated and brought to a conclusion in partnership with the Client Team. 

Comment Date: 
06/10/2015 

 

      

EE2008 Maintain performance above ‘The Planning Guarantee’ for Planning Services. 31 March 2016   

Objectives: Deliver high quality Universal Services 

The number of planning applications submitted to the Council remains high, a sign of continued economic investment in the Borough. The number 
submitted since the start of 2015 is10% higher than the same period in 2013. The Council has seen a sharp increase in the number of major planning 
applications submitted, with an increase of 13% from the same period last year. Fee income is predicted to be around £900k for the calendar year, a 
similar figure to 2014. The recently published central government statistics for planning performance confirm that the authority exceeds the targets for a 
special measures designation, although this is through the prior agreement of extensions of time with applicants in many cases with a particular pressure 
around Major planning applications. As such, there will be no loss of decision making or fee refunds.  Government targets for decision making will be 
tightened later this year and therefore performance above any uplifted targets will need to be met. 
 
Government is also proposing to introduce special measures designations for authorities which have failed to produce a Local Plan by early 2017.  It is 
unclear how this might affect the Borough and what sanctions would be introduced.  However, Government has stated that it will intervene in those 
authorities and write plans with local communities in areas where Local Plans are not in place.   

Comment Date: 
01/10/2015 

 

      

EE2009 Improve the condition and construction standards of buildings in the borough 31 March 2016   

Objectives: Deliver high quality Universal Services 

Income remains slightly above budgetary targets and our market share remains high. The Service has recently won work to undertake numerous fire risk 
assessments for Property Services and a number of external clients, which is augmenting service income.  Support has been provided in several 
situations concerning dangerous buildings within the Borough and the Council has successfully obtained emergency work orders through the Courts 
where necessary.   The annual safety inspection of Spotland Stadium has also been completed 
 
The service is working collaboratively with Public Protection on the matter of the former Turner Bros (TBA) asbestos site and we have just completed a 
partial site survey relating to the safety of the property and its perimeter defences (fencing).  The service has continued to maintain a watching brief of the 
site and has regular contact with the site security personnel who have confirmed that there have been no incidents of unauthorised entry into the buildings 
since the security has been deployed on the site. The annual safety inspection of Spotland Stadium has also been completed and a report will be 
forwarded to the stadium board in due course. Additionally, a further during-match safety inspection will also take place prior to Christmas 2015. 

Comment Date: 
01/10/2015 

 

      



       

 

     

       

 

Action Plan 
 

 

Due Date 
 

Status 
 

 

       

       

       

  

Page  10  Of  14 
 

 

14/10/2015 
 

  

       

EE2010 Co-create and implement a cross-boundary working strategy for AGMA building control 
authorities 

31 March 2016   

Objectives: Deliver high quality Universal Services 

The council is working closely with colleagues across AGMA to explore options for joint working including delivery of a shared Building Control service 
across Greater Manchester. The long-term strategy for more collaborative working between GM authorities has yet to be agreed. Meetings have been 
held to discuss options of different ways of working. An initial decision to work more co-operatively across Greater Manchester has been formalised by the 
signing of a cross-boundary working resource agreement, which enables individual authorities to perform site inspections (under invitation only) to be 
completed in another GM authority area – this enables resources and specialisms to be shared as and when needed throughout the GM Building Control 
network. Assistance has been offered to Tameside who have had recent staffing problems and couldn’t meet their statutory targets for issuing 
decisions/site inspection. Further discussions are taking place with neighbouring authorities to explore options for further joint working and sharing of 
expertise.  

Comment Date: 
01/10/2015 

 

      

EE2011 Environmental Quality Inspections 31 March 2016   

Objectives: Deliver high quality Universal Services 

On target – data being collected in Quarter 3 will act as benchmark for reporting from Quarter 4 onwards. Comment Date: 
06/10/2015 

 

      

EE2012 Service Failure and Advice Demand 31 March 2016   

Objectives: Deliver high quality Universal Services  

On target – Performance indicator agreed to report from Quarter 3 Comment Date: 
06/10/2015 

 

      

EE3001 Deliver a programme of Asset Rationalisation 31 March 2016   

Objectives: Deliver the Asset Strategy and Disposals programme  

To date in 2015/16 the Council has disposed of assets to the value of £1.73m, for capital receipts totaling £1.54m...A further £4.77m of capital receipts are 
currently subject to legal completion... 

Comment Date: 

30/09/2015 
 

      

EE3002 Increase the Property Disposals Target and contribute to Savings 31 March 2016   

Objectives: Deliver the Asset Strategy and Disposals programme  

On target to achieve the 2015/16 savings target of £100k from asset rationalisation. Source of the 2016/17 asset rationalisation savings target has yet to 
be identified. Asset performance is currently being analysed with a view to bringing forward options... 

Comment Date: 
30/09/2015 

 

      

 

 

 



       

 

     

       

 

Action Plan 
 

 

Due Date 
 

Status 
 

 

       

       

       

  

Page  11  Of  14 
 

 

14/10/2015 
 

  

       

EE3003 Secure and maintain objectives in the Transport Asset Management Plan (TAMP) by 
delivering the capital programme for 2015-16 

31 March 2016   

Objectives: Deliver the Asset Strategy and Disposals programme  

With the omission of the car parking Gross Replacement Cost (GRC) values, all required updates across the Highways Service teams/assets are 
completed. The outstanding commission from TAMP 2014 to determine the car parking GRC was only recently issued, therefore slippage to complete the 
TAMP 2015 refresh is forecast Autumn 2015... 

Comment Date: 
06/10/2015 

 

      

EE4001 Lead effective strategic partnership working to increase employment levels in the borough 
and delivery of local PSR Employment projects. 

31 March 2016   

Objectives: Support Public Service Reform 

The Economic Affairs Team continue to work closely with the Police and Rochdale Boroughwide Housing (RBH) on Kirkholt, testing new ways to help job 
seekers with complex needs which often include health, skills, and housing issues along with high volume calls on police time. The outcomes have all 
been achieved through the team with no additional resources, just ensuring the services available are delivered in a more efficient and effective way. The 
main areas of support on the back of offering skills and employment support are: maintaining tenancies/preventing homelessness, domestic abuse, 
support with parenting, health, drug/alcohol use, reduced crime and improving school attendance. Out of a national pilot of 25 locations the Kirkholt work 
is the most cited national example of effective practice at engaging people with complex needs into skills and employment. By chairing the borough wide 
Skills and Work Advisory Group, the Council’s Skills and Employment Manager maintains a focus on local priorities (young people and those with health 
conditions) across public, private and voluntary sector organisations and involves these partners in the skills and employment aspects of the Greater 
Manchester Devolution Deal which will, over time, allow us to have much more influence over skills and employment devolved budgets. The next 
employment rate data is available towards the end of October. Data on those claiming out-of-work benefits is no longer a reliable measure of 
unemployment as the introduction of Universal Credit includes both job seekers and those in low pay employment. 

Comment Date: 
07/10/2015 

 

      

EE4002 Lead effective strategic partnership working to increase adult skill levels in the borough and 
directly through commissioned skills projects and the Community Champions programme. Delivery 
of local PSR Skills projects. 

31 March 2016   

Objectives: Support Public Service Reform 

Data on Skill levels is published in November each year so will be included in the Q3 update. Two specific skills programmes managed by the Economic 
Affairs Team have been very successful and we have been asked by DCLG and the Arts Council to extend them. The Creative Employment Programme 
will offer a new cohort of unemployed under 25’s, 6 month paid placements in the creative and digital sector. The previous programme helped 29 young 
people and this new cohort has 10 opportunities but we are still talking to employers to increase this number. Qualifications will be achieved in a sector 
that is growing fast across Greater Manchester, especially at Media City. The Talk English programme is funded by DLCG and managed by the Economic 
Affairs Team, and helps local residents who do not have English as their first language and therefore face barriers to employment and accessing formal 
training. 273 learners completed the training in community locations across the borough. It is hoped that phase 2 will reach this total again but with half the 
resource. There is a significant demand for this training in the borough which is growing as funding to colleges and other training providers for ESOL is cut 
significantly. DCLG are also in discussion with us to include employment outcomes to this training. Skills activity by the trained volunteers known as 
Community Champions has included digital and financial skills alongside mental health, literacy and healthy living support. Unemployed borough residents 
almost always have more than one need and their skills needs cannot be supported without other issues being tackled at the same time. Therefore 
partnership working, particularly with health and housing colleagues is crucial. 

Comment Date: 
07/10/2015 

 

      



       

 

     

       

 

Action Plan 
 

 

Due Date 
 

Status 
 

 

       

       

       

  

Page  12  Of  14 
 

 

14/10/2015 
 

  

       

EE5001 Develop Alternative Delivery Models for Environmental Management and Facilities 
Management. 

31 March 2016   

Objectives: Explore and Develop Alternative Delivery Models for Service Delivery 

As previously stated in the last update this is an ongoing process requiring an internal rationalisation of services to ensure that all potential savings are to 
the benefit of the Council this is ongoing. This will require a change in management reporting and divisional delivery.  One of the areas that have now 
been identified for a new delivery model is the cleaning services of public buildings. The intention is to move from an input specification to an output 
specification looking at the most essential deliverables to support other services and end users, as the latter is a more efficient service delivery.   
Rochdale BC continues to deliver some FM service disjointedly and amalgamation of one or more will be required to ensure resources are appropriately 
utilised.  Subsequently an internal review is underway.   All identified saving have been forwarded into the16-17 efficiency proposal for Wider Leadership 
Team consideration as a result some are being actioned for implementation in 16/17 

Comment Date: 
06/10/2015 

 

      

EE5002 Test models currently in place within the Environmental Management Service with a view to 
concentrating on the core business and develop Alternative Delivery Models where appropriate for 
implementation in 2016/17 

31 March 2016   

Objectives: Explore and Develop Alternative Delivery Models for Service Delivery 

Two EM service proposals will form part of the 2016/17 efficiency savings reports to Cabinet in the autumn as part of phase 2 of the council efficiency plan  
The first relates to the councils internal mail service and the other to the capitalisation of litter bin provision and installation with decision making delegated 
to individual townships...Further Environmental Management related proposals relating to possible shift-working of front line street services operation and 
provision of the council fleet and workshop will be submitted to Wider Leadership Team (WLT) for consideration later in the year as part of phase 3 of the 
efficiency plan. A Transformation fund business case will also be submitted to WLT in October 2015 which will deliver proposals around the future of the 
council’s tree, bedding plant and flower displays provision and alternative options including a social enterprise for the Bowlee Nursery site.  .. 

Comment Date: 
06/10/2015 

 

      

EE6001 Deliver Rochdale Town Centre Schemes – e.g. Genr8, Rochdale Market 31 March 2016   

Objectives: Deliver major capital programmes on time and on budget  

Additional progress is being made on Town Head highways improvements, River reopening scheme, relocation of Rochdale market (from its current 
temporary location), refurbishments and improvements to the Town Hall (including a Heritage Lottery Fund bid), the final acquisitions required for Town 
Centre East  and Genr8’s negotiations with anchor occupiers for the Town Centre East scheme. 

Comment Date: 
13/10/2015 

 

      

EE6002 Complete River Re-opening Scheme 31 January 
2016 

   

Objectives: Deliver major capital programmes on time and on budget  

The project to reopen the river is progressing in accordance with the agreed programme and budget.  Demolition of the culvert upstream of the historic 
bridge has been completed and the stone masons have started repairs to the river walls and repair and restoration of the stonework on the bridge.  
Preparations for the demolition of the downstream opening outside Barclays Bank has started and the contractor has started clearance work ready for 
paving the area where the new market will go 
 
The project team is liaising with local businesses to ensure that deliveries and collections can still take place.  Subject to the contractor not encountering 
unexpected problems the highway restrictions will be removed by the end of November and vehicles will be able to drive through to Constantine Way. 

Comment Date: 
06/10/2015 

 



       

 

     

       

 

Action Plan 
 

 

Due Date 
 

Status 
 

 

       

       

       

  

Page  13  Of  14 
 

 

14/10/2015 
 

  

       

      

EE6003 Complete new Cemetery at Denehurst Park 30 September 
2015 

  

Objectives: Deliver major capital programmes on time and on budget  

Work to provide a new cemetery in part of Denehurst Park is now complete as planned, on time and within budget. ....A dedication service was recently 
held in the presence of the Leader of the Council and the Mayor with around 60 people attending the event.  Following the dedication the council has 
received some very positive feedback from elected members and public who were impressed with the quality and layout of the new cemetery. 

Comment Date: 
06/10/2015 

 

      

EE6004 Commence redevelopment of the Strand Shopping Parade on the Kirkholt Estate 31 March 2016   

Objectives: Deliver major capital programmes on time and on budget  

A Delegated Decision Panel held on 10th September 2015 approved the Grant Funding Agreement between Rochdale Borough Council and Rochdale 
Boroughwide Housing Limited (RBH) relating to the regeneration of the Strand Shopping parade and surrounding public space on the Kirkholt Estate. The 
DDP also approved the disposal of the Council land to RBH to facilitate the delivery of the Strand Regeneration Project 
 
A Steering Group for the Project, including representatives from the Council and RBH, has been established. RBH are to commence demolition works at 
the Strand in April 2016 
 
The Heywood, Middleton and Rochdale Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) are hoping that the Projection Initiation Document for the new Kirkholt 
Health Centre will be signed off by NHS England in early October 2015. The Business Case process for the project will commence once the Project 
Initiation Document (PID)  has been signed off. 

Comment Date: 
06/10/2015 

 

      

EE6005 Commence implementation of Middleton Town Centre Conservation Area public realm 
enhancement scheme 

30 September 
2015 

  

Objectives: Deliver major capital programmes on time and on budget  

Prices and programme have been agreed with main and subcontractors for paving replacement and associated works, with works starting onsite in mid-
October 2015. Additional works subject to further Elected Member consultation and approval through committees by the end of 2015. 

Comment Date: 

02/10/2015 
 

      

EE6006 Continue to deliver the Middleton and Edgar Wood Townscape Heritage Initiative (THI) in 
accordance with the THI Board Action Plan 

31 March 2016   

Objectives: Deliver major capital programmes on time and on budget  

Progress on implementing the THI project has accelerated in recent months following the appointment by the Council of a new conservation officer. 
Grants totaling £290,000 were approved for the repair and restoration of Conservation Area properties in last quarter, with a pipeline of further projects for 
grant approval at the December THI Board totaling £350,000. Work to Redcroft, Edgar Woods own house, started on site on 5th October 2015. This is a 
key project for the success of the THI. 

Comment Date: 
02/10/2015 

 

      

      

 



       

 

     

       

 

Action Plan 
 

 

Due Date 
 

Status 
 

 

       

       

       

  

Page  14  Of  14 
 

 

14/10/2015 
 

  

       

 

EE6007 Deliver the renewable energy programme across two phases for completion in summer of 
2015 and summer of 2016 respectively.  The programme will also explore other renewable energy 
schemes. 

31 March 2016   

Objectives: Deliver major capital programmes on time and on budget  

Planning permission has been secured for the 5MW (Mega Watt) solar farm on council-owned land at Chamber House Farm, between Castleton and 
Heywood.  Work is now progressing to establish the delivery option that secures the best financial return to the authority, in light of the recent government 
announcements changing the support systems for renewable energy projects. 

Comment Date: 

01/10/2015 

 

      

EQ1 Equality & Diversity Policy “No Matter Who” 31 March 2016   

Objectives: • Actively developing our services’ approach to equality and diversity • Ensuring that staff are adequately trained to meet the requirements of the No Matter 
Who policy • Undertaking equality impact assessments, in line with the corporate guidance, and acting on their findings.• Establishing and maintaining appropriate 
consultation with community and key stakeholder groups and responding to feedback on services to ensure that our services are appropriate and sensitive to all our 
communities. 

 

      

      
 

 



      

 

    

      

 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

Status 
 

 

      

       

       

  

Page  1  Of  8 
 

 

12/10/2015 
 

  

       

 

Customer and Corporate Services for Communities Directorate Plan 2015-16    

CS1021 Creating on-line booking facilities for the Registration of Birth and Death appointments 31 August 2015   

Objectives: CUSTOMERS, COMMUNITIES AND COMMUNICATIONS SERVICE: Coroners and Registrars 

Actions and Milestones  

CS1021a Installation and go live of the on-line booking software with associated Comms strategy 31 Aug 2015  

This action is slightly delayed awaiting software supplier to install software   
 

 

 

      

CS1001 Effective Rochdale Safer Communities Partnership (RSCP) 31 March 2016   

Objectives: CUSTOMERS, COMMUNITIES AND COMMUNICATIONS SERVICE: Prevention, Cohesion and Regulation 

Actions and Milestones  

CS1001b Identify the benefits and risks associated with the provision of the Safer Communities 
Service 

31 Oct 2015  

CS1001c Publish Safer Communities Strategy for 2015-18 31 Oct 2015  

The RSCP Strategy has been written and signed off by the RSCP board.  It has also been to RMBC Informal Cabinet, O&S and Cabinet 
with comments incorporated.  It is due to go to full council in late October / Early November 

 

CS1001a Ensure the RSCP achieves the performance defined in its strategy to make the borough a 
safer place in line with the RSCP 7 strategic objectives 

31 Mar 2016  

The RSCP continues to make reasonable progress across all of its performance indicators. The RSCP performance board have looked 
at the performance in detail and have identified corrective action 

 

CS1001d Ensure the RSCP continues to meet its statutory guidance and delivers on its current high 
level priorities  

31 Mar 2016  

The RSCP has conducted a self-assessment and improvement plan to ensure it meet its statutory obligations.  The RSCP performance 
board is overseeing the implementation of the improvement plan 

 

 

 

 

      

CS1002 Reduce the amount of Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) 31 March 2016   

Objectives: CUSTOMERS, COMMUNITIES AND COMMUNICATIONS SERVICE: Prevention, Cohesion and Regulation 

Actions and Milestones  

CS1002b Identify the benefits and risks associated with the provision of this service 31 Oct 2015  

Completed  

CS1002a  Complete tactical and strategic Action Plan 31 Mar 2016  

Annual Action Plans have been written for Crime and Anti - Social Behaviour.  The RSCP performance board is overseeing 
implementation.  The implementation is assisting with the achievement of the targets 

 

 

 

 

      

 

Appendix 2 



      

 

    

      

 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

Status 
 

 

      

       

       

  

Page  2  Of  8 
 

 

12/10/2015 
 

  

       

CS1003 Events 31 March 2015   

Objectives: CUSTOMERS, COMMUNITIES AND COMMUNICATIONS SERVICE: Prevention, Cohesion and Regulation 

Actions and Milestones  

CS1003c Review and streamline event process 31 Oct 2015  

An options appraisal has been conducted identifying how to streamline the events process.  Implementation will commence shortly  

CS1003a Provide the council with an ability to regulate and encourage successful events - Review 
services provided associated with Events 

31 Jan 2016  

The Council operates a Safety Advisory Group (SAG) which oversees the regulation of events  

CS1003b Provide lists and action plans for high quality and diverse events held through the 
Borough 

31 Mar 2016  

Full Event Management Plans have been written for all events the council has led on.  The events have been implemented successfully  

CS1003d Keep event notification and Safety Advisory Group under review 31 Mar 2016  

SAG is operating well, an options appraisal and Audit report have been written, identifying improvements to be made.  The Event 
Manager and SAG have just commenced implementation of these reports. 

 

 

 

 

      

CS1004 Response service to cope effectively to emergency incidents both inside and outside the 
Council 

31 January 2016   

Objectives: CUSTOMERS, COMMUNITIES AND COMMUNICATIONS SERVICE: Prevention, Cohesion and Regulation 

Actions and Milestones  

CS1004a Review service to assure this remains a highly regarded and effective service. 31 Jan 2016  

The council’s emergency plan has recently been reviewed and updated to ensure it is fit for purpose.  In addition all emergency 
incidents are fully debriefed in order to identify areas of good practice and lesson learnt.  Actions are developed and implemented for all 
lessons learnt 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



      

 

    

      

 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

Status 
 

 

      

       

       

  

Page  3  Of  8 
 

 

12/10/2015 
 

  

       

CS1005 Improve Customer & Community Access to services 31 March 2016   

Objectives: CUSTOMERS, COMMUNITIES AND COMMUNICATIONS SERVICE: Customer and Community Access 

Actions and Milestones  

CS1005a  Produce Customer and Community Access Strategy and 2015-16 action plan for review 
and sign-off 

31 Oct 2015  

On target to develop strategy and action plan by the due date.   

CS1005b Deliver 2015-16 action plan 31 Mar 2016  

Action plan will be implemented after the strategy and action plan have been approved and adopted   

CS1005c  Report on 2015-16 actions  31 Mar 2016  

Updates on delivery of the action plan will be provided once the action plan is approved and implementation begins.  

CS1005d Review strategy and produce 2016-17 action plan for review and sign off 31 Mar 2016  

.  
 

 

 

CS1006 Improve and modernise our access channels 31 March 2016   

Objectives: CUSTOMERS, COMMUNITIES AND COMMUNICATIONS SERVICE: Customer and Community Access 

Actions and Milestones  

CS1006a Produce Access Channel strategy and channel action plans 31 Oct 2015  

On target to produce draft strategy and action plan by the due date  

CS1006b Deliver 2015-16 Digital, Contact Centre and Face-to-Face action plans to improve access 
to services and support channel shift agenda 

31 Mar 2016  

Delivery will start when action plans have been approved  

CS1006c  Report on 2015-16 actions 31 Mar 2016  

Delivery will start when action plans have been approved  

CS1006d Review strategy and produce 2016-17 action plan for review and sign-off 31 Mar 2016  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



      

 

    

      

 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

Status 
 

 

      

       

       

  

Page  4  Of  8 
 

 

12/10/2015 
 

  

       

CS1007 Increase digital skills, support and access in our communities 31 March 2016   

Objectives: CUSTOMERS, COMMUNITIES AND COMMUNICATIONS SERVICE: Customer and Community Access 

Actions and Milestones  

CS1007a Produce Digital Inclusion Strategy and 2015-16 action plan 31 Oct 2015  

Action plan produced.  The plan increases support available for residents and communities, including through funding bids. The Digital 
Inclusion Working Party has been remodeled to bring together the work of all sectors including the 3rd sector. The 2016 Digital Festival 
in February will officially launch MyAccount and showcase the range of support across the borough. 

 

CS1007b  Deliver 2015-16 action plan to maximise public access and improve digital support, skills 
and training to residents/communities 

31 Mar 2016  

Action plan produced and implementation has commenced  

CS1007c Report on 2015-16 actions 31 Mar 2016  

This will be completed in the 4th quarter.  

CS1007d Review strategy and produce 2016-17 action plan for review and sign-off 31 Mar 2016  

This will be completed the 4th quarter.  
 

 

 

CS1008 Enhance the customer experience through improved customer care 31 March 2015   

Objectives: CUSTOMERS, COMMUNITIES AND COMMUNICATIONS SERVICE: Customer and Community Access 

Actions and Milestones  

CS1008a Produce Customer Care Strategy and 2015-16 action plan for review and sign-off 31 Oct 2015  

On target  

CS1008b Deliver 2015-16 action plan to improve customer care through service standards review, 
customer commitment requirements, skills and training 

31 Mar 2016  

Delivery will start when action plans agreed  

CS1008c Report on 2015-16 actions 31 Mar 2016  

Delivery will start when action plans agreed  

CS1008d Review strategy and produce 2016-17 action plan for review and sign-off 31 Mar 2016  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



      

 

    

      

 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

Status 
 

 

      

       

       

  

Page  5  Of  8 
 

 

12/10/2015 
 

  

       

CS1009 Listen to, involve and understand our customers to drive improvement 31 March 2016   

Objectives: CUSTOMERS, COMMUNITIES AND COMMUNICATIONS SERVICE: Customer and Community Access 

Actions and Milestones  

CS1009a  Produce Customer Insight, Engagement and Feedback Strategy and 2015-16 action plan 
for review and sign-off 

31 Oct 2015  

On target  

CS1009b  Deliver 2015-16 action plan to improve customer access and service delivery through 
improved collection and utilisation of customer insight, engagement and feedback 

31 Mar 2016  

Delivery will start when action plans approved  

CS1009c Report on 2015-16 actions 31 Mar 2016  

Delivery will start when action plans approved  

CS1009d Review strategy and produce 2016-17 action plan for review and sign-off 31 Mar 2016  
 

 

 

CS1010 Library Strategy 31 March 2016   

Objectives: CUSTOMERS, COMMUNITIES AND COMMUNICATIONS SERVICE: Customer and Community Access 

Actions and Milestones  

CS1010a Deliver all actions in 2015-16 ‘Strategy for Libraries 31 Mar 2016  

The Library Strategy has been written, and actions identified for implementation.  Most actions are partially completed.  
 

 

 

      

CS1011 Advice Contract 31 March 2016   

Objectives: CUSTOMERS, COMMUNITIES AND COMMUNICATIONS SERVICE: Customer and Community Access 

Actions and Milestones  

CS1011b Identify opportunities to achieve a better value for money Contract from April 2016 31 Jan 2016  

This will begin in Quarter 3  

CS1011a Regularly monitor the Advice contract to ensure the requirements are met, and an 
improved service delivered 

31 Mar 2016  

Rochdale Citizens Advice bureau (the current suppliers of the Advice contract) has dealt with more clients in the first six months of 
2015-16 than in any previous six month period. We are working with the Supplier on better reporting mechanisms which will clearly 
demonstrate outcomes, the value of the service and areas for improvement. 

 

 

 

 

      

 

 

 

 

 



      

 

    

      

 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

Status 
 

 

      

       

       

  

Page  6  Of  8 
 

 

12/10/2015 
 

  

       

CS1012 Devolution to Townships 31 March 2016   

Objectives: CUSTOMERS, COMMUNITIES AND COMMUNICATIONS SERVICE: Customer and Community Access 

Actions and Milestones  

CS1012a Consult, scope and present options for new models to deliver Community Services 
(including Community Hubs, Townships and neighbourhood working) 

31 Dec 2015  

Options for consideration are currently being discussed by senior leaders and portfolio holders  

CS1012b Agree with Senior Leaders and elected members preferred option for devolution and 
provision of community services, including business case options 

31 Mar 2016  

Options for consideration are currently being discussed amongst senior leaders and portfolio holders.  

CS1012c Develop Township plans for each Township in the Borough and agree each one with 
elected members. Implement throughout the year 

31 Mar 2016  

Township plans have been written for each Township and have been presented and approved by each Township.  Implementation of 
these plans has now commenced, and updates will be provided to each Township Committee 

 

 

 

 

      

CS1013 Support for the Armed Forces 31 March 2016   

Objectives: CUSTOMERS, COMMUNITIES AND COMMUNICATIONS SERVICE: Customer and Community Access 

Actions and Milestones  

CS1013c Determine how to mainstream our current armed services support 31 Dec 2015  

Options for mainstreaming are currently being considered  

CS1013a Hold events across the Borough in recognition of the contribution the armed forces makes 
to the Borough 

31 Mar 2016  

A number of events have been held across the borough which recognises the contribution the armed forces make to our borough.  A full 
report on all armed forces work carried out has been written and presented to each Township Committee 

 

CS1013b Provide advice and support to serving and ex-armed forces personnel and their families 31 Mar 2016  

Support and advice to serving and ex armed forces personnel and their families continues to be provided  
 

 

 

      

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



      

 

    

      

 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

Status 
 

 

      

       

       

  

Page  7  Of  8 
 

 

12/10/2015 
 

  

       

CS1017 Hosting the Coroners service across Rochdale, Oldham and Bury 31 October 2015   

Objectives: CUSTOMERS, COMMUNITIES AND COMMUNICATIONS SERVICE: Coroners and Registrars 

Actions and Milestones  

CS1017a Developing and embedding the new Coroners workflow database system and training 
staff to deal with new ways of working to increase the efficiency and effectiveness of the 
service to match the Chief Coroners performance requirements and the expectations of 
bereaved families whilst absorbing increasing demands 

31 Oct 2015  

The Coroners new database system is now installed and bedding in.  There are still some issues to resolve with the supplier and IT so that 
the full potential of the system is realised.  This includes reporting functions and the implementation of an external portal for death referral 
details from hospitals and GPs to upload directly into the system.  Staff and Coroners are still adjusting to the new paperless processes and 
there are some IT stability issues to resolve. 


 

 

 

CS1018 Coroner Expenditure 31 August 2015   

Objectives: CUSTOMERS, COMMUNITIES AND COMMUNICATIONS SERVICE: Coroners and Registrars 

Actions and Milestones  

CS1018a Investigating options for joint procurement of suppliers and service to the Coroner in 
collaboration with other Greater Manchester Authorities to achieve the most effective use 
of resources, initially focusing on toxicology services 

31 Aug 2015  

Rochdale is leading an exercise to negotiate an agreement for toxicology services across GM with support from STaR procurement.  
This is a complex arrangement, which includes partnership working with the pathologists and the Hospital Trust.   
A tender process is being developed.  Other financial matters are being explored between Rochdale, Stockport and Bolton at a joint 
meeting in September. 

 

 

 

 

      

CS1019 Supporting the Home Office and Immigration Services and GMP with Sham Marriages and 
People Trafficking 

31 July 2015   

Objectives: CUSTOMERS, COMMUNITIES AND COMMUNICATIONS SERVICE: Coroners and Registrars 

Actions and Milestones  

CS1019a Training staff to recognise the evidence required for potential sham marriages and to 
report these to the immigration services to support their investigation and enforcement 
team. 

31 Jul 2015  

This action is now complete  
 

 

 

      

 

 

 

 



      

 

    

      

 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

Status 
 

 

      

       

       

  

Page  8  Of  8 
 

 

12/10/2015 
 

  

       

CS1020 Developing and promoting the use of the Roche Suite and the Town Hall for wedding 
ceremonies 

30 September 
2015 

  

Objectives: CUSTOMERS, COMMUNITIES AND COMMUNICATIONS SERVICE: Coroners and Registrars 

Actions and Milestones  

CR1020a Creation of a virtual tour for the Registrars Roche Suite and a review of wedding 
packages to promote flexible options to include facilities within the Town Hall 

30 Sep 2015  

The Registrars service is now benefitting from the refurbished accommodation with improved customer access facilities and more 
attractive decoration to attract ceremony customers. The improved facilities and redecoration now provide a pleasant environment 
where customers can enjoy the unique historical importance of the Town Hall.  The new electronic diary system has been bedded into 
the back office processes and we are now implementing the online self-service facility for booking certain appointments to further 
improve the customer service experience. 

 

 

 

 

      
 

 



 2016-19 Corporate Priority Setting Process Appendix 1

Date Who Purpose Format Information to be provided Outcome

08 September 2015 Wider Leadership Team

To agree the priority-setting process for 2016-

19 prior to consultation with Cabinet 

members

Report Process / Timetable with dates
Process agreed for consultation with Cabinet 

members

24 September 2015 Cabinet members
To consult with Cabinet members on the 

priority-setting process for 2016-19
Report Process / Timetable with dates Priority-setting process approved

Corporate Overview 

and Scrutiny 

Committee: 14/10

Consult on priorities
Presentation with 

voting handsets

Existing Sustainable Community Strategy and Corporate 

Plan vision, priorities and areas of focus - partcipants 

invited to rank areas of focus in order or priority and to 

identify other areas of focus for each priority

Member priorities identified to feed into corporate 

planning process

Communities, 

Regeneration and 

Economy Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee: 

29/10

Consult on priorities
Presentation with 

voting handsets

Existing Sustainable Community Strategy and Corporate 

Plan vision, priorities and areas of focus - partcipants 

invited to rank areas of focus in order or priority and to 

identify other areas of focus for each priority

Member priorities identified to feed into corporate 

planning process

Health, Schools and 

Care Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee: 

3/11

Consult on priorities
Presentation with 

voting handsets

Existing Sustainable Community Strategy and Corporate 

Plan vision, priorities and areas of focus - partcipants 

invited to rank areas of focus in order or priority and to 

identify other areas of focus for each priority

Member priorities identified to feed into corporate 

planning process

Townships: 23rd - 26th 

November 2015
Consult on priorities

Presentation with 

voting handsets

Existing Sustainable Community Strategy and Corporate 

Plan vision, priorities and areas of focus - partcipants 

invited to rank areas of focus in order or priority and to 

identify other areas of focus for each priority

Member priorities identified to feed into corporate 

planning process

Web Consultation with 

residents: 14/10 - 3/11
Consult on priorities

Consultation Hub on 

website and in libraries

Existing Sustainable Community Strategy and Corporate 

Plan vision, priorities and areas of focus - partcipants 

invited to rank areas of focus in order or priority and to 

identify other areas of focus for each priority

Resident priorities identified to feed into corporate 

planning process

10 November 2015 Leadership Team

To consider the outcome of the member and 

public consultation in the context of the range 

of information and to agree suggested 

priorities and success measures for discussion 

with Cabinet members

Presentation

Performance data (including benchmarking data), GMCA 

priorities from GM Strategy, JSNA, Local Economic 

Assessment, outcome of budget savings process, 

existing Sustainable Community Strategy and Corporate 

Plan vision and priorities, outcome of member and public 

consultation

Leadership Team prepared for priority-setting 

workshop with Cabinet members

7th December 2016
Cabinet members with 

Leadership Team

To consider a range of information and to 

agree  priorities and success measures for 

inclusion in plan for 2016-19

Workshop

Performance data (including benchmarking data), GMCA 

priorities from GM Strategy, JSNA, Local Economic 

Assessment, outcome of budget savings process, 

existing Sustainable Community Strategy and Corporate 

Plan vision and priorities, outcome of member and public 

consultation

Priorities and preferred format of plan agreed by 

Cabinet members and the Leadership Team

October - November 

2015

2016-19 Priority Setting Process final 151015



 2016-19 Corporate Priority Setting Process Appendix 1

Date Who Purpose Format Information to be provided Outcome

05 January 2016 Wider Leadership Team
Discussion on draft plan with Wider 

Leadership Team
Presentation Priorities, success measures and draft plan

Draft plan agreed for submission to Cabinet 

members

14 January 2016 Cabinet members
Discussion on draft plan with Cabinet 

members 
Presentation Priorities, success measures and draft plan Draft plan agreed for submission to Cabinet 

25 January 2016 Cabinet
To seek approval of draft plan for consultation 

with Corporate O&S Committee
Report Priorities, success measures and draft plan

Draft approved for consultation with Corporate O&S 

Committee

10 February 2016 Corporate O&S
Consultation on priorities, success measures 

and draft plan
Report Priorities, success measures and draft plan Comments on draft for consideration by Cabinet

14 March 2016 Cabinet

To consider feedback from Corporate O&S 

Committee, to agree any changes and agree 

recommendation to Council to adopt plan

Report Final draft plan for approval Recommendation to Council to approve and adopt

06 April 2016 Council To seek approval and adoption of final plan Report Final drat plan for approval and adoption Approval and adoption

07 April 2016 Website and Intranet
Publication to raise awareness of priorities for 

2016-19
Publish plan Final Plan

Public, staff and stakeholders made aware of the 

Council's priorities for 2016-19

2016-19 Priority Setting Process final 151015



  

 

 

Page 1 of 5 
 
 

Consultation on priorities for the Borough of Rochdale for 2016-19 

 
Key Dates 
Runs from 14 Oct 2015 to 3 Nov 2015 
 
Contact 
Phone: 01706 647474 

Overview 

In 2011, public organisations in the borough of Rochdale agreed a 10-year vision that set out 
our shared priorities and ambitions up to the year 2021. 

The shared vision said that we wanted to create a prosperous borough that grows and 
develops, and improves the lives of local people through co-operation and partnership. 

Rochdale Borough Council then developed its own vision that said we would build success 
and prosperity with our citizens and partners, while protecting vulnerable people. 

Three priorities underpin the vision: People, Place and Prosperity. 

The Council uses a number of measures to monitor how successful we have been in 
achieving our aims and you can see these on our website (www.rochdale.gov.uk).    

The responses we get will be considered alongside a range of other information about the 
Borough when the Council decides what the priorities should be for the next 3-years. 

People: 

Since 2011, the focus of the Council’s activities has been on supporting and encouraging 
residents to achieve their full potential and to contribute to their communities. We have 
provided good quality services and targeted support, we have safeguarded vulnerable 
adults and children and we have provided early help to those that need it to reduce the 
need for further intervention. 

Working with others, we have focused our resources to enable the Borough’s diverse 
communities to be more independent and to have the best possible opportunity to live 
healthy, safe and fulfilling lives. 

The following is a list of what we have focused on for People in 2011-15. Please look at them 
and rank them in priority order (where 1 is the highest priority and 6 is the lowest priority. 

 

 

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/


  

 

 

Page 2 of 5 
 
 

Focus for People 
  

Is this still a priority 
 
Yes / No 

Importance 
Rank those that are 
still a priority  (where 1 
is the most important 

P1 

Raising children and young people’s 
personal confidence, self-esteem 
and aspirations; giving them skills 
to achieve their potential 

 

 

 

P2 

Promoting personalisation in health 
and social care 

 

 

 

P3 

Promoting and enabling healthy 
lifestyles and achieving good health 
and well-being / People enjoying a 
longer and healthier life and well 
being 

 

 

 

P4 
Preventing the harm caused by 
alcohol 

 

 

P5 
Safeguarding children and adults 
from harm 

 

 

P6 

Helping people and communities to 
become more independent and 
self- reliant  

 

 

 

 

P7 What else should be a priority? 

 

 

 

Place: 

The environment in which people live has an important influence on wellbeing, safety, 
health, education, inclusion, community cohesion and equalities. Quality of place can have a 
profound effect on how the Borough attracts or deters investment and job opportunities, as 
well as how civic pride in our heritage and landmarks is maintained. 



  

 

 

Page 3 of 5 
 
 

New developments in the Borough have built success, created job opportunities and the 
right mix of homes, and we have helped to improve the Borough’s connectivity to Greater 
Manchester.  

Since 2011, we have also focused on helping to create a high quality natural and built 
environment throughout the Borough; a place which residents, businesses and visitors find 
fit for purpose and can enjoy 

The following is a list of what we have focused on for Place in 2011-15. Please look at them 
and rank them in priority order (where 1 is the highest priority and 6 is the lowest priority. 

Focus for  Place 
  

Is this still a 
priority 
 
Yes / No 

Importance 
Rank those that are still 
a priority  (where 1 is 
the most important 

PL1 

Being proactive in promoting the 
Borough and capitalising upon its 
assets 

 

 

 

PL2 

Encouraging people to take personal 
responsibility for their 
neighbourhood and developing 
communities to make them more 
resilient and cohesive 

 

 

 

PL3 

 

Transforming Rochdale Town Centre 

 

 

 

 

PL4 

 

Having high quality buildings and 
public space 

 

 

PL5 

 

Having countryside that is accessible 
and well used 

 

 

PL6 

 

The Borough being a place where 
people want to live and stay 

 

 

 

PL7 

 
What else should be a priority?  

 

 

 



  

 

 

Page 4 of 5 
 
 

 

Prosperity:  

Employment is the best route out of poverty enabling independence and the creation of 
wealth, and the skills and qualifications of the Borough’s citizens are the key to achieving 
this. Raising skills levels also raises the aspirations of children and adults in the Borough.  

In 2011-15 we have focused on improving educational attainment and raising skills levels 
and we have supported residents into employment, strengthening links with Greater 
Manchester and enabling residents to access employment, education, training and other 
opportunities. 

We have also played a major part in creating the conditions for economic prosperity by 
working with others to encourage businesses to invest and thrive in the Borough. 

The following is a list of what we have focused on for Prosperity in 2011-15. Please look at 
them and rank them in priority order (where 1 is the highest priority and 9 is the lowest 
priority. 

Focus for Prosperity 
  

Is this still a 
priority 
 
Yes / No 

Importance 
Rank those that are still a 
priority  (where 1 is the 
most important 

PR1 

 

Keeping and attracting skilled and 
high income families to the 
Borough by improving skills to 
access jobs 

 

 

 

PR2 

 

Maximising the potential of 
Kingsway 

 

 

 

 

 

PR3 

 

Assisting with transition from 
unemployment to jobs 

 

 

PR4 

 

Maximising the relationship with 
Manchester City Region 

 

 

PR5 

 

Attracting new businesses and 
promoting the economy 

 

 



  

 

 

Page 5 of 5 
 
 

Focus for Prosperity 
  

Is this still a 
priority 
 
Yes / No 

Importance 
Rank those that are still a 
priority  (where 1 is the 
most important 

PR6 

 

Supporting local businesses with 
advice and promoting the local 
supply chain 

 

 

 

PR7 

 

Ensuring equity and opportunity 
so that more people have higher 
skills and can achieve more 

 

 

PR8 

 

Helping more Borough residents 
to get work 

 

 

 
PR9 

 

Having more successful 
businesses 

 

 

 

PR10 
What else should be a 
priority? 

 

 

 

Please return to the freepost address below: 
 

Freepost RTKH-UCCB-JSJU 
Rochdale Borough Council 

PO Box 100 
Rochdale,  
OL16 9NP 

 
No later than 3rd November 2015 








	Agenda
	1 Declarations of Interest
	SummaryOFinterests

	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	3 Communities, Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee - Work Programme 2015/2016
	CommitteeWorkProgramme201516
	Actionslist

	4 Performance Monitoring of Registered Provider Partners
	RP Performance Report 201415 Appendix 1

	5 Food and Feed Plan 2015/16
	Food and Feed Appendix 1
	Food and Feed Appendix 2
	Food and Feed EIA

	6 Rochdale Development Agency Quarter 2 2015 - 2016 Performance Monitoring Report
	RDA appendix

	7 Directorate Plans 2015-16: Quarter 2 Performance Update
	Economy  Environment Directorate Plan  091015 V3 1410105
	Append. 2 for Directorate Plans 2015-16: Quarter 2 Performance Update

	8 Corporate Priority Setting - Survey and Process
	Consultation revised 151015 final

	9 GMCA/AGMA Scrutiny Pool

